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PART |
Item 1. Business
Forward-Looking Information

This report contains forward-looking statementseSghforward-looking statements involve risks anceutainties, as well as
assumptions and current expectations, which caldethe company’s actual results to differ mdterieom those anticipated in such
forward-looking statements. These risks and uniceiga include but are not limited to: reductiorthe size or quantity of customer orders;
change in demand for the company’s products dirdiestry conditions; changes in manufacturing op@na; volatility in manufacturing
costs; delays in shipments of products; disruptionthe supply chain; change in the rate of desigrs or the rate of customer acceptance of
new products; the company’s reliance on a smallberof customers for a substantial portion of égenues; potential pricing pressure; a
decline in demand for our customers products dr thée of deployment of their products; generaiditions in the CATV, internet data
center or FTTH markets; changes in the world econ(particularly in the United States and Chinag ttegative effects of seasonality; and
other risks and uncertainties described more falthe company’s documents filed with or furnishedhe Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about these and otis&s that may impact the company’s business arfogé in the Section titled “Risk
Factors”. In some cases, you can identify forwamking statements by terminology such as “maywill,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” or “estimates” or ¥ other similar expressions that convey uncertaiftiuture events or outcomes. You should
not rely on forward-looking statements as prediiof future events. All forward-looking statemeimtshis press release are based upon
information available to us as of the date heranf] qualified in their entirety by this cautionatatement. Except as required by law, we
assume no obligation to update forward-lookingestegnts for any reason after the date of this réparbnform these statements to actual
results or to changes in the company’s expectations

BUSINESS
Overview

We are a leading, vertically integrated providefiloér-optic networking products, primarily for /e networking end-markets:
internet data center, cable television, or CAT\ &ber-to-the-home, or FTTH. We design and manuii@ca range of optical
communications products at varying levels of inédigin, from components, subassemblies and modulesniplete turn-key equipment. In
designing products for our customers, we begin wighfundamental building blocks of lasers andrlasenponents. From these foundational
products, we design and manufacture a wide rangeoalucts to meet our customers’ needs and spatidics, and such products differ from
each other by their end market, intended use amd ¢ integration. We are primarily focused on ttigher-performance segments within all
three of our target markets, which increasingly dedhfaster connectivity and innovation.

The three end markets we target are all drivendnificant bandwidth demand fueled by the growtimefwork-connected devices,
video traffic, cloud computing and online sociatwmerking. To address this increased bandwidth dem@ATV and telecommunications
service providers are competing directly againshesher by providing bundles of voice, video amtbdservices to their subscribers and
investing to enhance the capacity, reliability @aagability of their networks. The trend of risingridwidth consumption also impacts the
internet data center market, as reflected in tfe tehhigher speed server connections. As a resuthese trends, fiber-optic networking
technology is becoming essential in all three aftatget markets, as it is often the only econonag to deliver the desired bandwidth.

The internet data center market is our largestfasigst growing market. Our customers in this nizakke generally large internet-
based (“Web 2.0") data center operators, to whonsupply optical transceivers that plug into swikhad servers within the data center and
allow these network devices to send and receivee a\ar fiber optic cables. The majority of the dagater optical transceivers that we sell
utilize our own lasers and subassemblies (we teftire transceivers subassemblies as “light engiresd we believe that our in-house
technology and manufacturing capability for thexsels and subassemblies gives us an advantagsangrof our competitors who often
lack either development or manufacturing capabdifior these advanced optical modules.

The CATV market is our most established marketwfbich we supply a broad array of products inclgdesers, transmitters and
turn-key equipment. Sales of headend, node andhdisbn equipment have contributed significantyolur revenue in recent years as a result
of our ability to meet the needs of CATV equipmeandors who have continued to outsource both teigdend manufacturing of this
equipment. While equipment vendors have relied upod parties to assemble portions of their prasiuwithin the past five years certain of
our customers have accelerated the outsourcingtbfthe design and manufacturing of both headengetent and node equipment to third
parties. The shift is due in part to the sophisidaengineering expertise needed to perform thik wi/e believe that our extensive higpee:
optical, mixed-signal semiconductor and mechareaglineering capabilities position us well to betniefim these industry dynamics.




Our vertically integrated manufacturing model po®s us several advantages, including rapid pratwelopment, fast response
times to customer requests and control over proguality and manufacturing costs. We design, mastufa and integrate our own analog
and digital lasers using a proprietary MoleculaaBeEpitaxy, or MBE, fabrication process, which vedidve is unique in our industry. We
manufacture the majority of the laser chips andcaptomponents that are used in our products.ld$ers we manufacture are proven to be
reliable over time and highly tolerant of changesemperature and humidity, making them veelited to the CATV and FTTH markets wh
networking equipment is often installed outdoors.

In 2014, our revenue was $130.4 million and ousgmmargin was 33.9%. We have grown our annual tevaha CAGR of 31.7%
between 2009 and 2014. In the years ended Dece3tb2013 and 2012, we incurred losses of $1.4anilland $0.9 million, respectively. In
the year ended December 31, 2014, we had a nehanob $4.3 million, and our accumulated deficiDaicember 31, 2013 and December 31,
2014 was $83.3 million and $79.0 million, respeeiyv In 2014, we earned 49.4% of our total reveinom the internet data center market,
and 36.3% of our total revenue from the CATV marke2014, our key customers in the CATV marketuded Cisco Systems and
Biogenomics Corp., a distributor. In 2014, 2013 20d2, Cisco Systems accounted for 8.9%, 21.8%38rbo, respectively, of our revenue
and Biogenomics Corp. accounted for 6.2%, 8.7%1dnd%, respectively, of our revenue. In 2014, ey gustomers in the data center
market included Amazon and Microsoft. In 2014, 204r3d 2012, Amazon accounted for 45.8%, 18.2% 5a8fb of our revenue,
respectively, and Microsoft accounted for 3.6%%6.and 2.6% of our revenue, respectively.

Industry Background

Our three target markets of internet data cen@4g,V and FTTH share a common trend of a signifigguotwth in bandwidth
consumption and the corresponding need for netindristructure improvement to support it.

The prevailing themes in our target markets include

« Trends in the Internet Data Center Market.o support the substantial increase in bandwidttsemption, internet data center
operators are increasing the scale of their intetata centers and accelerating data transmisaten.rAs a result, there is an
ongoing transition from the use of copper cablpicglly at speeds up to 1 gigabit, to optical fibera transport medium,
typically providing speeds from 10 gigabit to 4@ajbit. In recent years, a number of leading Intecoenpanies have begun to
adopt more open internet data center architectusasg a mix of systems and components from a tyaoievendors, and in sor
cases designing their own equipment. For these aniep, compatibility of new networking equipmenthwliegacy infrastructui
is not as important, and as a consequence, theggardes are more willing to work with non-traditedrequipment vendors,
which creates an open and growing opportunity filical device vendors. Moreover, transmission dpdmve continued to
increase among the companies who have previowsligitroned from copper-based to fiber-based infuatire, resulting in
opportunities for optical device vendors to suppiyv optical transceivers capable of operatingeddthigher data rate

« Trends in the CATV Marketin recent years, CATV service providers have inv@stxtensively to support high speed, two-way
communications and we expect that they will corgitmido so. In North America, in particular, CAT¥rgice providers have
expressed interest in emerging new technologiesDi®CSIS 3.1, which will enable them to offer highpeed connections to
their customers.

While equipment vendors have historically reliedphird parties only to assemble portions of tipeaducts, within the past
five years, certain of our customers have accadrtite outsourcing of both the design and manufactwf both headend
equipment and node equipment to third parties.sHif¢is due in part to the sophisticated engimapaxpertise needed to
perform this work, along with the proliferation méw equipment designs needed to support DOCSI¢

o Trends in the FTTH Market.The FTTH market generally refers to the Passivéc@pietworks, or PONSs, that
telecommunications service providers are deploylifgz most commonly deployed PON technology is Giga®N, or GPON,
which delivers up to 2.5 gigabits per second (Glops)ata, but due to the splitting of the bandwidthong multiple users, the
actual bandwidth delivered to an individual suldseriis far less than 2.5 Gbps. One approach thest slapport true 1 Gbps
service to the home is wavelength division multiplg PON, or WDM-PON, a technology that enablestthasmission of
multiple wavelengths of data over a single f-optic strand




We experience certain challenges within our tangatkets, including continuous pressure to innoeatt deliver highly integrated
products that perform reliably in harsh, demandingironments and to produce high-quality devicdaiige volumes.

Our Solutions
By addressing the challenges in our target marketrovide the following benefits to our customers

« Enable customers to deliver innovative producWe leverage our deep expertise in high-speed dptiiged-signal
semiconductor and mechanical engineering, and mprigtary MBE laser fabrication process to delitgmhnologically
advanced products to our custom:

« Enhance efficiency and cost effectiveness of oustamer’ supply chain.We design and sell products at the level of
integration desired by a customer, from compontntsrn-key equipment, providing our customers petielable, cost-effective
and simplified supply chai

« Deliver high quality, reliable products in high vaime.As a vertically integrated supplier, we are ablentanitor and maintain
quality control throughout the production procassng our internally produced components whereiptesor our final
products. With manufacturing facilities in the U.Baiwan and China, we can support high volume petdn and timely
delivery for our customers around the wo

- Provide sophisticated design solutions to our custys.We believe our in-house expertise in both analajdigital optical
engineering enables us to design comprehensivé@udithat meet many of the different network aettures and protocols
used by our customel

Our Strengths
Our key competitive strengths include the following

» Proprietary technological expertise and track recbof innovation.We continue to develop innovative products by lagéerg
our technological expertise, including our pro@igtMBE laser fabrication proces

« Proven system design capabilitieWe have deep expertise and proven design capesilitinigh-speed optical, mixed-signal
semiconductor and mechanical engineering, whicthelieve position us to take advantage of the caminshift to outsourced
design and manufacturing among CATV equipment Ve

« Highly customized productiMost of our products have some level of customigtmaking it more difficult for our customers
to switch rapidly to another supplier. We belielis telement of customization contributes to long@educt lifecycles and more
stable product pricing

« Industry-leading position in the CATV markeWe have continued to be awarded new design andfagnting opportunities
for CATV components and equipment. We serve a ritgjof the largest CATV equipment manufacturershie world and our
knowledge of both their requirements and the neédiseir customers (the CATV network operatorspab us to access these
new opportunities

« Vertically integrated, geographically distributedanufacturing model.Our vertically integrated design and manufacturing
process encompasses various steps from laser desigiabrication to complete optical system desigt assembly.
Furthermore, we have geographically distributedroanufacturing by strategically locating our openad in the U.S., China a
Taiwan to reduce development time and productiatscdo better support our customers and to helgegtr our intellectual
property.




Our Strategy

We seek to be the leading global provider of optcanponents, modules and equipment for each oftwae target markets, CATV,
FTTH and internet data centers. Our strategy iredutie following key elements:

» Continue to penetrate the internet data center mathn the internet data center, we primarily targég¢inet data center
operators who have adopted an open system archigeebne in which the optical connectivity solutiaran be provided by a
different vendor than the vendor which providesrteervers and switche

« Extend our leadership in CATV networkin¢gWe intend to maintain our position as the leadiragdpcer of optical components
used in CATV networks, and to capture an increashage of the CATV equipment market as the majaipegment vendors
continue to outsource the design and manufactafirsgich products

« Continue to penetrate the FTTH markeWe believe our WDM-PON technology is a cost-effeetsolution for delivering 1
Gbps bandwidth to a home. We intend to captureareasing share of the FTTH market by deliverinticapmodules enabling
1 Gbps synchronous service to the home througlewgtomers, who are either internet service prosidemanufacturers of
networking equipment supplying internet serviceviers.

« Continue to invest in our capabilities and infrastcture. We intend to continue to invest in new productsy technology and
our production infrastructure and facilities to mtain and strengthen our competitive posit

- Selectively pursue other opportunities that leveeagur existing expertiseOur expertise in designing and manufacturing
outdoor equipment for the CATV industry positiorsswell to pursue applications that are also charaed by having varying
and demanding environments, including wirelesswaineline telecom infrastructure, industrial robsti@erospace and defense,
and oil and gas exploratio

« Pursue complementary acquisition and strategic atice opportunitiesWe evaluate and selectively pursue acquisition
opportunities or strategic alliances that we baiaill enhance or complement our current produfgrafgs, augment our
technology roadmap, or diversify our revenue b

Technology

We believe that we have technology leadership um key areas: semiconductor laser manufacturirgtnic technologies that
enhance the performance of our lasers, opticalithybtegration and mixed-signal semiconductor desig

« Differentiated semiconductor laser manufacturinWe use a MBE fabrication process to make the nritstad parts of our
lasers, rather than MOCVD, the technique most conynased in optical chip manufacturing by traditdbcommunications
optics vendors. Among the differentiators of MBEatee to MOCVD fabrication are a lower process parature and the use of
solid phase materials rather than gaseous sowagsw wafers and the growth of more highly strdioeystals. These factors
contribute to longer operating lives of our las@rgroved laser efficiency and threshold currentpag other performance
attributes that make them well-suited to our targatkets. While we believe that these advantag®B# are important, MBE
does have disadvantages including the inabilityst® certain dopant materials (for example Irorfjicdity in certain types of
regrowth, and the necessity to maintain complesatiigh vacuum equipment. As a result of some e$¢hchallenges,
production yields, and the performance attribufdaser devices, are highly variable and optimizingse characteristics requi
numerous enhancements and modifications to staddBEl equipment and the MBE process. To our knowdedge are unique
in using an MBE process to produce communicatiassrk in high volume, and believe it would be diffi, and time-
consuming, for other vendors to replicate our potidn technology

« Laser enhancement technologCertain properties of the semiconductor lasersgmadantly used in traditional
communications devices, such as chirp and waveiatift, negatively affect their ability to transinsignals over long fiber
distances or prevent them from transmitting sigmaids acceptable fidelity in certain applicatioige have developed laser
enhancement circuitry that can correct many ofaltkeficiencies. We believe that our technology béltome more essential
with wider deployment of higher capacity CATV antiTH systems, which place more stringent demandaser performance




« Optical hybric-integration technologyReducing the size, power consumption and complexitptical devices is essential for
achieving the price and performance targets otagtomers. Our ability to integrate multiple optisatworking functions into
single device and to co-package multiple devictss Smaller form factors helps us meet customerirements, and we believe
can also create new opportunities. For instaneetrimsmission speed between network elementsctsygitand servers, for
example) within the data center has continueddreise. However, the rate at which this data carobeerted from electrical
signals to optical signals by laser diodes hasnuweased at the same pace. Therefore, to achataaates of 40 Gbps and
above, many customers utilize multiple lower date fasers co-packaged together into a singlealptiodule. The technology
required to cost-effectively and reliably co-paokdligese lasers and the associated electronic taoirtroitry is complex. Our
extensive experience with the processes and thefanzaring technologies required to produce thesacgs gives us a
competitive advantage.

Similarly, in FTTH networks, installing new fibeptic cable is expensive and difficult, and in sositeations prohibitively so
for a network service provider. As a consequenegyork operators seek to maximize the utilizatibtheir installed fiber plan
In long-haul and metropolitan networks, the number of serproviders who deployed WDM technology as fibidization rose
Fiber utilization in access networks is rising, the use of WDM technology in the access segmenbban problematic due to
the relatively high cost and power consumptiorhefitequisite optical devices. We have developegr@tary miniaturized
optical packaging, electronic control circuitry aledting algorithms to create a hybrid WDM-PON sioluthat addresses these
historical impediments that we believe will make YI-PON a cos-effective alternative for deploymel

« Mixed-signal designAs CATV providers continue to evolve from primarByoadcast-video content providers to a mixture of
HD video content together with data-connectivitg\pders, the networks they utilize to offer thesevices must evolve as well.
Older analog networks are giving way to hybrid reateg that incorporate both analog and digital digr@or example, many
newer networks are being designed with “digitalinetpath” capabilities. In this type of networkgsals traveling from the
headend to the residence are transported as asigltals, whereas signals traveling in the oppabitrction (that is, originating
at the residence and being transmitted towardhehdend) are carried as digital signals. This coatlin of analog and digital
signaling creates unique design challenges. Ounears have many years of experience in develogiugpment, modules and
components that are well suited to these sortsixddrsignal architectures. We believe that haviagpmexperience in both
digital and analog signaling allows us to offer atigr solutions to our customers, compared with ganies who have expertise
in only one of these signal typ

Our Products

Our products include an array of optical commuiicet solutions at varying levels of integration. Y&gin from the fundamental
building blocks of lasers and laser componentsmiRttese foundational products, we design and maturiaa wide range of products from
optical modules to complete turn-key equipment.d&sign our products to target customers in ourtifieth markets to meet their needs and
specifications.

Our components often incorporate one or more obptical laser chips inside a precision housing pinavides mechanical
protection as well as standardized electrical aiatadMore complex optical components may also uhelaptical filters (for example, for use
WDM) or other optical elements by which opticalreds are routed internally within the componente3§émore advanced components may
also include coolers, heaters and sensors that #tle temperature of the laser chip to be measamddcontrolled. We manufacture the
majority of the laser chips and optical componéinés are used in our own products.

At the next level of integration, our module or sagsembly products typically contain one or morewfoptical components and
some additional control circuitry. Examples of mtaduinclude our transceiver line primarily usednternet data center markets and FTTH
markets.

At the highest level of integration and complexiyy equipment products typically contain one orenaptical components, modu
and additional electronic control circuitry requir® enable these subsystems to operate indepéndemt example, our CATV transmitter
equipment requires utilization of our optical compnots and assembly onto a circuit board and tocsemreal housing. Examples of equipment
include our CATV transmitter and CATV nodes.




Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, éaérk and trade secret laws, as well as confidéptand licensing arrangements,
to establish and protect our intellectual propeftye employ various methods to protect these irdilbd property rights, including
maintaining a technological infrastructure withréfgcant security measures, limiting disclosure aestricting access to only those individt
with an operational need for such information, hading employees, consultants and suppliers exeoutidentiality agreements with us.
While we expect our intellectual property to pravicbmpetitive advantages, we also find meaningdldesfrom unpatented proprietary
process knowledge, know-how and trade secrets.
Patents

As of December 31, 2014, we owned a total of 152. dnd foreign issued patents, 66 of which wengeidsn the U.S. and 86 of
which were issued in China and Taiwan. Our isswsdrgs will expire between 2019 and 2029.

Our portfolio of patents and patent applicationgers several different technology families inclugin

« laser structure and design;

« optical signal conditioning and laser control;

o laser fabrication;

- photodiode and optical receiver design and falidnat

- optical device and module designs;

« optical device packaging equipment and techniqaed;

« optical network enhancements.

Trademarks

We have registered the trademarks APPLIED OPTOELRGNICS, INC., AOI and our logo with the U.S. Patant Trademark
Office on the Principal Register. These marks &e gegistered in, or have applications for regtibn pending in, various foreign trademark
offices. A U.S. trademark registration is also gagdor the mark “AAOL.”

Research and Development

To maintain our growth and competitiveness, we gagda an active research and development prograteelop new products and
enhance existing products. As a result of thesatsffwe anticipate releasing various new or enbdpcoducts over the next several years.
Our research and development expenses were ap@i@jn$16.0 million, $8.5 million, and $7.6 millidar the years 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, we had a total of 196 eygds working in the R&D department, including 1ithwh.D. degrees. We
continue to recruit talented engineers to furtheraace our research and development capabilitiesh&Ve research and development
departments in our facilities in Texas, China aadvan. Our research and development teams colleborgjoint projects, and by doeating
with our manufacturing operations enable us toeahan efficient cost structure and improve ouetimmarket.

A key factor in our research and development sugcisesur highly collaborative process for new preidievelopment. Particularly
our equipment and module businesses, we oftenbarlide very closely with our customers from a eayly stage in product development.

By purposefully fostering this close collaboratiore believe that we can more rapidly develop legdimutions meeting the needs of our
customers.




Manufacturing and Operations

We have three manufacturing sites: Sugar Land, §,éXmgbo, China and Taipei, Taiwan. Our reseanthdevelopment functions
are partnered with our manufacturing locationsoun U.S. facility, we manufacture laser chips (zitlg our MBE process), subassemblies
and components. The subassemblies are used inathgfacture of components by our other manufactudniities or sold to third parties as
modules. We manufacture our laser chips only withinU.S. facility, where our laser design teartocsaited. In our Taiwan location, we
manufacture optical components, such as our biytledfers, which incorporate laser chips, subasiemand components manufactured
within our U.S. facility. In addition, in our Taiwdocation, we manufacture transceivers for therimgt data center, FTTH, and other markets.
In our China facility, we take advantage of lowadndr costs and manufacture certain more laborsitercomponents and optical equipment
systems, such as optical subassemblies for the@ttdata center market, CATV transmitters (atitbadend) and CATV outdoor equipment
(at the node). Each facility conducts testing andbmponents, modules or subsystems it manufacimdeeach facility is certified to
ISO 9001:2008.

Our products are sold to our customers worldwid&aeo supply our internal component needs fotrdmesceivers and equipment
we manufacture. With a vertically integrated mactfeing process, we produce many of our own lakgrscand other parts required to
manufacture our optical components. Through thidehave are able to reduce development time andustacosts as well as enhance qui
control. We incorporate our own components intotoamsceivers, subsystems and equipment producisewr possible. In instances where
we do not produce components ourselves, we solere from external suppliers and regularly evaltlaése relationships in an attempt to
reduce risk and lower cost.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers foraientaw materials and components used in our pteduée regularly review our
vendor relationships in an attempt to mitigatesiakd lower costs, especially where we depend erootwo vendors for critical components
or raw materials. While maintaining inventoriestthe believe are sufficient to meet our near-tegads, we strive not to carry significant
inventories of raw materials. Accordingly, we maintongoing communications with our vendors in otdehelp prevent any interruptions in
supply, and have implemented a supply-chain manageprogram to maintain quality and lower purchaisees through standardized
purchasing efficiencies and design requirements.

Customers

Our customers are primarily internet data centerators, CATV and telecommunications equipment rfenturers, and internet
service providers. We generally employ a direcésahodel in North America and in the rest of theldvave use both direct and indirect sales
channels. In 2014, 2013, and 2012 we obtained 9238%4% and 85.4% of our revenue, respectivelyubh our direct sales efforts and the
remainder of our revenue through our indirect salesnels. Our sales channel partners provideticgiservices and day-to-day customer
support. Where we sell through an indirect salesobl, we work with the end customer to estabbshmnological specifications for our
products. Our equipment customers typically offer @quipment under their brand-name and our equipmeften customized with unique
design or performance criteria by each of thestoousrs. We also from time to time offer design @nufacturing services to customers to
assist them in more effectively using our produactd realizing time-to-market advantages.

In 2014, our products were used by the three 1&ga3V OEMSs, consisting of Cisco Systems, Inc.,isw@&roup Inc. (which
acquired the Motorola Home Business in 2013) anbruNetworks, a subsidiary of Pace plc (which @&egliHarmonic Inc.’s optical
business in 2013 and itself being acquired by Pézsubsequently). The two customers that contedbubost to our revenue in the FTTH
market in 2014 were Genexis B.V. and a leadingm&eservice provider. In 2014, our key customerthe internet data center market
included Amazon and Microsoft. In 2014, revenuerfitie internet data center market, CATV market, HTiarket and other markets
provided 49.4%, 36.9% and 10.4%, and 3.8% of owgnmae, respectively, compared to 24.7%, 60.4%, 5868 9.3%, respectively, in 2013.

We support our sales efforts by attendance at tndtrade shows, technical conferences, advertigingrious trade journals and
magazines and other promotional efforts. Theseatsfire aimed at attracting new customers and eitiguour existing customer
relationships.

Backlog
We generally make sales pursuant to short-termhaise orders without deposits and subject to resdingg revision or cancellation

on short notice. We accordingly believe that puseharders are not an accurate indicator of ourdutales and any backlog of purchase
orders is not a reliable indicator of our futureeeue.




Competition

The optical networking market is intensely competit Because of the broad nature of our produetrf§is, we do not believe that
we face a single major competitor across all ofraarkets. We do, however, experience intense catigmein each product area from a
number of manufacturers and we anticipate that etitign will increase. Our major competitors in asremore of our markets include
Avago, Inc., EMCORE Corporation, Finisar CorporatidDS Uniphase Corporation, Mitsubishi, NeoPha®@orporation, Oclaro, Inc. and
Sumitomo Electric Industries, Ltd.

Many of our competitors are larger than we arelaangk significantly greater financial, marketing antlker resources. In addition,
several of our competitors have large market chgations or cash reserves and are much bettetigmosdl to acquire other companies to gain
new technologies or products that may displacepoadiucts. Network equipment providers, who areaustomers, and network service
providers, who are supplied by our customers, nemyde to manufacture the optical subsystems incated into their network systems in-
house. We also encounter potential customershibaguse of existing relationships, are committetiéqoroducts offered by these
competitors.

We believe the principal competitive factors in tanget markets include the following:

. use of internally manufactured components;

product breadth and functionality;

. timing and pace of new product development;
. breadth of customer base;

. technological expertise;

. reliability of products;

. product pricing; and

. manufacturing efficiency.

We believe that we compete favorably with respet¢hé above factors based on our MBE processeggentically integrated model,
the performance and reliability of our product afigs and the compelling value we offer to our ousrs.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we employed 1,447 fulletemployees, of which 31 held Ph.D. degrees inesmese or engineering field.
Of our employees, 234 are located in the U.S.,&490cated in Taiwan, and 564 are located in Chilosme of our employees are represented
by any collective bargaining agreement, but certaployees of our China subsidiary are membersi@ce union. We have never suffered
any work stoppage and believe that we have satifaelations with our employees.

Environmental Matters

Our research and development and manufacturingtipes and our products are subject to a variefgddral, state, local and
foreign environmental, health and safety laws agililations, including those governing discharggsafititants to air and water, the use,
storage, handling and disposal of hazardous mbteeimployee health and safety, and the hazardaterial content in our products. Our
environmental management systems in our facilitiddingbo, China and Taipei, Taiwan are both ciedito meet the requirements of
ISO14001:2004. However, there can be no assuraateiblations of applicable laws at any of ouriiliies will not occur in the future as a
result of human error, accident, equipment failurether causes. We use, store and dispose ofdamamaterials in our manufacturing
operations and hazardous materials are present iproducts. We incur costs to comply with envir@emtal, health and safety requirements,
and any failure to comply, or the identificationamntamination for which we are found liable, cooddise us to incur substantial costs,
including cleanup costs, monetary fines, or civicominal penalties, and subject us to propertywage and personal injury claims, and result
in the suspension of production, alteration of manufacturing processes, redesign of our prodacts rtailment of sales and adverse
publicity. Liability under environmental, healthdaeafety laws can be joint and several and withegard to fault or negligence. For exam
pursuant to environmental laws and regulationdudfing but not limited to the Comprehensive Envirental Response Compensation and
Liability Act, or CERCLA, we may be liable for tHall amount of any remediation-related costs apprties we currently own or formerly
owned, such as our currently owned Sugar Land, S&adlity, or at properties at which we operat@slwell as at properties we will own or
operate in the future, and properties to which aeehsent hazardous substances, whether or notused#he contamination.
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We expect that our operations and products wilifiected by new environmental requirements on ayoimy basis. Environmental,
health and safety requirements have become mangestit over time, and changes to existing requirdmeould restrict our ability to expand
our facilities, require us to acquire costly pabatcontrol equipment, or cause us to incur otigmiicant expenses or to modify our
manufacturing processes or the hazardous materidbet of our products. Identification of presenthjidentified environmental conditions,
more vigorous enforcement by a governmental augha@nactment of more stringent legal requirementsther unanticipated events could
give rise to adverse publicity, restrict our opienad, affect the design or marketability of ourguwots or otherwise cause us to incur material
environmental costs.

We face increasing complexity in our product desigd procurement operations as we adjust to newapooiming requirements
relating to the materials composition of our pradu§&ome jurisdictions in which our products arel $mve enacted requirements regarding
the hazardous material content of certain prod#aisexample, member states of the European UmidrChina are among a growing num
of jurisdictions that have placed restrictions be tise of lead, among other chemicals, in eleatneraducts, which affect the composition
packaging of our products. The passage of suctirssqants in additional jurisdictions, or the tighiteg of standards or elimination of certain
exemptions in jurisdictions where our productsaready subject to such requirements, could casie incur significant expenditures to
make our products compliant with new requirememtgould limit the markets into which we may salr @roducts. Other governmental
regulations may require us to reengineer our pristlocuse components that are more environmerdattypatible, resulting in additional
costs to us.

Export Regulations

The Bureau of Industry and Security (BIS) of th&l.Department of Commerce is responsible for regugahe export of most
commercial items that are classified as dual-uselgohat may have both commercial and military igpfibns. A limited number of our
products are exported by license under the Expontt@l Classification Number, or ECCN, of 5A991.dext Control Classification
requirements are dependent upon an item’s techetieahcteristics, the destination, the end-usettameénd-user, and other activities of the
end-user. Should the ECCN change, then the exportirgroducts to certain countries would be rettd. However, we currently do not
export our products to any countries on the rastlitist, and therefore a change in the ECCN waooldmaterially impact our business.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Texas in 189Karch 2013, Applied Optoelectronics, Inc., &d® corporation, converted
into a Delaware corporation. Our principal execeitbffices are located at 13115 Jess Pirtle Blvaga® Land, TX 77478, and our telephone
number is (281) 295-1800. Our website address ignaainc.com. Information contained on our website isinoorporated by reference ir
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information
We file electronically with the United States Setieis and Exchange Commission, or SEC, our anmadrts on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current report&omm 8-K, and amendments to those reports filedimished pursuant to Section 13(a) or

15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asraaed. We make available on our website at wwwnaagom free of charge, copies of
these reports as soon as reasonably practicablefitifig these reports with, or furnishing them tioe SEC.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. You should carefully consider the follmyvrisk factors and all other
information contained in this Annual Report on Fat6zK, including our consolidated financial staterteeand related notes. If any of the
following risks actually occur, we may be unabledmduct our business as currently planned andfimancial condition and results
operations could be seriously harmed. In addititwe, trading price of our common stock could dectine to the occurrence of any of these
risks and you may lose all or part of your invegtine

Risks Inherent in Our Business

We are dependent on our key customers for a siguaifit portion of our revenue and the loss of, or igsificant reduction in orders from,
any of our key customers would adversely impact oevenue and results of operations.

We generate much of our revenue from a limited remolh customers. In 2014, 2013 and 2012, our togtstomers represented
87.2%, 76.9% and 77.6% of our revenue, respectiwel2014, Amazon represented 45.8% of our reve@iseo Systems, Inc. represented
8.9% of our revenue and a leading internet semwiogider represented 6.7% of our total revenuea Assult, the loss of, or a significant
reduction in orders from any of our key customeosidt materially and adversely affect our revenue r@sults of operations. We typically
not have long-term contracts with our customersiastkad rely on recurring purchase orders. Ifkayr customers do not continue to
purchase our existing products or fail to purchedditional products from us, our revenue would idecand our results of operations would
be adversely affected.

Adverse events affecting our key customers cowdd akgatively affect our ability to retain theirsiness and obtain new purchase
orders, which could adversely affect our revenwrasults of operations. For example, in recentsyghere has been consolidation among
various network equipment manufacturers and tkisdiis expected to continue. We are unable to grétk impact that industry
consolidation would have on our existing or potntustomers. We may not be able to offset anyrpiaiedecline in revenue arising from t
consolidation of our existing customers with rev@ifmom new customers or additional revenue frormtleeged company.

If our customers do not qualify our products for eson a timely basis, our results of operations nzayfer.

Prior to the sale of new products, our customgrgfly require us to obtain their approval andldfy@ur products for use in their
applications. Additionally, new customers oftenifodr manufacturing facilities and perform othgakiations during this process. The
qualification process involves product sampling egldhbility testing and collaboration with our piect management and engineering teams
in the design and manufacturing stages. If we aeble to accurately predict the amount of time megito qualify our products with
customers, or are unable to qualify our producth w&rtain customers at all, then our ability togmte revenue could be delayed or our
revenue would be lower than expected and we map@able to recover the costs associated withdhéfigation process or with our prodi
development efforts, which would have an adverfecebn our results of operations.

In addition, due to rapid technological changesunmarkets, a customer may cancel or modify agtigsioject before we have
qualified our product or begun volume manufactuh@ qualified product. It is unlikely that we widibe able to recover the expenses for
cancelled or unutilized custom design projects. Soffthese unrecoverable expenses for cancelleduiilized custom design projects may
be significant. It is difficult to predict with angertainty whether our customers will delay or tierae product qualification or the frequency
with which customers will cancel or modify theiopgcts, but any such delay, cancellation or modiftm would have a negative effect on
results of operations.

Our ability to successfully qualify and scale capafor new technologies and products is importandur ability to grow our
business and market presence, and we may invegtificeint amount to scale our capacity to meeeptal demand from customers for our
new technologies and products. If we are unabtpitdify and sell any of our new products in voluror,time, or at all, our results of
operations may be adversely affected.
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Customer demand is difficult to forecast accuratelpd, as a result, we may be unable to match prdaucwith customer demand.

We make planning and spending decisions, includatgrmining the levels of business that we wilksaed accept, production
schedules, component procurement commitments, paeesaeeds and other resource requirements, basedr@stimates of product demand
and customer requirements. Our products are typipalchased pursuant to individual purchase ord&ftsle our customers may provide us
with their demand forecasts, they are typically cantractually committed to buy any quantity of gwots beyond firm purchase orders.
Furthermore, many of our customers may increaseedse, cancel or delay purchase orders alregaigde without significant penalty. The
short-term nature of commitments by our customedsthe possibility of unexpected changes in denfantheir products reduce our ability
to accurately estimate future customer requireméntsoccasion, customers may require rapid incesmsgroduction, which can strain our
resources, cause our manufacturing to be negativgdgcted by materials shortages, necessitate amm®us procurement commitments and
reduce our gross margin. We may not have sufficiapficity at any given time to meet the volume dafaaf our customers, or one or more
of our suppliers may not have sufficient capacttaray given time to meet our volume demands. If ahgur major customers decrease, stop
or delay purchasing our products for any reasonwilldikely have excess manufacturing capacityrorentory and our business and resuli
operations would be harmed.

We are subject to the cyclical nature of the markét which we compete and any future downturn wikely reduce demand for our
products and revenue

In each of our target markets, including the CATHrket, our sales depend on the aggregate capjieheitures of service provide
as they build out and upgrade their network infragtire. These markets are highly cyclical and attarized by constant and rapid
technological change, price erosion, evolving séadsl and wide fluctuations in product supply anchaked. In the past, these markets have
experienced significant downturns, often conneetid, or in anticipation of, the maturation of prad cycles. These downturns have been
characterized by diminished product demand, predou@vercapacity, high inventory levels and acekt erosion of average selling prices.
Our historical results of operations have beenexiilip these cyclical fluctuations, and we may epee substantial period-to-period
fluctuations in our future results of operationsiyXuture downturn in any of the markets in whick @ompete could significantly reduce the
demand for our products and therefore may resutsignificant reduction in our revenue. Our reveand results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected in the future tluehanges in demand from individual customersyalical changes in any of the markets
utilizing our products. We may not be able to aately predict these cyclical fluctuations and timpact of these fluctuations may have on
revenue and operating results.

We must continually develop successful new produarisl enhance existing products, and if we fail to do or if our release of new or
enhanced products is delayed, our business may drenled.

The markets for our products are characterizeddxyuent new product introductions, changes in eustaequirements and evolvi
industry standards, all with an underlying pressaneduce cost and meet stringent reliability gadlification requirements. Our future
performance will depend on our successful develapnietroduction and market acceptance of new antieced products that address these
challenges. If we are unable to make our new oaecéd products commercially available on a timelsid we may lose existing and
potential customers and our financial results wauifier.

In addition, due to the costs and length of reseatevelopment and manufacturing process cyclesnaenot recognize revenue
from new products until long after such expendiurtat all, and our margins may decrease if mstsare higher than expected, adversely
affecting our financial condition and results okogtion.

Although the length of our product development eycries widely by product and customer, it mayeta& months or longer before
we receive our first order. As a result, we mayirgignificant expenses long before customers d@mppurchase our products.

Product development delays may result from numefactsrs, including:
. modification of product specifications and customeguirements;

. unanticipated engineering complexities;

difficulties in reallocating engineering resoureesl overcoming resource limitations; and

. rapidly changing technology or competitive prodigzjuirements.
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The introduction of new products by us or our cotitpes could result in a slowdown in demand for enisting products and could
result in a writedown in the value of our inventory. We have in plast experienced a slowdown in demand for exigineglucts and delays
new product development, and such delays will jilacur in the future. To the extent we experigmmaluct development delays for any
reason or we fail to qualify our products and abthieir approval for use, which we refer to as sigltewin, our competitive position would
adversely affected and our ability to grow our rawewould be impaired.

Furthermore, our ability to enter a market with nawducts in a timely manner can be critical to surcess because it is difficult to
displace an existing supplier for a particular tpd@roduct once a customer has chosen a supglien if a later-to-market product provides
better performance or cost efficiency.

The development of new, technologically advancedipcts is a complex and uncertain process requireggient innovation, highly-
skilled engineering and development personnel @rdficant capital, as well as the accurate anéitigm of technological and market trends.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to idgndievelop, manufacture, market or support newrdranced products successfully or on a
timely basis. Further, we cannot assure you thahew products will gain market acceptance or wavill be able to respond effectively to
product introductions by competitors, technologii@nges or emerging industry standards. We alsonwmigbe able to develop the
underlying core technologies necessary to createpmeducts and enhancements, license these tedieslivom third parties, or remain
competitive in our markets.

If the CATV market does not continue to developwas expect, or if there is any downturn in this maatk our business would be advers:
affected.

Historically, we have generated much of our reveinomm the CATV market. In 2014, 2013 and 2012, @#€TV market represented
36.3%, 60.4% and 78.6% of our revenue, respectielthe CATV market, we are relying on expectedt@asing demand for bandwidth-
intensive services and applications such as on-ddn@devision programs, high-definition televisicmannels, or HDTV, social media, peer-
to-peer file sharing and online video creation aigtving from network service providers. Withoutwetk and bandwidth growth, the need
for our products will not increase and may declayersely affecting our financial condition anduiés of operations. Although demand for
broadband access is increasing, network and batttgidwth may be limited by several factors, indghgdan uncertain regulatory
environment, high infrastructure costs to purchasinstall equipment and uncertainty as to whamtnpeting content delivery solution, such
as telecommunications, wireless or satellite, gdlin the most widespread acceptance. CATV netwpekaiors may reduce or forego
equipment purchases in anticipation of the avditgmf next generation DOCSIS 3.1 solutions tha expected to be available soon, which
may adversely affect our sales. If the trend ofoutcing for the design and manufacture of CAT Vigauent does not continue, or continues
at a slower pace than currently expected, our ouste’' demand for our design and manufacturing sesvinay not grow as quickly as
expected. If expectations for the growth of the &/Amarket are not realized, our financial conditaresults of operations will be adversely
affected. In addition, if the CATV market is advagsimpacted, whether due to competitive pressume ftelecommunication service
providers, regulatory changes, or otherwise, osgirss would be adversely affected. We may nobleta offset any potential decline in
revenue from the CATV market with revenue from reastomers in other markets.

We have limited operating history in the interneaith center and FTTH markets, and our business coblel harmed if these markets do not
develop as we expect.

For 2014, we generated 49.4% and 10.4% of our tevéom the data center and FTTH markets, respegtie have only recent
begun offering products to the FTTH market. Ourihesss in these markets is dependent on the deplayofieur optical components,
modules and subassemblies. In the internet datarcexarket, we are relying on the emergence of ingevnet data center providers and their
adoption of open internet data center architecttivasuse a mix of systems and components frontiatyaf vendors, including non-
traditional equipment vendors. In the FTTH market,are relying on increasing demand for bandwidtbrisive services and
telecommunications service providers’ acceptanckdaployment of WDM-PON as a technology supporfirgigabit per second service to
the home. Without network and bandwidth growth addption of our solutions by operators in theseketar we will not be able to sell our
products in these markets in high volume or attargeted margins, which would adversely affectfmancial condition and results of
operations. For example, WDM-PON technology mayb®adopted by equipment and service providedsar-T TH market as rapidly as we
expect or in the volumes we need to achieve acbkpiaargins, and internet data centers may eleasedarger vendors that require internet
data center operators to purchase the optical medat their systems from such larger vendors. Alsernet data centers may not expand as
much or as quickly as expected and any slowdovexpansion could adversely impact our business amglth prospects. Network and
bandwidth growth may be limited by several factamsluding an uncertain regulatory environmenthhiigfrastructure costs to purchase and
install equipment and uncertainty as to which catingecontent delivery solution, such as CATV, vg#in the most widespread acceptance.
In addition, as we enter new markets or expandcoaniuct offerings in existing markets, our margimsy be adversely affected due to
competition in those markets and commaoditizationarhpeting products. If our expectations for thewgh of these markets are not realized,
our financial condition or results of operationdl e adversely affected.
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If we encounter manufacturing problems, we may los&les and damage our customer relationshi

We may experience delays, disruptions or qualitytrad problems in our manufacturing operations. Sehand other factors may
cause less than acceptable yields at our wafeic&lim facility. Manufacturing yields depend omamber of factors, including the quality of
available raw materials, the degradation or chamgguipment calibration and the rate and timinghefintroduction of new products.
Changes in manufacturing processes required asifi of changes in product specifications, changimgtomer needs and the introduction of
new product lines may significantly reduce our nfanturing yields, resulting in low or negative miasgon those products. In addition, we
use an MBE fabrication process to make our lasatiser than Metal Organic Chemical Vapor DeposjtmmMOCVD, the technique most
commonly used in optical manufacturing by commutiices optics vendors, and our Molecular Beam Epitax MBE, fabrication process
relies on custom-manufactured equipment. If our M8tication facility in Sugar Land, Texas werebendamaged or destroyed for any
reason, our manufacturing process would be sevdrsiypted. Any such manufacturing problems woildly delay product shipments to ¢
customers, which would negatively affect our satesnpetitive position and reputation. We may algoegience delays in production,
typically in February, during the Chinese New Ykaliday when our facilities in China and Taiwan alesed.

Increasing costs and shifts in product mix may adsely impact our gross margin:

Our gross margins on individual products and anymoglucts fluctuate over each prodsdife cycle. Our overall gross margins h.
fluctuated from period to period as a result oftshin product mix, the introduction of new prodsiatlecreases in average selling prices and
our ability to reduce product costs, and thesetdilations are expected to continue in the future.idg not be able to accurately predict our
product mix from period to period, and as a reagltmay not be able to forecast accurately our divgrass margins. The rate of increase in
our costs and expenses may exceed the rate ofseie our revenue, either of which would materiatid adversely affect our business, our
results of operations and our financial condition.

Given the high fixed costs associated with our veatly integrated business, a reduction in demarat bur products will likely adversely
impact our gross profits and our results of opermatis.

We have a high fixed cost base due to our veri¢ategrated business model, including the fact 1h206 of our employees as of
December 31, 2014 were employed in manufacturingrasearch and development operations. We mayenable to adjust these fixed costs
quickly to adapt to rapidly changing market coradis. Our gross profit and gross margin are gredtcted by our sales volume and
volatility on a quarterly basis and the correspagdibsorption of fixed manufacturing overhead egpsnin addition, because we are a
vertically integrated manufacturer, insufficientEnd for our products may subject us to the riskigh inventory carrying costs and
increased inventory obsolescence. Given our véitibegration, the rate at which we turn inventbgs historically been low when compared
to our cost of sales. We do not expect this to ghasignificantly in the future and believe thatwi#t have to maintain a relatively high level
of inventory compared to our cost of sales. Assalltewe continue to expect to have a significanbant of working capital invested in
inventory. We may be required to write down inveptoosts in the future and our high inventory caosts/ have an adverse effect on our
gross profits and our results of operations.

We have a history of losses and have a substamttaumulated deficit.

We have a history of losses and have a substaatiaimulated deficit. In the years ended Decembg2@13 and 2012, we
experienced net losses of $1.4 million and $0.%9onil respectively. In 2014, we experienced a prafi$4.3 million. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, our accumulated deficit was $79lBomiand $83.3 million, respectively. These losgese due to expenditures made to
expand our business, including expenditures fandgpiadditional research and development, and salésnarketing personnel, and
expenditures to expand and maintain our manufagjecilities and research and development operatid/e expect to continue to make
significant expenditures related to our businesduding expenditures for hiring additional reséaand development, and sales and mark
personnel, and expenditures to maintain and expandanufacturing facilities and research and dgweknt operations. In addition, we
have incurred significant additional time demanadd kegal, accounting and other expenses since vaniea public company in September
2013. Our management and other personnel devatlestagitial amount of time to complying with the bggble rules and requirements of
being a public company.
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Our financial results may vary significantly from warter-to-quarter due to a number of factors, whighay lead to volatility in our stock
price.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results haviedan the past and will likely continue to vangmificantly from quarter to
quarter. This variability may lead to volatility our stock price as research analysts and invetsp®nd to these quarterly fluctuations.
These fluctuations are due to numerous factorfydimg:

. the timing, size and mix of sales of our products;

. fluctuations in demand for our products, includihg increase, decrease, rescheduling or cancellafisignificant
customer orders

. our ability to design, manufacture and deliver patd to our customers in a timely and cost-effecthanner and that
meet customer requiremen

. new product introductions and enhancements by osiocompetitors;

. the gain or loss of key customers;

. the rate at which our present and potential custermied end users adopt our technologies;
. changes in our pricing and sales policies or th@ng and sales policies of our competitors;
. quality control or yield problems in our manufadbgy operations;

. supply disruption for certain raw materials and poments used in our products;

. capacity constraints of our outside contract mactufers for a portion of the manufacturing prodessome of our
products;

. length and variability of the sales cycles of oroducts;
. unanticipated increases in costs or expenses;
. the loss of key employees;

. different capital expenditure and budget cyclesoiar customers, affecting the timing of their sgagdor our
products;

. political stability in the areas of the world in igh we operate;

. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

. changes in accounting rules;

. the evolving and unpredictable nature of the markat products incorporating our solutions; and

. general economic conditions and changes in suctiitbtmms specific to our target markets.
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The foregoing factors are difficult to forecastdahese, as well as other factors, could materadiyersely affect our quarterly and
annual operating results. In addition, a signiftamount of our operating expenses is relativedgdiin nature due to our internal
manufacturing, research and development, salegameral administrative efforts. Any failure to astjgspending quickly enough to
compensate for a revenue shortfall could magnigyativerse impact of such revenue shortfall on esults of operations. For these reasons,
you should not rely on quar-to-quarter comparisons of our results of operatias an indicator of future performance. Moreowar,
operating results may not meet our announced go@anthe expectations of research analysts ostox® in which case the price of our
common stock could decrease significantly. Therelmano assurance that we will be able to sucdéssfidress these risks.

We face intense competition which could negativighpact our results of operations and market share.

The markets into which we sell our products ardlyigompetitive. Our competitors range from larigeernational companies
offering a wide range of products to smaller conigaspecializing in niche markets. Current and itaecompetitors may have substanti
greater name recognition, financial, marketingeaesh and manufacturing resources than we do hemd tan be no assurance that our
current and future competitors will not be morecassful than us in specific product lines or mark8bme of our competitors may also have
better-established relationships with our currergatential customers. Some of our competitors mawee resources to develop or acquire
new products and technologies and create markeeaess for their products and technologies. Intemidisome of our competitors have the
financial resources to offer competitive produdtbelow-market pricing levels that could prevent us frormpeting effectively and result ir
loss of sales or market share or cause us to Ipriegs for our products. In recent years, thereba@s consolidation in our industry and we
expect such consolidation to continue. Consolidaithwolving our competitors could result in evenrmatense competition. Network
equipment manufacturers, who are our customerspatvadork service providers may decide to manufacthie optical subsystems
incorporated into their network systems in-houstaad of outsourcing such products to companids asitis. We also encounter potential
customers that, because of existing relationshigs eur competitors, are committed to the prodeétsred by our competitors.

We depend on key personnel to develop and maintaintechnology and manage our business in a rapidlyanging market.

The continued services of our executive officerd ailer key engineering, sales, marketing, manuffaxgt and support personnel is
essential to our success. For example, our abdigchieve new design wins depends upon the experi@nd expertise of our engineers. Any
of our key employees, including our Chief Execu@®#icer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Strategyfi@er, Senior Vice President of
Network Equipment Module Business Unit, Senior iRzesident of Optical Module Division and Asia Gethdlanager, may resign at a
time. We do not have key person life insurancegsi covering any of our employees. To implememthusiness plan, we also intend to hire
additional employees, particularly in the areasmgineering, manufacturing and sales. Our abititydntinue to attract and retain highly
skilled employees is a critical factor in our sulsxeCompetition for highly skilled personnel issimse. We may not be successful in attracting,
assimilating or retaining qualified personnel tassg our current or future needs. Our ability ®vdlop, manufacture and sell our products,
and thus our financial condition and results ofrafiens, would be adversely affected if we are Im#édretain existing personnel or hire
additional qualified personnel.
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We depend on a limited number of suppliers and auwpply interruption could have an adverse effect oar business.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers foratentaw materials and components used in our pted8ome of these suppliers
could disrupt our business if they stop, decreasielay shipments or if the materials or componémy ship have quality or reliability
issues. Some of the raw materials and componentse/é our products are available only from a solerce or have been qualified only
from a single supplier. Furthermore, other thanaurent suppliers, there are a limited numbemaities from whom we could obtain certain
materials and components. We may also face sharitbge experience increased demand for materrat®imponents beyond what our
qualified suppliers can deliver. Our inability tbtain sufficient quantities of critical materialsa@mponents could adversely affect our ability
to meet demand for our products, adversely affgatur financial condition and results of operation.

We typically have not entered into long-term agreets with our suppliers and, therefore, our suppli®uld stop supplying
materials and components to us at any time otdalipply adequate quantities of materials or camepts to us on a timely basis. It is
difficult, costly, time consuming and, on shortioet sometimes impossible for us to identify andlidy new suppliers. Our customers
generally restrict our ability to change the comgrus in our products. For more critical componesuty, changes may require repeating the
entire qualification process. Our reliance on dtkich number of suppliers or a single qualified vanichay result in delivery and quality
problems, and reduced control over product pricialiability and performance.

We depend upon outside contract manufacturers fopartion of the manufacturing process for some afiroproducts.

Almost all of our products are manufactured intyn&owever we also rely upon manufacturers inrf@hiTaiwan and other Asia
locations to provide backnd manufacturing and produce the finished portioa few of our products. Our reliance on a cortraanufacture
for these products makes us vulnerable to poss#dpacity constraints and reduced control over dgfigchedules, manufacturing yields,
manufacturing quality/controls and costs. If on@uoff contract manufacturers is unable to meetfallo customer demand in a timely fash
this could have a material adverse effect on thermee from our products. If the contract manufaatéor one of our product were unable or
unwilling to manufacture such produce in requiretlitnes and at high quality levels or to continue existing supply arrangement, we wc
have to identify, qualify and select an acceptailitiernative contract manufacturer or move theseuf@@turing operations to our internal
manufacturing facilities. An alternative contrachmufacturer may not be available to us when needethy not be in a position to satisfy «
quality or production requirements on commerciadigsonable terms, including price. Any significemérruption in manufacturing our
products would require us to reduce our supplyrotipcts to our customers, which in turn, would aour revenue, harm our relationships
with the customer of these products and cause fsg¢go potential revenue opportunities.

Our products could contain defects that may causeta incur significant costs or result in a loss ofistomers.

Our products are complex and undergo quality tgstgwwell as formal qualification by our customésr customers’ testing
procedures are limited to evaluating our produotdeu likely and foreseeable failure scenarios ared warying amounts of time. For various
reasons, such as the occurrence of performancéepistthat are unforeseeable in testing or thatletected only when products age or are
operated under peak stress conditions, our produaysfail to perform as expected long after custoazeeptance. Failures could result from
faulty components or design, problems in manuf@mguor other unforeseen reasons. As a result, wlldncur significant costs to repair or
replace defective products under warranty, padityibvhen such failures occur in installed syste@s. products are typically embedded in,
or deployed in conjunction with, our customers’guots, which incorporate a variety of componentsdutes and subsystems and may be
expected to interoperate with modules producedivgl parties. As a result, not all defects are irdiately detectable and when problems
occur, it may be difficult to identify the sourcétbe problem. While we have not experienced makéailures in the past, we will continue to
face this risk going forward because our produdsradely deployed in many demanding environmentsapplications worldwide. In
addition, we may in certain circumstances honoravdy claims after the warranty has expired ompimblems not covered by warranty to
maintain customer relationships. Any significarghsct failure could result in litigation, damagespair costs and lost future sales of the
affected product and other products, divert thergitbn of our engineering personnel from our prodigvelopment efforts and cause
significant customer relations problems, all of @hwvould harm our business. Although we carry pobdiability insurance, this insurance
may not adequately cover our costs arising froneatsfin our products or otherwise.
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We face a variety of risks associated with our imational sales and operations.

We currently derive, and expect to continue towdera significant portion of our revenue from sdtesternational customers. In
2014, 2013 and 2012, 29.5%, 41.0% and 55.7% ofememue was derived from sales that occurred autdidNorth America, respectively. In
addition, a significant portion of our manufactgyioperations is based in Ningbo, China and Taipaiivan. Our international revenue and
operations are subject to a number of materiasrisicluding:

. difficulties in staffing, managing and supportingeoations in more than one country;

. difficulties in enforcing agreements and collectregeivables through foreign legal systems;
. fewer legal protections for intellectual propemyforeign jurisdictions;

. foreign and U.S. taxation issues and internatitnaale barriers;

. difficulties in obtaining any necessary governmeatahorizations for the export of our products#stain foreign
jurisdictions;

. fluctuations in foreign economies;
. fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies amérest rates;
. trade and travel restrictions;

. domestic and international economic or politicamfpes, hostilities and other disruptions in regiwhsre we
currently operate or may operate in the fut

. difficulties and increased expenses in complyinthaivariety of U.S. and foreign laws, regulatiansl trade
standards, including the Foreign Corrupt Practhets and

. different and changing legal and regulatory requéats in the jurisdictions in which we currentlyeogte or may
operate in the future

Negative developments in any of these factors im&hbr Taiwan or other countries could result re@duction in demand for our
products, the cancellation or delay of orders alygalaced, difficulties in producing and deliveriagr products, threats to our intellectual
property, difficulty in collecting receivables, aadigher cost of doing business. Although we na@intertain compliance programs
throughout the company, violations of U.S. andifyméaws and regulations may result in criminatwil sanctions, including material
monetary fines, penalties and other costs agamet our employees, and may have a material adeéfesst on our business.

Our business operations conducted in China andaraawe important to our success. A substantialgrodf our property, plant and
equipment is located in China and Taiwan. We exfgentake further investments in China and Taiwatih@nfuture. Therefore, our business,
financial condition, results of operations and pexgs are subject to economic, political, legatl social events and developments in China
and Taiwan. Factors affecting military, politicaleconomic conditions in China and Taiwan couldehawmaterial adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations, & &s the market price and the liquidity of oungoon shares.

In some instances, we rely on third parties to &ss$n selling our products, and the failure of thegarties to perform as expected col
reduce our future revenue.

Although we primarily sell our products throughetit sales, we also sell our products to some o€ostomers through third party
sales representatives and distributors. Many dfi shicd parties also market and sell products faamcompetitors. Our third party sales
representatives and distributors may terminate te&tionships with us at any time, or with shwotice. Our future performance will also
depend, in part, on our ability to attract addiéibtihird party sales representatives and distritsuttoat will be able to market and support our
products effectively, especially in markets in whige have not previously distributed our produlfteur current third party sales
representatives and distributors fail to perfornexgsected, our revenue and results of operationlsl dee harmed.
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Failure to manage our growth effectively may advelg affect our financial condition and results ofprations.

Successful implementation of our business plaruimtarget markets requires effective planning aashagement. Our production
volumes are increasing significantly and we haveoanced plans to increase our production capatitgsponse to demand for our products,
adding both personnel as well as expanding ouripalysianufacturing facilities. We currently operédeilities in Sugar Land, Texas, Ning
China and Taipei, Taiwan. We currently manufacturelasers using a proprietary process and custzh@guipment located only in our
Sugar Land, Texas facility, and it will be costtyduplicate that facility, to scale our laser mautfiring capacity or to mitigate the risks
associated with operating a single facility. ThallE#nges of managing our geographically dispergetagions have increased and will
continue to increase the demand on our managerysteiss and resources. Moreover, we are continoimgprove our financial and
managerial controls, reporting systems and proesdutny failure to manage our expansion and thdtieg demands on our management
systems and resources effectively may adversedgiaffur financial condition and results of openagio

Our loan agreements contain restrictive covenartigttmay adversely affect our ability to conduct obusiness.

We have lending arrangements with several finanmegtitutions, including loan agreements with BA&st Bank in the U.S., and our
Taiwan location and China subsidiary have sevéraslof credit arrangements. Our loan agreememnsrgimg our long-term debt obligations
in the U.S. contain certain financial and operatingenants that limit our management’s discretiéth vespect to certain business matters.
Among other things, these covenants require usdiotain certain financial ratios and restrict obility to incur additional debt in the U.S.,
create liens or other encumbrances, change theenaitour business, pay dividends, sell or otheswiispose of assets and merge or
consolidate with other entities. These restrictioray limit our flexibility in responding to busirespportunities, competitive developments
and adverse economic or industry conditions. Arilyrf@ by us or our subsidiaries to comply with ta@greements could harm our business,
financial condition and operating results. In aiddif our obligations under our U.S. loan agreemueiits East West Bank are secured by
substantially all of our U.S. assets. A breachryf af covenants under our loan agreements, olwdaio pay interest or indebtedness when
due under any of our credit facilities, could régula variety of adverse consequences, includiegatceleration of our indebtedness.

We may not be able to obtain additional capital wheéesired, on favorable terms or at all.

We operate in a market that makes our prospedtsulifto evaluate and, to remain competitive, wi# lae required to make
continued investments in capital equipment, faediand technological improvements. We expectdhbstantial capital will be required to
expand our manufacturing capacity and fund workiagital for anticipated growth. If we do not genersufficient cash flow from operations
or otherwise have the capital resources to meetuduire capital needs, we may need additional firanto implement our business strategy,
which includes:

. expansion of research and development;

. expansion of manufacturing capabilities;

. hiring of additional technical, sales and otherspanel; and
. acquisitions of complementary businesses.

If we raise additional funds through the issuarfceus common stock or convertible securities, thmership interests of our
stockholders could be significantly diluted. Thessvly issued securities may have rights, prefereocgrivileges senior to those of existing
stockholders. Additional financing may not, howevsr available on terms favorable to us, or atfelind when needed, and our ability to
fund our operations, take advantage of unanticipaportunities, develop or enhance our infrastmecor respond to competitive pressures
could be significantly limited. If we cannot raissguired capital when needed, we may be unablestt the demands of existing and
prospective customers, adversely affecting ourssahel market opportunities and consequently ounbss, financial condition and results of
operations.

Future acquisitions may adversely affect our finaiat condition and results of operations.

As part of our business strategy, we may pursuaisitigns of companies that we believe could enkasroccomplement our current
product portfolio, augment our technology roadmagieersify our revenue base. Acquisitions involeanerous risks, any of which could
harm our business, including:

. difficulties integrating the acquired business;

. unanticipated costs, capital expenditures or ligdxsl or changes related to research in progrespeorduct
development

. diversion of financial and management resources foar existing business;

. difficulties integrating the business relationshigth suppliers and customers of the acquired tassimwith our
existing business relationshiy

. risks associated with entering markets in whichharee little or no prior experience; and

. potential loss of key employees, particularly thokehe acquired organizations.
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Acquisitions may also result in the recording obdwill and other intangible assets subject to piigémmpairment in the future,
adversely affecting our operating results. We matyachieve the anticipated benefits of an acquoisiifi we fail to evaluate it properly, and"
may incur costs in excess of what we anticipatéailure to evaluate and execute an acquisition @mjately or otherwise adequately address
these risks may adversely affect our financial dowand results of operations.

We may be subject to disruptions or failures in @mfation technology systems and network infrastructs that could have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial comait

We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted opermatid complex information technology systems anavoek infrastructures to
operate our business. A disruption, infiltratiorfaiture of our information technology systems assult of software or hardware
malfunctions, system implementations or upgrades\puter viruses, third-party security breaches,leyge error, theft or misuse,
malfeasance, power disruptions, natural disasteas@dents could cause a breach of data secloity of intellectual property and critical
data and the release and misappropriation of $emsibmpetitive information and partner, custonaeg employee personal data. Any of tl
events could harm our competitive position, result loss of customer confidence, cause us to isigmificant costs to remedy any damages
and ultimately materially adversely affect our Imgsis and financial condition.

Our future results of operations may be subjectvolatility as a result of exposure to fluctuationis currency exchange rates.

We have significant foreign currency exposure, amdaffected by fluctuations among the U.S. dottag,Chinese renminbi, or
RMB, and the New Taiwan dollar, or NT dollar, besaa substantial portion of our business is cordiict China and Taiwan. Our sales,
materials, components and capital expendituredememinated in U.S. dollars, RMB and NT dollargamying amounts.

Foreign currency fluctuations may adversely afteatrevenue and our costs and expenses, and henoesalts of operations. The
value of the NT dollar or the RMB against the W8llar and other currencies may fluctuate and bectadd by, among other things, changes
in political and economic conditions. The RMB cuntg is no longer being pegged solely to the vafub® U.S. dollar. While the
international reaction to the RMB revaluation haseyally been positive, there remains significatdrinational pressure on the Chinese
government to adopt an even more flexible currgradicy, which may result in a further and more #figant appreciation of the RMB agai
the U.S. dollar. In the long term, the RMB may agmpaite or depreciate significantly in value agathstU.S. dollar, depending upon the
fluctuation of the basket of currencies againstotii is currently valued, or it may be permittecenter into a full float, which may also re:
in a significant appreciation or depreciation af RMB against the U.S. dollar. In addition, ourrency exchange variations may be
magnified by Chinese exchange control regulatibas rtestrict our ability to convert RMB into foreigurrency.

Our sales in Europe are denominated in U.S. dadladsfluctuations in the Euro or our customerskeotlocal currencies relative to
the U.S. dollar may impact our customers and affectfinancial performance. If our customers’ locatrencies weaken against the U.S.
dollar, we may need to lower our prices to remaimpetitive in our international markets which cobbdse a material adverse effect on our
margins. If our customers’ local currencies strpgtagainst the U.S. dollar and if the local sphces cannot be raised due to competitive
pressures, we will experience a deterioration ofroargins.

To date, we have not entered into any hedging aimns in an effort to reduce our exposure toifpreurrency exchange risk.
While we may decide to enter into hedging transastiin the future, the availability and effectives®f these hedging transactions may be
limited and we may not be able to successfully leenlgr exposure.

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events abhlarm our operations

Our operations in the U.S., China and Taiwan cteldubject to significant risk of natural disastérsluding earthquakes,
hurricanes, typhoons, flooding and tornadoes, dsasther catastrophic events, such as epideteiagyist attacks or wars. For example,
our corporate headquarters and wafer fabricatioititiain Sugar Land, Texas, is located near GillMexico, an area that is susceptible to
hurricanes. We use a proprietary MBE laser manufag process that requires customized equipmeunttlais process is currently conduc
and located solely at our wafer fabrication fagilit Sugar Land, Texas, such that a natural digasteorist attack or other catastrophic event
that affects that facility would materially harmraaperations. In addition, our manufacturing fdgiln Taipei, Taiwan, is susceptible to
typhoons, and our manufacturing facility in Ning@hina, has from time to time, suffered electrimatages. Any disruption in our
manufacturing facilities arising from these andesthatural disasters or other catastrophic eventklcause significant delays in the
production or shipment of our products until we aloke to shift production to different facilities arange for third parties to manufacture our
products. We may not be able to obtain alterngb@aty on favorable terms or at all. Our propentyurance coverage with respect to natural
disaster is limited and is subject to deductiblé eoverage limits. Such coverage may not be adeguatontinue to be available at
commercially reasonable rates and terms. The cmocerof any of these circumstances may adverskgtafur financial condition and rest
of operation.
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If we fail to protect, or incur significant costiidefending, our intellectual property and other gprietary rights, our business and resul
of operations could be materially harmed.

Our success depends on our ability to protectmtetlectual property and other proprietary right&e rely on a combination of
patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret andiucdmpetition laws, as well as license agreemantsother contractual provisions, to
establish and protect our intellectual property atigbr proprietary rights. We have applied for pategistrations in the U.S. and in other
foreign countries, some of which have been isslredddition, we have registered certain trademarkkie U.S. We cannot guarantee that our
pending applications will be approved by the atile governmental authorities. Moreover, our exgstind future patents and trademarks
may not be sufficiently broad to protect our prefary rights or may be held invalid or unenforceahlcourt. A failure to obtain patents or
trademark registrations or a successful challeagrit registrations in the U.S. or other foreignmwies may limit our ability to protect the
intellectual property rights that these applicasiamd registrations intended to cover.

Policing unauthorized use of our technology isidift and we cannot be certain that the steps we taken will prevent the
misappropriation, unauthorized use or other inkimgnt of our intellectual property rights. Furthee may not be able to effectively protect
our intellectual property rights from misappropigator other infringement in foreign countries whi@re have not applied for patent
protections, and where effective patent, tradentsakle secret and other intellectual property levay be unavailable, or may not protect our
proprietary rights as fully as U.S. law. We maykseesecure comparable intellectual property ptates in other countries. However, the
level of protection afforded by patent and oth&rdan other countries may not be comparable toaffatded in the U.S.

We also attempt to protect our intellectual propdrtcluding our trade secrets and know-how, thtotige use of trade secret and
other intellectual property laws, and contractuahsions. We enter into confidentiality and invMentassignment agreements with our
employees and independent consultants. We alspamsdisclosure agreements with other third paxtiee may have access to our
proprietary technologies and information. Such raeas however, provide only limited protection, dnere can be no assurance that our
confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements mall be breached, especially after our employeedteidemployment, and that our trade
secrets will not otherwise become known by comgetior that we will have adequate remedies in Wemteof unauthorized use or disclosure
of proprietary information. Unauthorized third pastmay try to copy or reverse engineer our pradaciportions of our products, otherwise
obtain and use our intellectual property, or malependently develop similar or equivalent tradeete®mr knowhow. If we fail to protect ot
intellectual property and other proprietary righasjf such intellectual property and proprietaights are infringed or misappropriated, our
business, results of operations or financial céonlitould be materially harmed.

In the future, we may need to take legal actionsréwent third parties from infringing upon or npgaopriating our intellectual
property or from otherwise gaining access to ochntelogy. Protecting and enforcing our intellectoi@perty rights and determining their
validity and scope could result in significantddiion costs and require significant time and aitbterfrom our technical and management
personnel, which could significantly harm our besis. We may not prevail in such proceedings, aratlaarse outcome may adversely
impact our competitive advantage or otherwise hammfinancial condition and our business.

We may be involved in intellectual property dispsii@ the future, which could divert management’'st@tion, cause us to incur significant
costs and prevent us from selling or using the dealged technology.

Participants in the markets in which we sell owdurcts have experienced frequent litigation regayghiatent and other intellectual
property rights. While we have a policy in placattts designed to reduce the risk of infringemdnnwllectual property rights of others and
we have conducted a limited review of other comgsinielevant patents, there can be no assurancthitthparties will not assert
infringement claims against us. We cannot be aettat our products would not be found infringingtbe intellectual property rights of
others. Regardless of their merit, responding thslaims can be time consuming, divert managerseattention and resources and may
cause us to incur significant expenses. Intellégit@perty claims against us could force us to de or more of the following:

. obtain from a third party claiming infringementieeinse to the relevant technology, which may nat\sglable on
reasonable terms, or at ¢

. stop manufacturing, selling, incorporating or using products that use the challenged intellegiuagperty;

. pay substantial monetary damages; or

. expend significant resources to redesign the ptsdhat use the technology and to develop infnmging technology

22




Any of these actions could result in a substam@dliction in our revenue and could result in losses an extended period of time.

In any potential intellectual property dispute, sustomers could also become the target of liigatBecause we often indemnify
our customers for intellectual property claims madainst them with respect to our products, anyndagainst our customers could trigger
indemnification claims against us. These obligatioauld result in substantial expenses such aséaganses, damages for past infringement
or royalties for future use. Any indemnity claimudd also adversely affect our relationships with customers and result in substantial costs
to us.

If we fail to obtain the right to use the intellegal property rights of others that are necessarydperate our business, and to protect th
intellectual property, our business and resultsayperations will be adversely affected.

From time to time we may choose to or be requioditense technology or intellectual property frthird parties in connection with
the development of our products. We cannot assaudhat third party licenses will be available toan commercially reasonable terms, if at
all. Generally, a license, if granted, would inaysayments of up-front fees, ongoing royaltiesahbThese payments or other terms could
have a significant adverse impact on our resultgpefations. Our inability to obtain a necessaindtparty license required for our product
offerings or to develop new products and produbla@eements could require us to substitute techgabtpwer quality or performance
standards, or of greater cost, either of which@¢@ualversely affect our business. If we are not &btbtain licenses from third parties, if
necessary, then we may also be subject to litigabadefend against infringement claims from thibgel parties. Our competitors may be ¢
to obtain licenses or cross-license their technotmgbetter terms than we can, which could putt@sampetitive disadvantage.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control wer financial reporting in the future, the accuracgnd timing of our financial reporting
may be adversely affected.

Preparing our consolidated financial statementsliras a number of complex manual and automatedepses, which are dependent
upon individual data input or review and requirgngicant management judgment. One or more of tiete@ents may result in errors that
may not be detected and could result in a materisdétatement of our consolidated financial statémefe have not performed an evaluation
of our internal control over financial reportingich as would be required by Section 404 of the &ab-Oxley Act, nor have we engaged our
independent registered public accounting firm tdgren an audit of our internal control over finaglcieporting. In addition, for so long as we
qualify as an “emerging growth company” under t@8$ Act, which may be up to five years following anitial public offering in
September 2013, we will not have to provide antauagiattestation report on our internal contralduture annual reports on Form 10-K as
otherwise required by Section 404(b) of the Sarbabdey Act. During the course of any evaluatioocamentation or attestation, we or our
independent registered public accounting firm nontify weaknesses and deficiencies that we maptherwise identify in a timely manner
or at all as a result of the deferred implementatibthis additional level of review.

We have implemented internal controls that we beligrovide reasonable assurance that we will be tabdvoid accounting errors
material weaknesses in future periods. Howeverjrdarnal controls cannot guarantee that no acdogietrors exist or that all accounting
errors, no matter how immaterial, will be detedvedause a control system, no matter how well desigimd operated, can provide only
reasonable, but not absolute assurance that thteystem’s objectives will be met. If we are bleato implement and maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting, our ayilto accurately and timely report our financiesults could be adversely impacted. This ¢
result in late filings of our annual and quartaeyorts under the Securities Exchange Act of 168#he Exchange Act, restatements of our
consolidated financial statements, a decline insbock price, suspension or delisting of our commstmek by NASDAQ, or other material
adverse effects on our business, reputation, sesfiliperations or financial condition.

Our ability to use our net operating losses and taén other tax attributes may be limited.

As of December 31, 2014, we had U.S. accumulatedperating losses, or NOLs, of approximately $56illion for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. Under Section 382 of thehatdRevenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a coiporahdergoes an “ownership
change,” the corporation’s ability to use its prewege NOLs, R&D credits and other pre-change tadbates to offset its post-change income
may be limited. An ownership change is generalfingel as a greater than 50% change in equity owiels/ value over a 3-year period.
Based upon an analysis of our equity ownershiphawe experienced an ownership change and our N@ited in dollar amount. As of
December 31, 2014, of the total accumulated NOLy, $81.5 million is available for utilization in fure periods to offset federal taxable
income. Each year after 2014, an additional $0IBamiis added to the total available NOL, untireaximum of $34.9 million is reached. The
amount of NOL available each year may decreasédwpmount of NOL utilized and may increase by theant of any operating losses
incurred. Should we experience additional ownershigmnges, our NOL carry forwards may be furtheitéoh

23




Changes in our effective tax rate may adverselyeaffour results of operation and our business.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and dtineign jurisdictions, including China. We bas& tax position on the
anticipated nature and conduct of our businesoandinderstanding of the tax laws of the countrieshich we have assets or conduct
activities. Our tax position may be reviewed orligramed by tax authorities. Moreover, the tax lawsently in effect may change, and such
changes may have retroactive effect. We have oderpany arrangements in place providing for adrrative and financing services and
transfer pricing, which involve a significant degref judgment and are often subject to close religwax authorities. The tax authorities r
challenge our positions related to these agreemiéénie tax authorities successfully challenge positions, our effective tax rate may
increase, adversely affecting our results of op@nadnd our business.

Our manufacturing operations are subject to envirorental regulation that could limit our growth or imose substantial costs, adversely
affecting our financial condition and results of aggrations.

Our properties, operations and products are sutmabe environmental laws and regulations of thisgictions in which we operate
and sell products. These laws and regulations go@enong other things, air emissions, wastewatahdirges, the management and disposal
of hazardous materials, the contamination of swill groundwater, employee health and safety anddahtent, performance, packaging and
disposal of products. Our failure to comply withrreint and future environmental laws and regulationshe identification of contamination
for which we are liable, could subject us to subistd costs, including fines, clean-up costs, thiedty property damages or personal injury
claims, and make significant investments to upg@aeacilities or curtail our operations. Liabjlitnder environmental, health and safety
laws can be joint and several and without regarfditi or negligence. For example, pursuant tommental laws and regulations, includ
but not limited to the Comprehensive Environme®asponse Compensation and Liability Act, or CERCWw&,may be liable for the full
amount of any remediation-related costs at progertie currently own or formerly owned, such asauirently owned Sugar Land, Texas
facility, or at properties at which we operatedwedl as at properties we will own or operate ia fhture, and properties to which we have
sent hazardous substances, whether or not we cthesedntamination. Identification of presently demitified environmental conditions, mi
vigorous enforcement by a governmental authoritgcément of more stringent legal requirements lbeotinanticipated events could give
rise to adverse publicity, restrict our operaticaffect the design or marketability of our produatotherwise cause us to incur material
environmental costs, adversely affecting our finainmondition and results of operations.

We are exposed to risks and increased expensedasihess risk as a result of Restriction on HazaumdoSubstances, or RoHS directives.

Following the lead of the European Union, or EWjaas governmental agencies have either alreadinpuplace or are planning to
introduce regulations that regulate the permisdéels of hazardous substances in products saldrious regions of the world. For exam|
the RoHS directive for EU took effect on July 1080The labeling provisions of similar legislationChina went into effect on March 1,
2007. Consequently, many suppliers of products isttdthe EU have required their suppliers to begliant with the new directive. Many of
our customers have adopted this approach and bguéed our full compliance. Though we have devataignificant amount of resources
and effort in planning and executing our ROHS paogyrit is possible that some of our products mighincompatible with such regulations.
In such events, we could experience the followiogsequences: loss of revenue, damages reputaitiensidn of resources, monetary
penalties, and legal action.

Failure to comply with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Prdices Act could subject us to penalties and othdwerse consequences.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Prastiet which generally prohibits U.S. companies frengaging in bribery or other
prohibited payments to foreign officials for therpose of obtaining or retaining business. In additive are required to maintain records that
accurately and fairly represent our transactiomshave an adequate system of internal accountingals. Foreign companies, including
some that may compete with us, may not be suljetietse prohibitions, and therefore may have a etithye advantage over us. If we are
not successful in implementing and maintaining adée| preventative measures, we may be responsibéets of our employees or other
agents engaging in such conduct. We could sufferegenalties and other consequences that mayahaegerial adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.
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We are subject to governmental export and imporhtols that could subject us to liability or impaiur ability to compete in international
markets.

We are subject to export and import control lawneslé regulations and other trade requirementdithatwhich products we sell and
where and to whom we sell our products. Specificéiie Bureau of Industry and Security of the UD8partment of Commerce is responsible
for regulating the export of most commercial itetimst are so called dual-use goods that may havedomhmercial and military applications.
A limited number of our products are exported logttise under the Export Control Classification NumbeECCN, of 5A991. Export
Control Classification requirements are dependpohwan item’s technical characteristics, the dasitn, the end-use, and the end-user, and
other activities of the end-user. Should the retijuta applicable to our products change, or thiicti®ns applicable to countries to which we
ship our products change, then the export of oodyets to such countries could be restricted. Pesalt, our ability to export or sell our
products to certain countries could be restrictdtch could adversely affect our business, findnmadition and results of operations.
Changes in our products or any change in expamport regulations or related legislation, shifaipproach to the enforcement or scope of
existing regulations, or change in the countriesspns or technologies targeted by such regulatamsd result in delayed or decreased sales
of our products to existing or potential customérssuch event, our business and results of opsimtiould be adversely affected.

Rapidly changing standards and regulations could kesour products obsolete, which would cause ouregeure and results of operations
suffer.

We design our products to conform to regulationial#@shed by governments and to standards setdustry standards bodies
worldwide, such as the American National Standamdstute, the European Telecommunications Starsdistitute, the International
Telecommunications Union and the Institute of Eieat and Electronics Engineers, Inc. Various iridusrganizations are currently
considering whether and to what extent to createdstrds applicable to our products. Because cesfaior products are designed to conform
to current specific industry standards, if compgtin new standards emerge that are preferred bgustomers, we would have to make
significant expenditures to develop new produdteul customers adopt new or competing industrgdaeds with which our products are not
compatible, or the industry groups adopt standardgpvernments issue regulations with which oudpots are not compatible, our existing
products would become less desirable to our custoara our revenue and results of operations wewffer.

Compliance with regulations related to conflict menals could increase costs and affect the manufagtg and sale of our products.

Public companies are required to disclose the fifia,dantalum, tungsten and gold (collectivelgphflict minerals”)mined from the
Democratic Republic of the Congo and adjoining ¢das (the “covered countries”) if a conflict milad(s) is necessary to the functionality of
a product manufactured, or contracted to be matwuied, by the company. We may determine, as pastioEompliance efforts, that certain
products or components we obtain from our supptiergain conflict minerals. If we are unable to coe that all our products are free from
conflict minerals originating from covered counsi¢his could have a negative impact on our busimeputation and/or results of operations.
We may also encounter challenges to satisfy customio require that our products be certified asla free, which could place us at a
competitive disadvantage if we are unable to sulistte such a claim. Compliance with these rulagctalso affect the sourcing and
availability of some of the minerals used in thenufacture of products or components we obtain foumsuppliers, including our ability to
obtain products or components in sufficient quégiand/or at competitive prices. Certain of owstemers are requiring additional
information from us regarding the origin of our ravaterials, and complying with these customer megoénts may cause us to incur
additional costs, such as costs related to detémmthe origin of any minerals used in our produ€tar supply chain is complex and we may
be unable to verify the origins for all metals ugedur products. We may also encounter challemgsour customers and stockholders if
are unable to certify that our products are conftiee.

Risks Related to Our Operations in China

Adverse changes in economic and political policie<hina, or Chinese laws or regulations could hagematerial adverse effect c
business conditions and the overall economic growftChina, which could adversely affect our busirses

The Chinese economy differs from the economiesadtrdeveloped countries in many respects, incluttiedevel of government
involvement, level of development, growth rate, tconof foreign exchange and allocation of resoardhe Chinese economy has been
transitioning from a planned economy to a more miadkiented economy. Despite reforms, the govertmantinues to exercise significant
control over China’s economic growth by way of gllecation of resources, control over foreign caooyedenominated obligations and
monetary policy and provision of preferential treaht to particular industries or companies.
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In addition, the laws, regulations and legal regmients in China, including the laws that applyai@ign-invested enterprises, or
FIEs, are subject to frequent changes. The int&xfioa and enforcement of such laws is uncertaioteetions of intellectual property rights
and confidentiality in China may not be as effegtas in the U.S. or other countries or regions witite developed legal systems. Any
litigation in China may be protracted and resulsuibstantial costs and diversion of resources aarthgement attention. Any adverse changes
to these laws, regulations and legal requirememtiseir interpretation or enforcement could havaaterial adverse effect on our business.

Furthermore, while China’s economy has experiemapi! growth in the past 20 years, growth has hemven across different
regions, among various economic sectors and avex. {China has also in the past and may in thedwxperience economic downturns due
to, for example, government austerity measures)gdsin government policies relating to capitahsiieg, limitations placed on the ability
commercial banks to make loans, reduced levelsmdres and international trade, inflation, lackiogncial liquidity, stock market volatility
and global economic conditions. Any of these dewedents could contribute to a decline in busineskcamsumer spending in addition to
other adverse market conditions, which could adhgrmaffect our business.

The termination and expiration or unavailability obur preferential tax treatments in China may hagematerial adverse effect on our
operating results.

Prior to January 1, 2008, entities establishediim&were generally subject to a 30% state andd@%¥ kenterprise income tax rate
accordance with the China Income Tax Law for Entegg with Foreign Investment and Foreign Entegsrigffective through December 31,
2007, our China subsidiary enjoyed preferentiabine tax rates. Effective January 1, 2008, the CEimarprise Income Tax Law, or the EIT
law, imposes a single uniform income tax rate df%2in all Chinese enterprises, including FIEs, dimndieates or modifies most of the tax
exemptions, reductions and preferential treatmeaiable under the previous tax laws and regulatiéws a result, our China subsidiary may
be subject to the uniform income tax rate of 25%smwe are able to qualify for preferential sta@srrently, we have qualified for a
preferential 15% tax rate that is available fotestencouraged new high technology enterprises préferential rate applies to calendar years
2014, 2013 and 2012. We applied for an additiomae years of preferential status with the Chimgsernment in 2014 and received
approval as a high-technology enterprise througite®eber 2017. Any future increase in the enterpniseme tax rate applicable to us or the
expiration or other limitation of preferential teates available to us could increase our tax li#dsl and reduce our net income.

China regulation of loans and direct investment bffshore holding companies to China entities maylaeor prevent us from making
loans or additional capital contributions to our Gha subsidiary.

Any loans that we wish to make to our China subsjdare subject to China regulations and approt¥asexample, any loans to our
China subsidiary to finance their activities canewteed statutory limits, must be registered widteSAdministration of Foreign Exchange
SAFE, or its local counterpart, and must be apptdusethe relevant government authorities. Any @miontributions to our China subsidiary
must be approved by the Ministry of Commerce olitsl counterpart. In addition, under Circular 1d@r China subsidiary, as a FIE, may
not be able to convert our capital contributionghiem into RMB for equity investments or acquisigan China.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to oliteése government registrations or approvals amely basis, if at all, with
respect to our future loans or capital contribwiemour China subsidiary. If we fail to receivelsuegistrations or approvals, our ability to
capitalize our China subsidiary may be negativéfigcéed, which could materially and adversely afffear liquidity and ability to fund and
expand our business.

Our China subsidiary is subject to Chinese labomia and regulations and Chinese labor laws may irese our operating costs in China.

The China Labor Contract Law, together with its lempenting rules, provides increased rights to Cdéremployees. Previously, an
employer had discretionary power in deciding thabption period, not to exceed six months. Addititypghe employment contract could
only be terminated for cause. Under these rulespthbation period varies depending on contrantgeand the employment contract can only
be terminated during the probation period for caysen three days’ notice. Additionally, an emplogreay not be able to terminate a contract
during the probation period on the grounds of aemi@tchange of circumstances or a mass layoff.riéve law also has specific provisions on
conditions when an employer has to sign an employmantract with open-ended terms. If an emplogds to enter into an open-ended
contract in certain circumstances, the employertpag the employee twice their monthly wage begigrfrom the time the employer should
have executed an open-ended contract. Additioaallgmployer must pay severance for nearly all teatrons, including when an employer
decides not to renew a fixed-term contract. Thases Imay increase our costs and reduce our fletyibili
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The turnover of direct labor in manufacturing induses in China is high, which could adversely affecur production, shipments and
results of operations.

Employee turnover of direct labor in the manufaicignisector in China is high and retention of suetspnnel is a challenge to
companies located in or with operations in Chingthdugh direct labor costs do not represent a pigiportion of our overall manufacturing
costs, direct labor is required for the manufactireur products. If our direct labor turnover sat#e higher than we expect, or we otherwise
fail to adequately manage our direct labor turnoaées, then our results of operations could beely affected.

An increase in our labor costs in China may advesaffect our business and our profitability

A significant portion of our workforce is locatenl China. Labor costs in China have been increasiogntly due to labor unrest,
strikes and changes in employment laws. If labasttn China continue to increase, our costs wilfease. If we are not able to pass these
increases on to our customers, our business, @bdfiy and results of operations may be adveraéfgcted.

We may have difficulty establishing and maintainiraglequate management and financial controls over @hina operations.

Businesses in China have historically not adoptegstern style of management and financial repgitoncepts and practices,
which includes strong corporate governance, interoatrols and computer, financial and other cdrgystems. Moreover, familiarity with
U.S. GAAP principles and reporting procedures $s leommon in China. As a consequence, we may hieiltly finding accounting
personnel experienced with U.S. GAAP, and we maje filifficulty training and integrating our Chinadeal accounting staff with our U.S.-
based finance organization. As a result of thesmfa, we may experience difficulty in establishingnagement and financial controls over
our China operations. These difficulties includéemiing financial data and preparing financiaktemaents, books of account and corporate
records and instituting business practices that tde® public-company reporting requirements. Weg nraturn, experience difficulties in
implementing and maintaining adequate internalrodéias required under Section 404 of the Sarb@ndsy Act.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price has been and is likely to be vdati

The market price of our common stock has been sfikiely to be subject to wide fluctuations in respe to, among other things, the
risk factors described in this section of this AahReport on Form 10-K, and other factors beyorndooutrol, such as fluctuations in the
valuation of companies perceived by investors tedraparable to us.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experienceeé prid volume fluctuations that have affected amdicue to affect the market
prices of equity securities of many companies. €fkgtuations often have been unrelated or disptagnate to the operating performanc
those companies. These broad market and industtufitions, as well as general economic, polit.wal market conditions, such as
recessions, interest rate changes or internat@mmadncy fluctuations, may negatively affect therkeaprice of our common stock.

In the past, many companies that have experienakdility in the market price of their stock havedm subject to securities class

action litigation. We may become the target of thijge of litigation in the future. Securities liéiion against us could result in substantial
costs and divert our management’s attention framerabusiness concerns, which could seriously hambosiness.
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We have incurred and will continue to incur signdant increased expenses and administrative burdass public company, which could
have a material adverse effect on our operationsidmancial results.

We face increased legal, accounting, administragie other costs and expenses as a public companweé did not incur as a private
company, and greater expenditures may be necdssény future with the advent of new laws, regalasi and stock exchange listing
requirements pertaining to public companies. Theseased costs will require us to divert a sigaifit amount of money that we could
otherwise use to expand our business and achien&rategic objectives. The Sarbanes-Oxley Acluiog the requirements of Section 404,
as well as rules and regulations subsequently ingieed by the SEC, the Public Company Accountingr€ight Board and the NASDAQ
Global Market, impose additional reporting and othigligations on public companies. Compliance witiblic company requirements has
increased our costs and made some activities rimesdonsuming. For example, we have created newdtmmanmittees and adopted new
internal controls and disclosure controls and pilaces. In addition, we will have incurred and wiintinue to incur additional expenses
associated with our SEC reporting requirementsthieamore, if we identify any issues in complyingtwihose requirements (for example, if
we or our auditors identify a material weaknessignificant deficiency in our internal control oviarancial reporting), we could incur
additional costs rectifying those issues, and #igtence of those issues could adversely affeabwsteputation or investor perceptions of us.
Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third partiegsy also prompt additional changes in governande@porting requirements, which could
further increase our costs.

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on aaommon stock and, consequently, your only opportyrid achieve a return on your
investment is if the price of our common stock apprates.

We currently do not plan to declare or pay dividend shares of our common stock in the foresedatilee. In addition, the terms
our loan and security agreement with East West Basikict our ability to pay dividends. Consequgngbur only opportunity to achieve a
return on any shares of our common stock that yay acquire will be if the market price of our commsiock appreciates and you sell your
shares at a profit. There is no guarantee thaprlse of our common stock in the market will eveceed the price that you pay.

Our charter documents, stock incentive plans andl®®eare law could prevent a takeover that stockhakleonsider favorable and could
also reduce the market price of our stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaaind our amended and restated bylaws and ol istoentive plans contain
provisions that could delay or prevent a changeoimtrol of our company. These provisions could atsdke it more difficult for stockholders
to elect directors and take other corporate actibhsse provisions include:

« providing for a classified board of directors wittaggered, three-year terms;

« not providing for cumulative voting in the electiohdirectors;

« authorizing our board of directors to issue, withst@ckholder approval, preferred stock rights seta those of common stock;

- prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;

» limiting the persons who may call special meetiofjstockholders;

« requiring advance notification of stockholder noatians and proposals; and

« change of control provisions in our stock incenfil@ns, and the individual stock option agreememkéch provide that a chan
of control may accelerate the vesting of the stmtkons issued under such pla

In addition, the provisions of Section 203 of thel&wvare General Corporate Law governs us. Thesaspros may prohibit large
stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or enmirour outstanding common stock, from engagincginain business combinations
without the approval of substantially all of ouodtholders for a certain period of time.

These and other provisions in our amended andteestartificate of incorporation, our amended aslated bylaws and under
Delaware law could discourage potential takeovienapts, reduce the price that investors might biéngito pay for shares of our common
stock in the future and result in the market phieang lower than it would be without these prouisioSee “Description of Capital Stock—
Preferred stock” and “Description of Capital Stocknti-takeover effects of Delaware law.”
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Some provisions of our named executive officC agreements regarding change of control or sepaoatt of service contain obligations for
us to make separation payments to them upon theintination.

Certain provisions contained in our employment egrents with our named executive officers regardimange of control or
separation of service may obligate us to make lamp severance payments and related payments upterithination of their employment
with us, other than such executive officer’s reatipn without good reason or our termination ofrteenployment as a result of their
disability or for cause. In the event we are reggiito make these separation payments, it could iawaterial adverse effect on our results of
operations for the fiscal period in which such pawyts are made.

If research analysts do not publish research abauir business or if they issue unfavorable commemntar downgrade our common stoc
our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will depemdhe research and reports that research analyslish about us and our
business. The price of our common stock could dedfione or more research analysts downgradeaunmn stock or if those analysts is
other unfavorable commentary or cease publishipgrie about us or our business. If one or mordefrésearch analysts ceases coverage of
our company or fails to publish reports on us ragyl demand for our stock could decrease, whieliccoause our stock price or trading
volume to decline.

As an“emerging growth company” within the meaning of th8ecurities Act, we will utilize certain modifiedstlosure requirements, and
we cannot be certain if these reduced requirementt make our common stock less attractive to inta@s.

We are an emerging growth company within the megaofrthe rules under the Securities Act. We havhi Annual Report on
Form 10-K utilized, and we plan in future filingstinthe SEC to continue to utilize, the modifiedaosure requirements available to
emerging growth companies, including reduced d&aie about our executive compensation and omisgioompensation discussion and
analysis, and an exemption from the requiremehbtifing a nonbinding advisory vote on executive pensation and an exemption from the
requirement that outside auditors attest as tantarnal control over financial reporting. As aultsour stockholders may not have access to
certain information they may deem important.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also pdes that an emerging growth company can utilizeeiftended transition period
provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities far complying with new or revised accounting stards. Thus, an emerging growth
company can delay the adoption of certain accogrgiandards until those standards would otherwipé/do private companies. We have
elected to utilize this extended transition periodr financial statements may therefore not be @afge to those of companies that comply
with such new or revised accounting standardsesliecome applicable to public companies.

We cannot predict if investors will find our commstiock less attractive because we will rely onéhesemptions. If some investors
find our common stock less attractive as a rethidte may be a less active trading market for oarraon stock and our stock price may be
more volatile. We could remain an “emerging groatimpany”for up to five years, or until the earliest oftfie last day of the first fiscal ye
in which our annual gross revenue exceed $1 bjl(ijrthe date that we become a “large accelerfiled as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the
Exchange Act, which would occur if the market vatii®@ur common stock that is held by non-affiliateseeds $700 million as of the last
business day of our most recently completed sefiscal quarter or (iii) the date on which we hassued more than $1 billion in non-
convertible debt during the preceding three-yeaiode
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Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not Applicable.

Item 2. Properties

We maintain manufacturing, research and developrsatgs and administrative offices in the U.S. nakind Taiwan. Our corporate
headquarters is located at our facility in Sugand,a exas. The table below provides informatiorardmg our facilities.

Owned or Lease Approximate

Location Expiration Date Square Footage Use

Sugar Land, Texas Owned (1) 23,85( Administration, sales, manufacturing, research and
developmen

Sugar Land, Texe May 31, 201t 7,066 Research and developme

Ningbo, China Owned (2) 458,84¢ Administration, sales, manufacturing, research and
developmen

Taipei, Taiwan March 31, 2015 (3) 55,26¢ Administration, sales, manufacturing, research and
developmen

Taipei, Taiwan May 31, 2029 (4) 268,79° Administration, sales, manufacturing, research and
developmen

(1) The property is subject to a mortgage in favor a$tBVest Bank, securing our st-term debt obligation:

(2) Our China subsidiary acquired the land usetsigih the real property on which our new facilgylacated from the Chinese government.
The land use rights expire on October 7, 2054.China subsidiary owns the facility located on theperty.

(3) Leases covering four floors expire on March 31,21

(4) Our Taiwan subsidiary relocated its entire agtien to this new facility in November 2014. Leas®ering the new facility commenced
on June 1, 2014 and expires on May 31, 2

On January 26, 2015, we began construction on aaeiity to expand our laser fabrication facilgiand office space in Sugar La
Texas.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We anticipate that we will from time to time be padt to various claims and legal actions duringdhdinary course of our business.
We are not aware of any material claims or legabas to which we, our properties or our officergloectors are subject.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not Applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

On September 26, 2013, our common stock begaade wn the NASDAQ Global Market under the symboA@{”. Prior to that
time, there was no public market for our commorrlsté\s of March 2, 2015 there were 102 holdersecbrd of our common stock (not
including beneficial holders of our common stockdeo in street name). The following table setstpfor the periods indicated, the high and
low sales prices of our common stock as reportetheyNASDAQ Global Market.

Low High

Fiscal Year 2013:

Third Quarter $ 937 $ 10.4¢
Fourth Quarter $ 9.07 $ 16.61
Fiscal Year 2014:

First Quartel $ 11.1¢ 3 28.01
Second Quarter $ 1552 % 24.5¢
Third Quarter $ 1561 $ 24.1(C
Fourth Quarter $ 9.2¢ $ 16.6¢€

The graph below shows the cumulative total stoddoteturn of an investment of $100 (and the restment of any dividends
thereafter) on September 26, 2013 (the first trgdiay of our common stock) in (i) our common stddkthe NASDAQ Composite Index a
(i) the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. Our dtqarice performance shown in the graph below isimiicative of future stock price
performance. The following graph and related infation shall not be deemed “soliciting material’ber deemed to be “filed” with the SEC,
nor shall such information be incorporated by refiee into any future filing, except to the extdrdttwe specifically state that such graph and
related information are incorporated by referemte such filing.
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PERCENT CHANGE
NASDAQ NASDAQ
Date AAOI Telecom Composite

9/26/2013 100.00% 100.00% 100.00¥

9/30/2013 100.40% 99.42% 99.58%

12/31/201z 150.70% 102.48Y% 110.28%

3/31/2014 247.69Y 102.84Y 110.87Y

6/30/2014 232.939 107.30% 116.399

9/30/2014 161.65Y 106.44Y 118.64Y



12/31/2014 112.65Y 111.61Y 125.05Y
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For equity compensation plan information refertear! 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On September 25, 2013, our registration statemeRioom S-1 (File No. 333-190591) for our initialighie offering was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commisdibe offering commenced on September 26, 2013sdlte3,600,000 shares of our
common stock at a price to the public of $10.00gberre and the transaction was completed on Ocigl#13. Raymond James &
Associates, Inc. and Piper Jaffray & Co. were tl@maging underwriters. We received net proceed8bf$million after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of $2.5iarilland other offering expenses of approximately) $&illion.

On March 25, 2014, we closed our follow-on publfiteong of 3,000,000 shares of common stock, atieepf $24.25 per share
before underwriting discounts and commissions. bfe §,575,235 of such shares and existing stocldnsldold an aggregate of 1,424,765 of
such shares. On March 28, 2014 we sold an addit&sta000 shares as a result of the underwriteses’aise of their option to purchase
additional shares. Raymond James & Associatesahat Piper Jaffray & Co. were the managing undéenai The follow-on public offering
generated net proceeds to us of $45.6 millionr aéelucting underwriting discounts and commissifis2.7 million and other offering
expenses of approximately $0.8 million. We did reateive any proceeds from the sale of shares bgetffiag stockholders in the follow-on
public offering.

With the net proceeds of our initial public offggiand our follow-on public offering, we investedo$a million for the purchase of
machinery and equipment and intangible assets 28@ $nillion for inventory to support our new pratluevelopment efforts and repaid
$17.8 million of outstanding debt.

There have been no material changes in the usmoé@ds from our IPO and our folloew public offering from that described in ¢
registration statements filed with the SEC.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocapital stock, and we do not anticipate pggny cash dividends on our
common stock for the foreseeable future. We culyéntend to retain all available funds and futesnings for use in the operation and
expansion of our business. Any future determinatiiopay cash dividends will be at the discretiomwof board of directors and will depend
upon our financial condition, results of operaticiesms of financing arrangements, applicable Datawaw, capital requirements and such
other factors as our board of directors deems aefevn addition, the terms of our loan agreemgptserning our long-term debt obligations
restricts us from paying dividends.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data in thisi@e is not intended to replace our consolidatedrfcial statements and the related
notes. You should read this summary consolidateahfiial data together with the sections titled “Big@ment’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” andaudited consolidated financial statements afated notes, all included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 1Q- We derived the consolidated statements of ojmeradata for the years ended December 31, 20148 20«
2012 and the consolidated balance sheet data@soaimber 31, 2014 and 2013 from our consolidatehfiial statements appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Toesplidated statement of operations data for tlagsyended December 31, 2011 and
2010 and the consolidated balance sheet dataResceimber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are derived framawdited consolidated financial
statements that have previously been filed withSB€. Our historical results are not necessardjcative of the results to be expected in the
future and results of interim periods are not neasgly indicative of results for the entire year.

Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Consolidated Statements ¢
Operations Data: (in thousands, except share arkr share data)
Revenue $ 130,44¢  $ 78,42¢ % 63,42 $ 47,84C 3 40,48¢
Cost of goods sold (1) 86,20 55,39¢ 44,49 34,46¢ 27,53¢
Gross profit 44 24¢ 23,02¢ 18,92¢ 13,37 12,95(
Operating expense
Research and development 15,97( 8,517 7,60: 6,451 5,17¢
Sales and marketing ( 6,04: 4,191 3,13¢ 2,412 1,99:
General and administrative ( 17,09t 10,63: 8,012 8,24: 8,38
Asset impairment charges - - — — 492
Total operating expenses 39,10¢ 23,33t 18,75( 17,10¢ 16,04:
Income (loss) from operatiol 5,13¢ (307) 17¢ (3,739 (3,099
Interest and other income
(expense), ne
Interest incomi 36¢ 104 26 15 34
Interest expens (32€) (1,125 (1,38)) (1,339 (90€)
Other income (expense), ne (69¢€) (78) 231 (271) 58E
Total interest and other income
(expense), net (65€) (1,099 (1,124 (1,599 (287)
Income (loss) before income tax 4,48 (1,406 (945) (5,329 (3,380
Provision for income taxes (199 - - - -
Net income (loss) attributable
common stockholders $ 428 % (1,400 $ (945) $ (5,32¢) $ (3,380
Net income (loss) per shs
attributable to common
stockholders
Basic $ 03 $ (0.19 3 (3.50 $ (20.2) $ (13.06)
Diluted $ 028 $ (0.1 $ (3560 $ (20.2) $ (13.00
Weighted average shares used t
compute net income (loss) pel
share attributable to common
stockholders
Basic 14,307,47 9,964,95! 265,57t 263,65¢ 258,90:
Diluted 15,186,96 9,964,95! 265,57t 263,65 258,90
Q) These expenses include share-based compeneatiense. Sharfgased compensation expense is accounted for atafaie, using

the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Share-basedpensation expense is recognized over the gasériod of the stock
options and was included in cost of goods soldgretating expenses as follov
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Years ended December 3

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Cost of goods sol $ 88 § 56 % 7
Research and developme 11t 53 8
Sales and marketir 98 52 9
General and administratiy 1,76( 90¢€ 137
Total share-based compensation expens $ 2,061 $ 1,06¢ % 161

Years ended December 3
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated balance sheet date
Total cash, cash equivalents anc

shor-term investment $ 40,87 % 30,75 % 11,22¢ $ 2,072 % 4,64:
Working capital (1, 64,63¢ 38,87¢ 13,66¢ (2,917 (2,329
Total asset 183,67( 111,05 65,74¢ 53,72 52,93¢
Total debt (2] 29,91¢ 28,45t 24,58¢ 22,597 23,07:
Convertible preferred stoc - - 105,36° 94,37: 90,42:
Common stock and additional pz

in-capital 192,12° 144,03t 5,54z 5,30¢ 4,72:
Total deficit $ (79,040 $ (83,32) $ (81,91) $ (80,97) $ (75,649

Q) Working capital is defined as total current asegts total current liabilities
(2) Total debt is defined as sh-term loans, notes payable and total -term debt
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and anglysour financial condition and results of opeoats in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the accomipgnyotes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Reporfform 10-K. This discussion and
other parts of this Annual Report on Form 10-K eamtforward-looking statements that involve risk&laincertainties, such as statements of
our plans, objectives, expectations and intenti@g. actual results could differ materially fromotbe discussed in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribateuch differences include, but are not limitedthose discussed in “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a leading, vertically integrated providefiloér-optic networking products. We target thregworking end-markets: internet
data centers, CATV and FTTH. We design and manufaa range of optical communications productsaaging levels of integration, from
components, subassemblies and modules to comptet&ey equipment. In designing products for owstomers, we begin with the
fundamental building blocks of lasers and laserpoments. From these foundational products, we desig manufacture a wide range of
products to meet our customers’ needs and spetdinsa and such products differ from each othethajr end market, intended use and level
of integration. We are primarily focused on thehagperformance segments within the internet datdee, CATV, and FTTH markets which
increasingly demand faster connectivity and inniovatOur vertically integrated manufacturing mogedvides us several advantages,
including rapid product development, fast respdimes to customer requests and control over proguglity and manufacturing costs.

The three end markets we target are all driveridnyificant bandwidth demand fueled by the growtmefwork-connected devices,
video traffic, cloud computing and online sociatwerking. Within the internet data center markes, menefit from the increasing use of
higher-capacity optical networking technology asplacement for copper cables, particularly asdpeeach 10 gigabits per second and
above, as well as the movement to open internataatter architectures and the increasing uselobuise equipment design among leading
internet companies. Within the CATV market, we Hérieom a number of ongoing trends including tHelml build-out of CATV
infrastructure, the move to higher bandwidth nets@among CATV service providers and the outsouroingystem design among CATV
networking equipment companies. In the FTTH manketbenefit from continuing PON deployments andesysupgrades among
telecommunication service providers.

We sell our products to leading original equipmmainufacturers, or OEMs, in the CATV and FTTH maskes well as internet data
center operators. In 2014, we earned 36.3% ofaial tevenue from the CATV market, and 49.4% of totl revenue from the data center
market. In 2014, our key customers in the CATV mearkcluded Cisco Systems and Arris Group, InQ0@4, 2013 and 2012, Cisco Syst¢
accounted for 8.9%, 21.8%, and 33.2%, respectiedlgur revenue and Arris Group, Inc. accounted4fdfo, 3.3% and 0.8%, respectively
our revenue. In 2014, our key customers that douied most to our FTTH revenue were a leading imeteservice provider and Genexis B.
which accounted for 5.8% and 0.8% of our total nese respectively. In 2014, our key customers énitibernet data center market included
Amazon and Microsoft. In 2014 and 2013, Amazon anted for 45.8% and 18.2% of our revenue, respelgtiand Microsoft accounted for
3.6% and 6.1% of our revenue, respectively. In 2@dvienue from the CATV market, data center matk&i,H market and other markets
provided 36.3%, 49.4%, 10.4%, and 3.9% of our reeenespectively, compared to 60.4%, 24.7%, 5.686%8% of our 2013 revenue,
respectively.

Our sales model focuses on direct engagement asd cbordination with our customers to determirelpct design, qualifications,
performance and price. Our strategy is to use wacdsales force to sell to key accounts and fmeg our use of distributors for increased
coverage in certain international markets and oedamestic market segments. We have direct s&esopnel that cover the U.S., Taiwan
and China focusing primarily on major OEM custoneend internet data center operators. Throughousales cycle, we work closely with
our customers to qualify our products into thedurct lines. As a result, we strive to build stgideand long-lasting customer relationships
and deliver products that are customized to outocusrs’ requirements.

Our business depends on winning competitive bidcsiein processes to develop components, systemscaugiment for use in our
customers’ products. These selection processegmoally lengthy, and as a result, our sales cywédl vary based on the level of
customization required, market served, whethed#sign win is with an existing or new customer amether our solution being designed in
our customers’ product is our first generationudrsequent generation product. We do not have argrtierm purchase commitments (in
excess of one year) with any of our customersfalthom purchase our products on a purchase oa#s.lOnce one of our solutions is
incorporated into a customer’s design, howeverbelive that our solution is likely to continuelte purchased for that design throughout
that product’s life cycle because of the time axglke@ise associated with redesigning the produatlmstguting an alternative solution.
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In 2014, 2013 and 2012, we had 15, 17 and 15 degigs) respectively. We define a design win assilnecessful completion of the
evaluation stage, where our customer has testeproduct, verified that our product meets substdigtall of their requirements and has
informed us that they intend to purchase the profitam us. Although we believe that our abilitydbtain design wins is a key strength and
can provide meaningful and recurring revenue, arease or decrease in the mere number of desighdeies not necessarily correlate to a
likely increase or decrease in revenue, particplarthe short term. As such, the number of desigrs we achieve on a quarterly or annual
basis and any increase or decrease in design vilinsolvnecessarily result in a corresponding iase or decrease in revenue in the same or
immediately succeeding quarter or year. For exanifpbeir total number of design wins in an annuatjoarterly period increases or decre:
compared to the total number of design wins iniargreriod, this does not necessarily mean thateunue in such period will be higher or
lower than our revenue in the prior period. In factr experience is that some design wins resudignificant revenue and some do not, and
the timing of such revenue is difficult to predict it depends on the success of the end custopredsict that uses our components. Thus,
some design wins result in orders and significaménue shortly after the design win is awardedathdr design wins do not result in
significant orders and revenue for several montHergger after the initial design win (if at all)e do believe that over a period of years the
collective impact of design wins correlates to ouerall revenue growth.

We believe we have an attractive financial profiéh strong revenue performance and control owemeanufacturing costs through
our vertically integrated manufacturing model. Véhite have incurred substantial losses since oeptian, and as of December 31, 2014
an accumulated deficit of $79.0 million, we achigyeofitability in 2014. We have grown our reveratea 31.7% CAGR between 2009 and
2014, including 66.3% growth year-over-year froni2@o 2014.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Increasing Consumer Demand for Bandwiddandwidth demand in all of our target markets igidg service provider investment
new equipment and in turn generating demand fopeoanlucts. Increasingly, optical networking tectogiés are being incorporated into
networking equipment, replacing legacy copper-bassdiorking technologies. This shift to opticalwetking solutions benefits us as a
provider of those solutions.

Pricing, Product Cost and Margin€ur solution pricing varies depending upon the ewdket, the complexity of the product and
level of competition. Our product costs also vaithweomplexity as well as the degree to which we gtlize components designed and
manufactured ourselves. We tend to realize highesggmargins on products that incorporate a higherentage of our own components. We
often initially experience lower gross margins @wrproducts, as our pricing is based upon antiegpablumedriven cost reductions over t
life of the design win. Thus, if we are unablegalize our expected cost reductions, we may expazideclining gross margins on such
products.

Our product pricing is established when the prodgastitially introduced to the market, and theteathrough periodic negotiations
with customers. We generally do not agree to paiadtomatic price reductions. Furthermore, duthéodynamics in the CATV market and
the value of our outsourced design services tacostomers, we believe we face less downward presspre than many of our competitors.
We sell a wide variety of products among our thezget markets and our gross margin is heavily déget in any quarter on the product mix
achieved during that period.

Customer Concentration within End Marketfstorically, our revenue has been significantipocentrated, first within the CATV
market and in 2014 within the internet data centarket. Moreover, within these markets revenuegé¢ade concentrated among a small
number of customers. In 2014, we have taken sewget@ins to increase the diversity of our custob@se. These actions include the creation
of a new sales incentive program, hiring additis@és staff to improve our ability to serve newtomers, and additional customized design
of products that we believe will appeal to new oastrs. Furthermore, we have developed additionginal design manufacturer, or ODM,
relationships with customers in each of our targatkets which should enable us to diversify ouereie base.

Product DevelopmentVe invest heavily to develop new and innovativedpias. The majority of our research and development
expense is allocated to product development, usudih a specific customer and customer platforrmind. We believe our close
coordination with our customers regarding theiufatproduct requirements enhances the efficienouofesearch and development
expenditures.
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Discussion of Financial Performance
Revenut

We generate revenue through the sale of our predactquipment providers for the CATV, FTTH anceiniet data center markets.
We derive a significant portion of our revenue froar top ten customers, and we anticipate that ileantinue to do so for the foreseeable
future. The following chart provides the revenuatdbution from each of the markets we serve ferybars 2014, 2013 and 2012, as well as
the corresponding percentage of our total reveauedch period:

Dec. 31, Sep. 30. Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30. Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30 Jun. 30, Mar. 31,

Market 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012
(in thousands, except percentages)

CATV 14,74¢ 12,24* 10,64¢ 9,74¢ 14,04. 14,55¢ 10,51« 8,25¢ 13,277 13,53( 13,274 9,761

Datacente 14,92: 20,05¢ 17,89¢ 11,57t 591C 3,21€ 6,64 3,62 2,99¢ 977 647 67C

FTTH 5,66: 2,61¢ 3,096 2,21€ 1,60:% 982 70t 1,087 1,51 69¢ 41€ 1,06t

Other 1,05¢ 1,63z 1,00¢ 1,32C 2,19C 2,00¢ 1,73¢ 1,351 1,074 1,211 1,29¢ 1,017

Total 36,397 36,54¢ 32,65( 24,85¢ 23,74« 20,76¢ 19,597 14,317 18,86. 16,41¢ 15,63¢ 12,50¢
Percentage of Reven

CATV 40.5% 33.5% 32.6% 39.2% 59.1% 70.1% 53.7% S57.7% 70.4% 824% 84.9% 78.1%
Datacente 41.0% 549% 548% 46.6% 249% 155% 33.9% 253% 15.9% 6.0% 4.1% 5.4%
FTTH 15.6% 7.2% 9.5% 8.9% 6.7% 4.7% 3.6% 7.6% 8.0% 4.2% 2.7% 8.5%
Other 2.9% 4.4% 3.1% 5.3% 9.3% 9.7% 8.8% 9.4% 5.7% 7.4% 8.3% 8.0%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

In 2014, 2013 and 2012, our top ten customers septed 87.2%, 76.9% and 77.6% of our revenue, cggply. In 2014, our key
customers in the CATV market included Cisco Systekngs Group, Inc. and Pace plc. In 2014, 2013 2042, Cisco Systems accounted for
8.9%, 21.8%, and 33.2%, respectively, of our reeesmnd Arris Group, Inc. accounted for 4.5%, 3.3% @8%, respectively, of our revenue.
In 2014, our key customers in the internet dataerenarket included Amazon and Microsoft. In 20bd 2013, Amazon accounted for 45.
and 18.2% of our revenue, respectively, and Midtasacounted for 3.6% and 6.1% of our revenue,aetsypely.

In 2014, our key customers that contributed mositoFTTH revenue were a leading internet serviogiger and Genexis B.V. ,
which accounted for 5.8% and 0.8% of our total nems respectively.

Revenue is recognized when the product is shippdditke has transferred to the customer. We bkaoats and risks of loss or
damage to the goods up to that point. On most syder terms of sale provide that title passeléocistomer upon placement by us with a
common carrier (upon shipment). A majority of onnaal sales are denominated in U.S. dollars, huessales from our Taiwan location and
China-based subsidiary are denominated in NT do#lad RMB, respectively. For the year ended Decedibe2014, 7.9% of our total
revenue was derived from our China-based subsididtly $5.4 million denominated in RMB and an imevél amount denominated in NT
dollars. We expect a similar portion of our sateé denominated in foreign currencies in 2015.

Cost of goods sold and gross margin
Our cost of goods sold is impacted by variancesrayifrom changes in yields and production voluie.typically experience lower

yields and higher associated costs on new prodinctgeneral, our cost of goods sold for a particpt@aduct declines over time as a resul
increasing efficiencies in the manufacturing preess or supply cost declines, as well as yield av@ments and testing enhancements.
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We manufacture our products in all three of ouilitées in the U.S., Taiwan and China. Generalfsdr chips and optical
components are manufactured in our U.S. faciliptical components and subassemblies are manufdatuoar Taiwan facility, and optical
equipment is manufactured in our China facilitycBese of our vertical integration model, we utilimg own products in our semi-finished
and finished goods that we sell between and amangespective manufacturing operations. We bassetinternal sales upon established
transfer pricing methodologies. However, we elinénall of those internal sales, and cost of goatts sansactions, to arrive at total revenue
and cost of goods sold on a consolidated basis.

We have a global set of suppliers to help balaocsiderations related to product availability, éyadnd cost. Components of our
cost of goods sold are denominated in U.S. or Nladoor RMB, depending upon the manufacturing fioca

Gross profit as a percentage of total revenuerassgmargin, has been and is expected to continbe affected by a variety of
factors, including the introduction of new prodygieoduction volumes, the mix of products sold, geegraphic region in which products are
sold, changes in the cost and volumes of matquiaishased from our suppliers, changes in laboiscobinges in overhead costs, reserve
excess and obsolete inventories and changes av#rage selling prices of our products. Althougharerall gross margins over the past
three years have been between 27.8% and 34.8%r@as margins vary more broadly on a product-bypeb basis. Our newer and more
advanced products typically have higher averagmgairices and higher gross margins; however | tii product volumes scale, the gross
margin from newer and advanced products may ihittaé lower. Within our markets, we sell similaogducts to different geographic regions
at different prices, and therefore realize différgmoss margins among those similar products. Wieigdly realize a lower gross margin in
sales to Asian markets. Our strategy is to imprwegross margins through vertical integration saghutilization of our own laser chips and
optical sub-components in our solutions. We exgleaitour gross margins are likely to continue tmtilate from quarter to quarter because of
the variety of products we sell and the relativedoict mix within a quarter.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses consist of research andagewent, sales and marketing, and general and asitnaitive expenses. Person
costs are the most significant component of opagadkpenses and include salaries, benefits, bormunskshare-based compensation. With
regard to sales and marketing expense, personsil also include sales commissions.

Research and developmeResearch and development, or R&D, expense comsistarily of personnel costs, including share-based
compensation for R&D personnel, and R&D work ordénat include material, direct labor and allocatedrhead), as well as allocated
development costs, such as engineering servicktgjase and hardware tools, depreciation of cagitplipment and facility costs. We record
all research and development expense as incurtesio@ers rely upon us to assist them with the dgweént of new products and
modification of existing products because of oueaszive optical design and manufacturing expertiée work closely with our customers in
the critical design phase of product developmedta® often reimbursed for those development eff@y virtue of our overseas R&D
operations and by focusing on customer-specifigepts, our research and development expenses éiaded to represent a lower percentage
of revenue compared to some of our competitorthdrfuture, we expect research and developmennegpe increase on a dollar basis, but
continue to decline as a percentage of revenubgtextent our revenue increases over time.

Sales and marketin&ales and marketing expense consists primariefgnnel costs, including share-based compendatiaur
sales and marketing personnel, as well as travktrade show expense, sales commissions and toatdin of overall corporate services and
facility costs. We sell our products to customer®wither incorporate our products into their affgror resell our products to end customers.
Because we sell to a limited number of well-estdtdd customers, we employ a limited number of gaiefessionals who are able to cover
large markets. We compensate our sales staff thrbage salary and commissions, with base salang ltké largest component of overall
compensation. Total sales commissions to emplogeeainted to less than one percent of our reveng@ln. Additionally, we pay
commissions to third parties on certain productdiand identified customers, which also amountdels®than one percent of our revenue in
2014. As such, our sales and marketing expenserdaebrectly increase with revenue. In the futuve,expect sales and marketing expense
to increase on a dollar basis as we incrementatdisease our overall sales activities, but expecsales and marketing expense to decline as :
percentage of revenue, to the extent our reverareases over time.
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General and administrativéseneral and administrative expense consists piliynafrpersonnel costs, including share-based
compensation, primarily for our finance, human teses, legal and information technology personndl@ertain executive officers, as wel
professional services costs related to accounting banking, legal and information technology sms, depreciation of capital equipment
facility costs. We expect general and administeagixpense to increase in the short term, as wdagethe infrastructure necessary to operate
as a public company, including increased auditlagdl fees, costs to comply with the Sarbanes-OAlglyand the rules and regulations
applicable to companies listed on a national seeahange, as well as investor relations expensdigher insurance premiums. In the futt
we expect general and administrative expense tease on a dollar basis but continue to decliree @ercentage of revenue, to the extent our
revenue increases over time.

Other income (expense)

Interest income consists of income earned on ashr,a@ash equivalents and short-term investmerterest expense consists of
amounts paid for interest on our short-term and{temm debt borrowings.

Other income (expense), net is primarily made ufpdign currency transaction gains and losses filihetional currency of our
China subsidiary is the RMB and the foreign curyetnansaction gains and losses of our China sudrsiglirimarily result from their
transactions in U.S. dollars. The functional cucseaf our Taiwan location is the NT dollar and fbeesign currency transaction gains and
losses of our Taiwan location primarily result froéimeir transactions in U.S. dollars.

Income taxe

We are a U.S. registered company and are subjéutame taxes in the U.S. We also operate in a reumbcountries throughout tl
world, including Taiwan and China. Consequently, effiective tax rate is impacted by the geograplistribution of our earnings or losses
and the tax laws and regulations in each geograptregion. We expect that our income taxes willmarrelation to our profitability and the
geographic distribution of our profits. Our effeetiU.S. federal income tax rate was 0% prior to4284 we incurred operating losses and
recorded a valuation allowance against those loggd3ecember 31, 2014, our U.S. accumulated netaijng loss, or NOL, was $56.5
million. If we earn profits in the U.S., we expéatreduce our cash tax obligations by the utilaaf NOL carry forwards. Our NOL benef
expire over the twelve-year period from 2020 to203nder Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Cdd®86, as amended, if a corporation
undergoes an “ownership change,” the corporatiahilty to use its pre-change NOLs, capital lossycforwards and other pre-change tax
attributes to offset its postiange income may be limited going forward. Bagashuan analysis of our equity ownership, we hayeedgnce!
an ownership change and our NOL carry forwarddiamiged in dollar amount. As of December 31, 20@#the total accumulated NOL only
$31.5 million is available for utilization in futeperiods to offset federal taxable income. Eaar géter 2014, an additional $0.3 million is
added to the total available NOL, until a maximuih$®&4.9 million is reached. The amount of NOL aable each year may decrease by the
amount of NOL utilized and may increase by the amiafl any operating losses incurred. Should we B&pee additional ownership changes
our NOL carry forwards may be further limited.

Our wholly owned subsidiary, Global Technology,.Ift@as enjoyed preferential tax concessions in &hga national high-tech
enterprise. In March 2007, China’s parliament emét¢he PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, or the EIlWw,uander which, effective January 1,
2008, China adopted a uniform income tax rate &b 2&r all enterprises including foreign investedezprises. Global Technology, Inc. was
recognized as a National high-tech enterprise 082ihd was entitled to a 15% tax rate for a these period from November 2008 to
November 2011. In 2011, Global Technology, Incereed its National hic-tech enterprise certificate and therefore extenteithree year
tax preferential status from November 2011 to Noven2014. An application to extend the tax prefea¢status to September 2017 has t
approved by the Chinese government.

For 2012, there were no identified uncertain tagifians. For the years ended December 31, 2014Daedmber 31, 2013, we had
$1.6 million and $2.2 million, respectively, of @eognized tax benefits related to U.S. tax beneditegnized for which do not meet the more
likely than not threshold. We believe that itémsonably possible that $0.3 million of our remagniinrecognized tax positions may be
recognized by the end of 2015. If recognized, thevald be no impact to our effective tax rate assalt of the full valuation allowance
previously recognized.
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Results of Operations

The following table set forth our results of opa&ras for the periods presented and as a percenfame revenue for those periods.
The period-to-period comparison of our financiaulés is not necessarily indicative of our finaheésults to be achieved in future periods.

Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012

Revenue, ne 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold 66.1% 70.6% 70.2%
Gross profit 33.9% 29.4% 29.8%
Operating expenst

Research and developm 12.2% 10.9% 12.0%

Sales and marketir 4.6% 5.3% 4.9%

General and administrative 13.1% 13.6% 12.6%
Total operating expens 29.9% 29.8% 29.5%
Income (loss) from operatiol 4.0% -0.4% 0.4%
Interest and other income (expense), net -0.5% -1.4% -1.8%
Income (loss) before income tax 3.5% -1.8% -1.4%
Income taxes -0.2% 0.0% 0.0%
Net income (loss 3.3% -1.8% -1.4%

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and3201

Revenu

The following charts provide the revenue contribatfrom each of the markets we served for the yeaded December 31, 2014 :

2013:
Years ended December 31,
2014 2013
CATV 36.3% 60.4%
Data Cente 49.4% 24.7%
FTTH 10.4% 5.6%
Other 3.9% 9.3%
Total Revenue 100.0% 100.0%
Years ended December 3: Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(in thousands, except percentage:
CATV $ 47,38¢ % 47,37 $ 16 0.0%
Data Cente 64,45! 19,38¢ 45,067 232.5%
FTTH 13,59: 4,371 9,21« 210.5%
Other 5,01¢ 7,28¢ (2,272 (31.2%)
Total Revenue $ 130,44¢ $ 78,42:  $ 52,02¢ 66.3%

Of our total revenue in 2014, we generated $471Homj or 36.3%, from the CATV market, $64.5 miltipor 49.4%, from the
internet data center market, $13.6 million, or ¥8.4rom the FTTH market, and $5.0 million, or 3.9%6m other markets. Total revenue
increased by $52.0 million, or 66.3%, from 2012044.

The increase in revenue was attributable to a $#dlibn increase from the internet data centerkafirprimarily driven by
increasing demand for our 10 gigabits per second@ngigabits per second transceivers as our cestoaontinued to upgrade their
technology infrastructure. Revenues in the FTTHkatincreased by $9.2 million, primarily driven imgreasing demand for our WMD-PON
products to existing customers. CATV revenues \lateyear over year due to a decline in sales itageemerging markets, offset by
increased sales for newly-designed products.
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Cost of goods sold and gross margin

Years ended December 3.

2014 2013 Change
% of % of
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentage:
Cost of goods sol $ 86,20: 66.1% $ 55,39¢ 70.6% $ 30,801 55.6%
Gross margir 33.9% 29.4%

Cost of goods sold increased by $30.8 million, ®6%0, from 2013 to 2014, primarily due to the comaltion of a $21.8 million
increase in direct material costs and a $9.0 milircrease in labor and overhead costs, both afhwivere associated with our increase in
revenues. Different products within our portfoli@yrhave gross margins that vary from other prodidtseover, among the markets that we
serve, average gross margins vary. In generalygptedhat incorporate newer technology or are rddferentiated from our competitors
generate higher gross margins, whereas produdtarthalder or incorporate less differentiated textbgy generate lower gross margins. The
increase in gross margin is primarily due to adaigercentage of sales of newer, more technoldgidéferentiated products in 2014
compared with 2013 and an overall increase in negen

Operating expenses

Years ended December 3

2014 2013 Change
Amount % of revenue Amount % of revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Research and developme $ 15,97( 122%  $ 8,51 109%  $ 7,45¢ 87.6%
Sales and marketir 6,04: 4.6% 4,191 5.3% 1,852 44.2%
General and administrati 17,09t 13.1% 10,63: 13.6% 6,46: 60.8%
Total operating expens $ 39,10¢ 30.0% % 23,33t 29.8% $ 15,77 67.6%

Research and development expe

Research and development expense increased byn$liah, or 87.6%, from 2013 to 2014. This was painty due to increases in
personnel costs, rent and utilities, R&D work osdand project costs related to FTTH WDM-PON progdu40G and 100G data center
products and other new product development. Degtieai expense also increased due to additional R&Dpment investments.
Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense increased by $1.©9mithr 44.2%, from 2013 to 2014. This was due tinarease in personnel costs

due to additional sales and marketing staff todbestrve our customers, expenses for a new saestive program and an increase in sales
commissions directly related to our revenue growth.
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General and administrative expense

General and administrative expense increased yrlion, or 60.8%, from 2013 to 2014. This wagmrily due to an increase in
share-based compensation expense, personnel\astsls expenses incurred due to becoming a pabtitpany as well as non-recurring
expenses related to relocation of our Taiwan ant CFO separation costs.

Other income (expense), net

Years ended December 3

2014 2013 Change
% of % of
Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Interest incom: $ 36¢ 03% $ 104 0.1% $ 26E 254.8%
Interest expens (32€) (0.2%) (1,125 (1.4%) 79¢ (71.0%)
Other income (expense), net (699 (0.5%) (78 (0.1%) (621) 796.2%
Total Other income
(expense), net $ (65€) 04% $ (1,099 (1.4% $ 445 (40.3%)

Interest income increased over the same prior yedods due to higher cash and investment balances.
Interest expense decreased overall for the pedodgo the benefit of lower interest rates as agllower loan balances.

Other income (expense), net increased by $0.4amifliom 2013 to 2014. Other net expense increasedalunrealized foreign
exchange losses recognized resulting from the digtien of the Asia currencies against the U.Sladaompared to unrealized foreign
exchange losses in the same prior year period. &Ve historically qualified as a high-tech entemiis China, as determined by the Chinese

government, and are paid subsidies from time te timthe Chinese government to foster local high-teanufacturing. We received less
subsidy in 2014 compared to 2013.

Provision for income taxe

Years ended December 3
2014 2013 Change

(in thousands, except percentage:
Provision for income taxe $ (199) % = (299 100.0%

Our income tax expense for 2014 consists of UiBrredtive minimum tax recorded during the periodelo historic losses in the
U.S., our net deferred tax assets are fully ofiged deferred tax valuation allowance.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and2201
Revenut

The following charts provide the revenue contribatfrom each of the markets we served for the yeaded December 31, 2013 :

2012:
Years ended December 31,
2013 2012
CATV 60.4% 78.6%
Data Cente 24.7% 8.3%
FTTH 5.6% 5.8%
Other 9.3% 7.3%
Total Revenue 100.0% 100.0%
Years ended December 3. Change
2013 2012 Amount %
(in thousands, except percentage:
CATV $ 47,370 $ 49,84: $ (2,469 (5.0%)
Data Cente 19,38t 5,29 14,09: 266.3%
FTTH 4,371 3,69( 687 18.6%
Other 7,28¢ 4,59¢ 2,69: 58.6%
Total Revenue $ 78,42:  $ 63,42. $ 15,00: 23.7%

Of our total revenue in 2013, we generated $47Idomj or 60.4%, from the CATV market, $19.4 miltipor 24.7%, from the
internet data center market, $4.4 million, or 5.68%m the FTTH market, and $7.3 million, or 9.3%@rh other markets. Total revenue
increased by $15.0 million, or 23.7%, from 2012@4.3.

The increase in revenue was attributable to a $dlibn increase from the internet data centerkagrand a $3.4 million increase
from other markets, partially offset by a $2.5 mill decrease from our CATV market. The increasew@nues in the internet data center
market were driven by increasing sales to custonveradded late in 2012. The decline in revenuélsdrCATV market in 2013 was a result
of market-wide weakness, particularly in Chinapadl as delays in orders as a consequence of neageong several of our CATV
customers.

Cost of goods sold and gross margin

Years ended December 3:

2013 2012 Change
% of % of
Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentage:
Cost of goods sol $ 55,39¢ 70.6% $ 44.,49; 70.2% $ 10,90¢ 24.5%
Gross margir 29.4% 29.8%

Cost of goods sold increased by $10.9 million,4£56%, from 2012 to 2013, primarily due to the comaltion of a $7.2 million
increase in direct material costs and a $3.7 miliwrease in labor and overhead costs, both oftwivere associated with our increase in
revenues. Within our markets, we sell similar piidun different geographic regions at differerites, resulting in different gross margins
among our products. The decrease in gross margirpriaarily the result of a higher percentage ¢tésaf lower margin CATV equipment
Asia and a lower percentage of higher margin corapbsales in the US.
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Operating expenses

Years ended December 3.

2013 2012 Change
% of % of
Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentage:
Research and developme $ 8,51 109%  $ 7,60:% 1204 $ 90¢ 12.0%
Sales and marketir 4,191 5.3% 3,13¢ 4.9% 1,05¢ 33.7%
General and administrative 10,63: 13.6% 8,01¢ 12.6% 2,62( 32.7%
Total operating expenses $ 23,33¢ 29.8% $ 18,75( 29.5% $ 4,58¢ 24.5%

Research and development expe

Research and development expense increased byn#lo®, or 11.9%, from 2012 to 2013. This was pairfy due to increases in
personnel costs and R&D work order and projectscadaited to new product development.

Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense increased by $1.bmithr 33.7%, from 2012 to 2013. This was due tinarease in personnel costs
due to additional sales and marketing staff todbesttrve our customers, and an increase in satesiissions directly related to our revenue
growth.
General and administrative expense

General and administrative expense increased léyriflion, or 32.7%, from 2012 to 2013. This wagmrily due to an increase in
share-based compensation expense as well as an inérepsesonnel costs, expenses related to being lcpudmpany, professional fees &
travel expenses.

Other income (expense), net

Years ended December 3

2013 2012 Change
% of % of
Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Interest incom: $ 104 0.1% $ 26 0.0% $ 78 300.0%
Interest expens (1,125 (1.4%) (1,38)) (2.2%) 25€ (18.5%)
Other income (expense), net (78) (0.1%) 231 0.4% (309) (133.8%)
Total Other income
(expense), net $ (1,099 (14% $ (1,129 (1.8% $ 25 (2.2%)

Total net other expense decreased slightly fron2202013. Interest expense decreased while avéwagealances increased from
2012 to 2013 due to a further reduction in interatts in 2013. Our net other expense decreas&a.Bymillion from 2012 to 2013 primarily
due to a $0.6 million unrealized foreign curreneyaluation loss from U.S. denominated account®iB82vhen the NT dollar depreciated
against the U.S. dollar which was offset by an ookl $0.2 million of government subsidies receit® our China subsidiary.
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Years ended

Provision for income taxe December 31,
2013 2012 Change
(in thousands, except percentage:
Provision for income taxe $ = $ = =
Effective tax rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Our effective tax rate was 0.0% for 2012 and 2@k3ye did not generate positive taxable income.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

From inception until our initial public offering,evfinanced our operations through private salesjafty securities, cash generated
from operations and from various lending arrangemedn October 1, 2013, we completed our initiddljpuoffering, in which we issued and
sold 3.6 million shares of our common stock at blipwffering price of $10.00 per share, providprgceeds of $31.4 million, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions and offeergenses. On March 25, 2014, we completed a sappoéfering, in which we issued
and sold 1.6 million shares of our common stockredffering price of $24.25 per share, and on M&&h2014, we sold an additional 0.4
million shares as a result of the underwriters'reise of their option to purchase additional shapeaviding proceeds of $45.6 million, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions and offegrgenses. As of September 30, 2014, our cashecpsbalents, restricted cash and
short-term investments totaled $45.8 million. Castl cash equivalents are held for working capitappses and are invested primarily in
money market or time deposit funds. We do not enterinvestments for trading or speculative pugsos

The table below sets forth selected cash flow ftatthe periods presented:

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 724 $ (6,552) $ (35§)
Net cash used in investing activiti (45,389 (17,736 (3,290
Net cash provided by financing activiti 47,25( 35,36¢ 12,75¢
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equtgalen 1,06t 203 (150)
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 10,16¢ $ 11,28: $ 8,95¢

Operating activities

In 2014, net cash provided by operating activities $7.2 million. During 2014, we recognized nebime of $4.3 million. Our net
income included non-cash charges, including degtieci and amortization of $6.2 million, share-basethpensation expense of $2.1 million
and non-cash increases to our inventory resenauats of $0.9 million. Accounts payable increase$1®.8 million were offset by an
increase in accounts receivable from our custowie$8.7 million and an increase in inventories ®64 million to support revenue growth.

In 2013, net cash used in operating activities $&86 million. Cash used in operating activitiesyarily related to an increase in
receivables from customers from the sale of oudpets in excess of cash paid to our suppliers.rgutie year ended December 31, 2013
recognized a net loss of $1.4 million. The net lossrporated non-cash charges, including depiieci@nd amortization of $3.4 million,
share-based compensation expenses of $1.1 milidman-cash increases to our inventory reserveuats®f $0.5 million. We also spent
$7.5 million to increases our inventories to suppmreases in sales volumes, but this was offgetrbincrease in accounts payable.

In 2012, net cash used in operating activities $tad million. Cash used in operating activitieqwrily related to payments to
suppliers in excess of cash received from our coste from the sale of our products. During 2012y@mgnized a net loss of $0.9 million.
However, that net loss incorporated non-cash clargeluding depreciation and amortization of $iflion, share-based compensation
expense of $0.1 million and non-cash increasesiténventory reserve accounts of $0.9 million. tididion, we spent $0.5 million in 2012 to
increase our inventories in anticipation of expéétereases in sales volumes.
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Investing activitie:
Our investing activities consisted primarily of @éapexpenditures and purchases of intangible asset

In 2014, net cash used in investing activities §.4 million for the purchase of additional maemnand equipment, for
investment in leasehold improvements for our Taiywkamt expansion and the payment for intellectuapprty licenses to support new
product development efforts and manufacturing & as well as an increase in deferred charges.

In 2013, we used $17.7 million of cash for invegtactivities, of which $9.3 million of cash was dder the purchase of additional
machinery and equipment to support our researctdamelopment efforts and manufacturing activitied &8.0 million of cash was used for
the purchase of short-term investments.

In 2012, we used $3.3 million of cash for investawgivities. We used $3.2 million of cash for theghase of additional machinery
and equipment to support our research and develupefi@rts and manufacturing activities, partiafyset by $0.1 million of cash provided
by the sale of obsolete equipment.

Financing activities

Our financing activities consisted primarily of peeds from the issuance of common stock and pegfatock and activity
associated with our various lending arrangements.

In 2014, our financing activities provided $47.3lion in cash. We received $45.7 million in net geeds from a secondary offering
of common stock. Net borrowings associated withlmamnk loans and bank acceptance payable provid&d§illion in cash.

In 2013, our financing activities provided $35.4limn in cash. We received $31.5 million in net geeds from our initial public
offering. We received $3.5 million in net borrowigssociated with our bank loans and $0.7 millfomfthe exercise of stock options and
warrants. These increases were offset by an inei@asur restricted cash by $0.2 million, relatedite compensating balances required b
loans in China.

In 2012, our financing activities provided $12.8lion in cash. We received $10.2 million in casbrirthe issuance of preferred
stock, $2.7 million in net borrowings associatethvaur bank loans and $0.8 million from the isswaatnotes payable, offset in part by
$0.7 million of payments of principal on our teraahs and notes payable and $0.2 million to repayddrom stockholders.

Loans and commitmen

We have lending arrangements with several finanegtitutions, including a revolving line of credibd a term loan with East West
Bank in the U.S., several lines of credit arrangaisiéor our China subsidiary and lines of credi &inancing agreements for our Taiwan
location.

As of December 31, 2014, our loan and securityeagent in the U.S. included a $15.0 million revotylme of credit which matures
on July 15, 2017. Also included with the same biardkterm loan of up to $5.0 million with monthlgyments of principal and interest that
matures on July 31, 2019. The interest rate oretle@s is the LIBOR Borrowing Rate plus 2.75%.0A®ecember 31, 2014, we had $15.0
million outstanding under the revolving line of ditand $5.0 million outstanding under the ternmloa

On January 6, 2015, we entered into a Credit Fadijreement (the “Credit Facility”) with CTBC Bar®o. Ltd. in Taipei, Taiwan
(the “Bank”) for 90,000,000.00 NTD (New Taiwan Dai), one year revolving credit facility. Borrowsignder the Credit Facility will be
used for general corporate purposes. Our obligatimder the Credit Facility are unsecured. Borrgwinnder the Credit Facility will bear
interest at a rate based on the Bank’s corpor&decist rate swap index plus 1.5%, adjusted mon#tdyof the execution of the Credit Facility
the Bank’s corporate interest rate swap index94%. The Credit Facility contains representatioms warranties, affirmative, restrictive and
financial covenants, and events of default (apple#o the Company) which are customary for creditlities of this type.
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On January 26, 2015, we entered into a construtdiam agreement with East West Bank for up to $2dlllon dollars to finance tt
construction of our campus expansion plan in Sugad, Texas. The loan will have a fifteen monthwddown period with monthly interest
payments commencing on February 26, 2015 and edging26, 2016. Thereafter, the entire outstandinigcipal balance shall be converted
to a sixty-nine month term loan with principal anterest payments due monthly amortized over thrgglred months. The first principal and
interest payment is due on May 26, 2016 and wititicme the same day of each month thereafter. iflaégrincipal and interest payment is
due on January 26, 2022 and will include all ungmidcipal and all accrued and unpaid interest.r’iéy pay without penalty all or a portion
of the amount owed earlier than due. Under the &mprement, the loan bears interest, at an anatgabased on the one-month LIBOR
Borrowing Rate plus 2.75%.

Our loan and security agreements with East Wesk Beqguire us to maintain certain financial covesairtcluding a minimum
current ratio and minimum annual EBITDA. As of Detdwer 31, 2014, we were in compliance with all cargs contained in these
agreements.

As of December 31, 2014, our China subsidiary haxllines of credit facility with a China bank tateg $15.4 million, one line is
U.S. currency based and the other is RMB curreasgt. As of December 31, 2014, we had a U.S. ayrfessed loan of $1.1 million
outstanding under various notes with three-momntisematuring from February 2015 to March 2015.r&hveere no outstanding balances
under the RMB currency based credit facility aBetember 31, 2014.

Our Taiwan location had an outstanding note payafile a financing company that matures on July231,5.

In December 2013, our Taiwan location entered twtm separate one year revolving credit facilityesgnents with Taiwan banks,
a total of $8.0 million. Borrowings under theseditéacilities will be used for general corporaterposes. Our obligations under the credit
facilities are secured by our $8.0 million cashaigpin a oneyear CD with such banks. The two revolving linesi&dit bear interest at a r:
(which adjusts quarterly) equal to the Taiwan TiDeposit Interest Rate Index plus 0.41%, currenfi8%, and at a base rate equal to
TAIBOR plus 1%, currently 1.75%. As of December 2@14, $7.1 million was outstanding under thesditfacilities.

A customary business practice in China is for cugis to exchange accounts receivable with notesvedale issued by their bank.
From time to time we accept notes receivable freniain of our customers in China. These notes vabé are non-interest bearing and are
generally due within nine months, and such notesivable may be redeemed with the issuing bank pimaturity at a discount.
Historically, we have collected on the notes reabig in full at the time of maturity.

Frequently, we also direct our banking partnerissae bank acceptance notes payable to our suppli€@hina in exchange for
accounts payable. Our China subsidiafyanks issue the notes to vendors and issue payoneendors upon redemption. We owe the pay
balance to the issuing bank. The notes payablearénterest bearing and are generally due witiie months of issuance. As a condition of
the notes payable lending arrangements, we aréreelcfio keep a compensating balance at the iss#ngs that is a percentage of the total
notes payable balance until the notes payableadely our China subsidiary. These balances assifiled as restricted cash on our
consolidated balance sheets. As of December 34, 20t restricted cash totaled $0.5 million, and amutstanding bank acceptance notes
payable was $1.3 million.

Future liquidity need.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitaland cash flows from our operating activitigsl, be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash needs for the next 12 to 24 mofithsfuture capital requirements will depend omgntactors including our growth rate, t
timing and extent of spending to support our redeand development efforts, the expansion of ol@ssand marketing activities, the
introduction of new and enhanced products, the esipa of our manufacturing capacity and the comtigumarket acceptance of our
products. In the event that additional financingeiguired from outside sources, we may not be tablaise it on terms acceptable to us, if at
all. If we are unable to raise additional capitélen desired, our business, operating results aaddial condition would be adversely
affected.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@s of December 31, 2014:

Payments due by perioc

More than 5
Total Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years
(in thousands)
Notes payable an
long-term deb®  $ 29,91¢  $ 10,86: $ 17,26:  $ 1,792 $ -

Operating lease® 14,50+ 92¢ 2,54; 1,97¢ 9,05¢
Total commitment: $ 44.,42: $ 11,78¢ $ 19,80¢ $ 3,771 $ 9,05¢
Q) We have several loan and security agreements imaCliaiwan and the U.S. that provide various criaditities, including lines ¢

credit, bank acceptance payable and term loansaiftoaint presented in the table represents theipaingortion of the

obligations.
(2) We have entered into various r-cancellable operating lease agreements for owrasffin Taiwan and the U.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitatie Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risks

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magdnt our financial statements through adverse admimgfinancial market prices a
rates and inflation. Our market risk exposure rssulimarily from fluctuations in foreign exchanged interest rates. We manage our
exposure to these market risks through our regudarating and financing activities. We have notdrisally attempted to reduce our market
risks through hedging instruments; we may, howederso in the future.

Interest Rates

We are exposed to interest rate fluctuations orcash, cash equivalents and short-term investmdérgshad unrestricted cash and
cash equivalents of $32.2 million, $22.0 milliorde8L0.7 million at December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2€d$pectively. Our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments are sutidishited interest rate risk and are primarily mtained in money market funds and bank
deposits.

We have entered into various loan agreements vé#t Best Bank in the U.S., China Construction BarRhina and Mega Bank
and Chailease Finance Co LTD in Taiwan. As of Ddoemn31, 2014:

« the revolving line of credit for our U.S.-basednsaad a principal balance of $15.0 million, begiitterest at rates based on
LIBOR plus 2.75% , maturing on July 15, 20

. the term loan with a U.S. bank had a principal bedaof $5.0 million, with monthly payment of pripal and interest at LIBOR
plus 2.75%, maturing on July 31, 20:

« the Chinese-based revolving line of credit loan haadutstanding principal balance, bearing intea¢408% of LIBOR or
6.48% ,

« the Chinese-based revolving line of credit hadiacgval balance of $1.1 million, bearing interesttd.% or LIBOR of 1.2%,
« the Chinese bank acceptance notes issued to vemadiE balance of $1.3 million, bearing no interats,

. the Taiwanese-based revolving line of credit hadrcipal balance of $3.5 million, bearing interastl.75%, maturing on May
24, 2015

. the Taiwanese-based revolving line of credit hadircipal balance of $3.6 million, bearing interastL.78%, maturing on June
15, 2015, an

« the Taiwanese-based term loan had $0.4 milliorcpai balance outstanding, with monthly paymenprificipal and interest at
interest rate of 4.95%, maturing on July 30, 2(

With respect to our interest expense for the yaded December 31, 2014, an increase or decreds@%fin each of our interest
rates would have resulted in an increase of $0lBmin our interest expense for such period.

Foreign Exchange Rates

We operate on an international basis with a pomioour revenue and expenses being incurred irenares other than the U.S.
dollar. Fluctuations in the value of these foredgimrencies in which we conduct our business redativthe U.S. dollar affects our results and
will cause U.S. dollar translation of such curresdio vary from one period to another. We cannedipt the effect of exchange rate
fluctuations upon our future operating results. €ffect on our results of operations from currefiagtuations is reduced, however, because
we have revenue and expenses in each of thesgriareirencies.

We maintain certain assets, including certain ka@sdounts, accounts receivables, land and buildngMB and the NT dollar,
which are sensitive to foreign currency exchange flactuations. Additionally, certain of our cunteand longterm liabilities are denominat
in these currencies. As of December 31, 2014, dhtatn in RMB and NT dollar currency exchange ragssilted in assets and liabilities
denominated in these currencies being translatecamimmaterial difference and $0.4 million mor&SUdollars than at December 31, 2013,
respectively.
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Additionally, the value of the RMB against the UdBllar and other currencies fluctuates and iscédfg by, among other things,
changes in political and economic conditions inf2hiThe conversion of RMB into foreign currenciesjuding U.S. dollars, has been based
on rates set by the People’s Bank of China. On 2u)y2005, the Chinese government changed itsypofipegging the value of the RMB to
the U.S. dollar and began allowing modest appreciaif the RMB against the U.S. dollar. Fluctuatafrthe RMB exchange rate is, howe\
restricted to a rise or fall of no more than 0.586 gay versus the U.S. dollar, and the People’«kB&China continues to intervene in the
foreign exchange market to prevent significant skemm fluctuations in the RMB exchange rate. Néwgess, under China’s current
exchange rate regime, the RMB may appreciate aredee significantly in value against the U.S |aoin the medium to long term. The
RMB has appreciated 2.65% against the U.S. daiten Jlanuary 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014. Theraireninternational pressure on the
Chinese government to adopt a substantial libextatia of its currency policy, which could resultarfurther and more significant apprecia
in the value of the RMB against the U.S. dollar.

We use the U.S. dollar as our functional and répgiturrency for our financial statements. All tsantions in currencies other than
the U.S. dollar during the year are re-measurdldea¢xchange rates prevailing on the respectiwwaet dates of such transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities existing at the balancetsth&te denominated in currencies other than the dblBar are re-measured at the exchange
rates prevailing on such date. Exchange differeaoesecorded in our consolidated income statenidat financial records of our China
subsidiary and our Taiwan location are maintaimetheir respective local currencies, the RMB aredNIT dollar, which are the functional
currencies for our China subsidiary and our Taileaation, respectively. Assets and liabilities aiemslated at the exchange rates at the
balance sheet date, equity accounts are transatadtorical exchange rates and revenues, expegeies and losses are translated using a
quarterly average rate in 2012 and a monthly aweratg in 2013 and 2014. Translation adjustmetsegrorted as cumulative translation
adjustments and are shown as a separate compdremtuonulated other comprehensive income in otestant of stockholders’ equity
(deficit) and comprehensive income. Transactiomgiand losses are recognized in our statemeniseoftions in other income (expenses).

We incurred approximately 47.6% of our operatingemses in currencies other than the U.S. dollang@014. As of December 3
2014, we held the U.S. dollar equivalent of apprately $10.4 million in RMB and $2.1 million in Ndollars, included in cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments. Fluctuatinrexchange rates directly affect our cost oérneies and net income, and have a
significant impact on fluctuations in our operatimgrgins. For example, in 2014, 96.2% of our reesnuere generated from sales
denominated in U.S. dollars, and 15.8% of our apegacosts and expenses were denominated in RMB&arg8% of our operating costs were
denominated in NT dollars. Fluctuations in excharajes also affect our balance sheet. For exanfiple, need to convert U.S. dollars into
RMB or NT dollars for our operations, appreciatafrthe RMB or the NT dollar against the U.S. dollauld have an adverse effect on the
RMB or NT dollar amount that we receive from theeersion. With respect to our total cash and stesrty investments as of December 31,
2014, a 1.0% change in the exchange rates betlwedRMB and the U.S. dollar would result in a $0illiom change in our total cash and
short-term investments, and a 1.0% change in thikasge rates between the NT dollar and the U.$ardebuld result in an immaterial
change in our total cash, cash equivalents and-gvon investments.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates of the almovrencies we hold against the U.S. dollar wiwalde a corresponding impact
the U.S. dollar equivalent of such currencies idelliin the cash, cash equivalents and short-teresiments reported in our financial
statements from period to period.

Inflation

We believe that the relatively low rate of inflation the U.S. over the past few years has not tegraficant impact on our sales or
operating results or on the prices of raw materibdsthe extent we expand our operations in Chimtheaiwan, such actions may result in
inflation having a more significant impact on oyueoating results in the future.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
During 2014, 2013 and 2012, we did not have argticiships with unconsolidated organizations oarficial partnerships, such as

structured finance or special purpose entitieswlmatld have been established for the purpose dftéing off-balance sheet arrangements or
other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

50




Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon msddioated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.SABRA hese principles require us to make estimatdgwdgments that affect the repor
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expensegash flows, and related disclosure of contingssets and liabilities. Our estimates incl
those related to revenue recognition, share-basgensation expense, impairment analysis of gobdwil long-lived assets, valuation of
inventory, warranty liabilities and accounting focome taxes. We base our estimates on histongaréence and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable dhdaircumstances. Actual results may differ frémrese estimates. To the extent that there
are material differences between these estimatés@amactual results, our future financial statetsavill be affected.

We believe that of our significant accounting pes; which are described in Note B to our constdiddinancial statements
appearing elsewhere in this prospectus, the foligwiccounting policies involve a greater degre@agment and complexity. Accordingly,
we believe these are the most critical to fully erstand and evaluate our financial condition asdlts of operations.

Revenue recognitic

We generally employ a direct sales model in Nornthehica, and in the rest of the world we use botbatliand indirect channels. Our
revenue recognition policy is to recognize grosenele whether our products are sold on a directdirect basis, because our reseller
customers (indirect channel) take title to our metd and honor the same terms and conditions asiddirect sales customers. We recognize
revenue from the sale of our products provided pleasuasive evidence of an arrangement existsynoeathce obligations have been satisfied,
the price is fixed or determinable and collect&pis reasonably assured. Contracts or customehpse orders are used to determine the
existence of an arrangement. Shipping documentssae to verify delivery. We assess whether theeps fixed or determinable based on
payment terms associated with the transaction. $8ess collectability based primarily on the credithiness of the customer as determined
by credit checks and the customer’s payment histoagtomers are generally extended net 30 cradiistérom the date of shipment, with
some extensions for some more creditworthy custemer

Whether our products are sold on a direct or imdibasis, revenue is recognized when the prodwttiped and title has transferred
to the customer. We bear all costs and risks af tssilamage to the goods up to that point. On wral&rs, our terms of sale provide that title
passes to the customer upon placement by us witimanon carrier (upon shipment). In some cases wepravide for title transfer to the
customer upon delivery of the goods to the custolfverdetermine payments made to third party s&lesesentatives are appropriately
recorded to sales and marketing expense and eatuation of revenue. Shipping and handling cosgtdrariuded in cost of goods sold. We
present revenue net of sales returns and allowasales taxes and any similar assessments. Wedprtbai limited warranty as part of our
standard terms and conditions of sale. This wayrardvides for the repair or replacement of ourdoiets, at our discretion, that we
determined (i) are defective in workmanship, matedr not in compliance with the mutually agreerdtten applicable specification and (ii)
has in fact failed under normal use on or before ywar from the date of original shipment of theducts. Some of our customers are
provided limited warranties between three to fieans, on certain limited and identified productarkéinty costs associated with returned
goods that are repaired or replaced are chargeasstoof goods sold.

During our ordinary course of business, we mayrante new product development agreements to desiggtomize and develop
new products for our customers. Such new produgtldpment agreements often involves material codteangineering hours and therefore
non-recurring engineering service (NRE) chargesagreed upon for the customer to reimburse outegleosts. We adopt the milestone
method in revenue recognition for NRE revenuesdiggicost-input measurement. We capitalize costtiop to the contractual agreement
amount and recognize NRE revenues based upon teemagnt schedule. Contracts or customer purchdsesosre often used to determine
the existence of service agreement.

Share-Based Compensation

Stock option fair value is calculated on the ddtgrant using the Black-Scholes valuation modeke Thmpensation cost is then
recognized on a straight-line basis over the rétguservice period of the option, which is gengrétle option vesting term of four years. The
Black-Scholes valuation model requires us to egrkay assumptions such as expected term, volatilitidend yield and risk-free interest
rates that determine the stock option fair valneaddition, we estimate forfeitures at the timgait. As there had been no market for our
common stock prior to our initial public offerintpe expected volatility for options granted to dates derived from an analysis of reported
data for a peer group of companies that issuedpivith similar terms. The expected volatility leen determined using an average of the
expected volatility reported by this peer grougofmpanies. We use a risk free interest rate baséldeo10-year Treasury as reported during
the period. The expected term of the options has bletermined utilizing the simplified method whidiculates a simple average based on
vesting period and option life. We do not anticgpptying dividends in the near future. Estimateteftures are based on historical experie
and future work force projections.
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Longlived assets

Depreciation and amortization of the intangibleséssnd other long-lived assets is provided udiegstraight-line method over their
respective estimated useful lives, reflecting thttggn of economic benefits associated with theseta. Changes in circumstances such as
technological advances, changes to our businesslpadchanges in our capital strategy could calusectual useful lives of intangible as:
or other long-lived assets to differ from initiatienates. In those cases where we determine tbatsiful life of an asset should be revised,
we depreciate the remaining net book value ovendve estimated useful life.

Our long-lived assets are evaluated for impairmérgnever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable. We value apsat-by-asset basis our long-lived assets andegiignize an impairment loss when the
sum of such valuation is less than the carryingarof such assets. The values, based on reasarabkupportable assumptions and
projections, require subjective judgments. Dependim the assumptions and estimates used, the valojested in the evaluation of long-
lived assets can vary within a range of outcomes.céhsider the likelihood of possible outcomesdtedmining the best estimate for the
value of the assets. We did not record any asgsimment charges in 2014 or 2013.

Valuation of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ave@mst method) or market. Work in process andHitisgoods includes materials,
labor and allocated overhead. We assess the \a@tugitiour inventory on a periodic basis and prowddeallowance for the value of estimated
excess and obsolete inventory based on estimafatuoé demand. During the years ended Decembe2@H4, 2013 and 2012, we recorded
excess and obsolete inventory charges of $0.9omjl$0.5 million, and $0.9 million, respectively.

We established accounting policy to write down eadfi obsolescence inventory. The policy providestrees based upon inventory
aging over 180 days with 10% of loss reserve aorkased loss percentage in 180 days interval and L@0% loss reserve when aging over
720 days. The loss percentage is reduced for coyrippaaw advanced technology products with a maxinedi®5% loss reserve after aging
over 360 days. The policy provides for aging ofentory as follows:

. More than 180 days but Less than 360 days—10%

. Between 360 and 540 days—50% ( except 35% forramhcatechnology products)
. Between 540 and 720 days—80% ( except 35% foaraahd technology products)
. Over 720 days—100% (except 35% for advanced teolgggdroducts)

We considered the following factors in our deteraion of the appropriate reserve level: how oftenbumy material in bulk that lasts
for more than 12 months of supply; changes in nmeteosts over a 24 month period; the overall mavisbue of raw material, semi-finished
goods and finished goods across our varied prdiohes and within markets; changes in expected denfamour products; the change in
valuations historically; the determined safety ktfir key customers; and the likelihood of postpoeet in delivery schedules for materials
already placed in finished goods inventory.

Accounting for income tax

We account for income taxes in accordance withptogisions of ASC 740, Income Taxes. The liabifitgthod is used to account
deferred income taxes. Under the liability methibeferred tax assets and liabilities are measurneg tise enacted tax rates and laws that will
be in effect when the differences are expectedverse. The ability to realize deferred tax assetdvaluated annually and a valuation
allowance is provided if it is unlikely that thefdered tax assets will not give rise to future d#aén our tax returns

We record uncertain tax positions in accordanch wiBC 740 on the basis of a two-step process ichvil) we determine whether
it is more likely than not that the tax position#l e sustained on the basis of the technical ts@fi the position and (2) for those tax
positions that meet the more-likely-than-not redtign threshold, we recognize the largest amounértenefit that is more than 50 percent
likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement witie related tax authority.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocagréized tax benefits on the income tax expensetithe accompanying

consolidated statement of operations. Accruedésteand penalties are included on the relatedabiity line in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrddqa-FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ((ABNo. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Custom(*ASU 2014-09"). The standard provides companiethaisingle model for use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers apésedes current revenue recognition guidancleidimg industry-specific revenue
guidance. The core principle of the model is tmmgize revenue when control of the goods or sesvi@nsfers to the customer, as oppos
recognizing revenue when the risks and rewardsfieamo the customer under the existing revenudamge. ASU 2014-09 is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after Decembel016. Early adoption is not permitted. The gn@apermits companies to either apply
the requirements retrospectively to all prior pdsigpresented, or apply the requirements in the gfeadoption, through a cumulative
adjustment. We are in the process of evaluatingnipaict of adoption on our consolidated financiatements.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to the consolidated financial statés and accompanying notes set fort
pages F-1 through F-28 of this Annual Report omFd0-K

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and ProcedL

The term “disclosure controls and procedures,’&fgdd in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under tteh&nge Act, means controls
and other procedures of a company that are destgnerssure that information required to be disaldsga company in the reports that it fi
or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,ge®ed, summarized and reported, within the timegespecified in the SEC’s rules and
forms. Disclosure controls and procedures incluwdiout limitation, controls and procedures desiji@ensure that information required to
be disclosed by a company in the reports thalei$ r submits under the Exchange Act is accumdilatel communicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive aridgipal financial officers, as appropriate to alltimely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

b. Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Finan&aporting.

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &vated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2@®.4. Based upon such evaluation, our Chief @kex Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that our disclosure contanid procedures were effective as of such date.

c. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repaor

There was no change in our internal control oveairfcial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)emtthe Exchange Act) identified
in connection with management’s evaluation requingthe Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) under thén&xge Act that occurred during our
last fiscal quarter that has materially affectadsaeasonably likely to materially affect, outeémal control over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required regarding our directormorporated herein by reference from the infoiomatontained in our definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Bhmdders (our “Proxy Statement”), a copy of whichl We filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the draliofiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

The information required regarding our executiviicefs is incorporated herein by reference fromittiermation contained in the
section entitled “Management” in our Proxy Stateten

The information required regarding Section 16(a)dfieial ownership reporting compliance is incogged by reference from the
information contained in our Proxy Statement.

The information required with respect to procedumgsvhich security holders may recommend nomineesit board of directors,
the composition of our Audit Committee, and whettiier Company has an “audit committee financial eXpis incorporated by reference
from the information contained in our Proxy Stateine

Adoption of Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Business CoadddEthics (the “Code”) applicable to all of ourbad of director members,
employees and executive officers, including oure€Eixecutive Officer (Principal Executive Officegnd Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officeflhe Company has made the Code available on dositeeat http://www.ao-inc.com.

The Company intends to satisfy the public disclesequirements regarding (1) any amendments tGdue, or (2) any waivers
under the Code given to our Principal Executivedeff, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Awmting Officer by posting such
information on our website at www.ao-inc.com. Therre no amendments to the Code or waivers grahezdunder relating to the Principal
Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer oriRcipal Accounting Officer during 2014.

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required regarding the compensatioour directors and executive officers is incagied herein by reference from
the information contained in the sections entitlEdecutive Compensation,” and “Director CompengatidCompensation Committee
Report” in our Proxy Statement.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required regarding security owngrsif our 5% or greater stockholders and of ouediors and management is
incorporated herein by reference from the infororationtained in the section entitled “Security Owgh@ of Certain Beneficial Owners and

Management” in our Proxy Statement.

The information required regarding securities atiteal for issuance our equity compensation plaimscisrporated herein by
reference from the information contained in thdisacentitled “Employee Benefit Plans” in our ProStjatement.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required regarding related tranisastis incorporated herein by reference from ttiermation contained in our
Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service
The information required by Part Ill, Item 14, redjag principal accounting fees and services isiporated by reference from the
information contained in our Proxy Statement, aycofowhich will be filed with the Securities and éhange Commission within 120 days
after the end of our fiscal year ended DecembeR314.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements Schedule
(a) Exhibits.

See the Exhibit Index which follows the signatuag@ of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which isdrporated herein by
reference.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial statement schedules have been omittaiedsformation required to be set forth theraimicluded in the Consolidated
Financial Statements or Notes thereto appearitigisnrAnnual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesEmtiange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly cdtisis Form 10-K to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine March 5, 2015.

APPLIED OPTOELECTRONICS, INC.

By: /s| QHIH-HSIANG (THOMPSON LIN
Chih-Hsiang (Thompson) Lin,
President and Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directo

March 5, 2015
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anairgppChih-Hsiang
(Thompson) Lin and Stefan J. Murry, and each ofrtheintly and severally, his attorneys{imet, each with the power of substitution, for t
in any and all capacities, to sign any and all asngents to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and lmtfie same, with exhibits thereto and
other documents in connection therewith, with teeusities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifgimg confirming all that each of said
attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substituteay do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesEmthange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been sidnethe following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Date

/s| QHIH-HSIANG (THOMPSON LIN
Chih-Hsiang (Thompson) Lin,
President, Chief Executive Officer and March 5, 2015
Chairman of the Board of Directors
(principal executive officel

/sl STEFAN J. MURRY
Stefan J. Murry,
Chief Financial Officer March 5, 2015
(principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer
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Signature

/s/ William H. Yeh

William H. Yeh,
Director

/s/ Richard B. Black

Richard B. Black,
Director

/sl Che-Wei Lin

Che-Wei Lin,
Director

/sl Alex Ignatiev

Alex Ignatiev,
Director

/s/ Alan Moore

Alan Moore,
Director

/s/ Min-Chu (Mike) Chen

Min-Chu (Mike) Chen,
Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe 10-Q 001-36083 3.1 November 14,
registrant, as currently in effe 2013
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrantuasgiatly ir 10-Q 001-36083 3.2 November 14,
effect 2013
4.1 Form of Registration Rights Agreeme S-1 333190591 4.1 August 13, 201:
4.2 Form of Shareholde’ Agreemen S-1 333190591 4.2 August 13, 201:
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regis S-1 333-190591 10.1 August 13, 2013
each of its Directors and certain of its Executdfficers
10.2t 1998 Incentive Share Pl S-1 333-190591 10.2 August 13, 201:
10.2.1t Form of Stock Option Agreement under 1998 Incen8hare S-1 333-190591 10.2.1 August 13, 2013
Plan
10.2.2t Form of Stock Option Agreement under 1998 IncenBhare S-1 333-190591 10.2.2 August 13, 2013
Plan
10.2t 2000 Incentive Share Pl S-1 333-190591 10.3 August 13, 201:
10.3.1t Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2000 Incen8hare S-1 333-190591 10.3.1 August 13, 2013
Plan
10.3.2t Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2000 IncenBhare S-1 333-190591 10.3.2 August 13, 2013
Plan
10.4t 2004 Incentive Share Pl S-1 333-190591 10.4 August 13, 201:
10.4.1t Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Incen8hare S-1 333-190591 10.4.1 August 13, 2013
Plan
10.5t 2006 Incentive Share Pl S-1 333-190591 10.5 August 13, 201:
10.5.1t First Amendment to 2006 Incentive Share F S-1/A 333-190591 10.5.1 August 27, 201:
10.5.2t Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2006 Incen8hare S-1/A 333-190591 10.5.2 August 27, 2013
Plan
10.€t 2013 Equity Incentive Plan 10-Q 001-36083 10.1 November 14,
2013
10.6.1t Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2013 S-1 333-190591 10.6.1 August 13, 2013

Equity Incentive Plai
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Incorporated by Reference

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
10.6.2t Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement un2i@ét3 S-1 333-190591 10.6.2 August 13, 2013
Equity Incentive Plal
10.6.3t Form of Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreementan S-1 333-190591 10.6.3 August 13, 2013
2013 Equity Incentive Pla
10.6.4f Form of Notice of Stock Option Award and Stock ©pti S-1 333-190591 10.6.4 August 13, 2013
Award Agreement under 2013 Equity Incentive F
10.7 Lease Agreement effective May 1, 2012 betweenebestran S-1 333-190591 10.7 August 13, 2013
and 12808 W. Airport, LLC
10.7.1 First Amendment to Lease Agreement effective Jine012 S-1 333-190591 10.7.1 August 13, 2013
between the registrant and 12808 W. Airport, L
10.7.z Third Amendment to Office Lease Agreement betwéen t 8-K 001-36083 10.1 July 25, 2014
Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and 12808 Airport,C dated
July 21, 201«
10.¢ Translation of Chinese lease agreement dated JahQaR01.: S-1 333-190591 10.8 August 13, 2013

between the registrant and Admiral Overseas Cotiporéor
space on 4F, NO.700, Jhongjheng Rd., Jhonghe &jdtew
Taipei City 23552, Taiwan (R.O.C

10.8.1 Translation of Chinese Amendment to Office Lease 10-Q 001-36083 10.4 November 14,
Agreement dated August 28, 2013 between the ragisand 2013
Admiral Overseas Corporation for space on 4F, N®.70
Jhongjheng Rd., Jhonghe District, New Taipei CB$22,

Taiwan (R.O.C.

10.¢ Translation of Chinese lease agreement dated Ap#i012 S-1 333-190591 10.9 August 13, 2013
between the registrant and Admiral Overseas Cotiporéor
space on 6-7F, NO.700, Jhongjheng Rd., Jhongheddjst
New Taipei City 23552, Taiwan (R.O.C

10.9.1 Translation of Chinese Amendment to Office Lease 10-Q 001-36083 10.5 November 14,
Agreement dated August 28, 2013 between the ragisand 2013
Admiral Overseas Corporation for space on 6-7F 7N,

Jhongjheng Rd., Jhonghe District, New Taipei CB$22,
Taiwan (R.O.C.
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Incorporated by Reference

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
10.1C Translation of Chinese lease agreement dated Sbptei, 10-Q 001-36083 10.3 November 14,
2013 between the registrant and Admiral Overseas 2013

Corporation for space on 5F, No.700, Jhongjheng Rd.
Jhonghe District, New Taipei City 23552, Taiwan@RC.)

10.11 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreemtattiok S-1 333-190591 10.10 August 13, 2013
May 20, 2009 between registrant and United Comrakrci
Bank
10.11.. First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan andribe S-1 333-190591 10.10.1  August 13, 2013

Agreement effective May 3, 2010 between the regigtand
East West Bank (as successor in interest to Uitedmercia
Bank)

10.11.. Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and S-1 333-190591 10.10.2  August 13, 2013
Security Agreement effective October 28, 2010 betwihe
registrant and East West Ba

10.11.: Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and S-1 333-190591 10.10.3  August 13, 2013
Security Agreement effective December 6, 2010 betnbe
registrant and East West Ba

10.11.« Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and S-1 333-190591 10.10.4  August 13, 2013
Security Agreement effective May 5, 2011 between th
registrant and East West Ba

10.11.! Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan acdrig S-1 333-190591 10.10.5 August 13, 2013
Agreement effective November 30, 2011 between the
registrant and East West Ba

10.11.¢ Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and S-1 333-190591 10.10.6  August 13, 2013
Security Agreement effective March 29, 2012 betwiben
registrant and East West Ba

10.11.7 Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan anc S-1 333-190591 10.10.7  August 13, 2013

Security Agreement effective June 29, 2012 betviken
registrant and East West Ba
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Incorporated by Reference

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
10.11.¢ Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and S-1 333-190591 10.10.8  August 13, 2013
Security Agreement effective November 2, 2012 betwihe
registrant and East West Ba
10.11.¢ Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan S-1 333-190591 10.10.9  August 13, 2013
Security Agreement effective April 11, 2013 betwéles
registrant and East West Ba
10.11.1¢ Tenth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and S-1/A 333-190591  10.10.10 September 11,
Security Agreement effective September 10, 201@&ben the 2013
registrant and East West Ba
10.11.1: Eleventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan an 8-K 001-36083 10.1 November 19,
Security Agreement effective November 13, 2013 betwthe 2013
registrant and East West Ba
10.11.1: Twelfth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and 8-K 001-36083 10.1 December 17,
Security Agreement effective December 11, 2013 betwthe 2013
registrant and East West Ba
10.11.1: Translation of Chinese form of RMB Working Capitaian 10-K 001-36083 10.11.13 March 6, 2014
Agreement between the Global Technology Inc. anid&h
Construction Ban!
10.1z Translation of Chinese form of USD Trust Receipaho 10-K 001-36083 10.11.12 March 6, 2014
Agreement between Global Technology Inc. and China
Construction Ban|
10.1: Translation of Chinese Loan Agreement dated Dece@ibe 10-K 001-36083 10.13 March 6, 2014
2013 between the registrant and E. Sun Commereiak Eo.
Ltd.
10.1¢ Translation of Chinese Loan Agreement dated Dece2be 10-K 001-36083 10.14 March 6, 2014

2013 between the registrant and Mega International
Commercial Bank Co., Ltc
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Incorporated by Reference
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

10.1tF Employment Agreement regarding Change of Control or S-1 333-190591 10.12 August 13, 2013
Separation of Service between the registrant ank-Bkiang
(Thompson) Lin, dated January 28, 2(

10.15..f Amended and Restated Employment Agreement regardin S-1 333-190591 10.12.1  August 13, 2013
Change of Control or Separation of Service betwiben
registrant and Chih-Hsiang (Thompson) Lin, datedil&®,
2013

10.1tF Employment Agreement regarding Change of Control or S-1 333-190591 10.13 August 13, 2013
Separation of Service between the registrant aefhust).
Murry, dated January 28, 20i

10.1¢f Employment Agreement regarding Change of Control or S-1 333-190591 10.14 August 13, 2013
Separation of Service between the registrant andrila
(Joshua) Yeh, dated June 1, 2!

10.17 Employment Agreement between the registrant aneétgdm S-1 333-190591 10.15 August 13, 2013
Dunn, Jr., dated April 16, 201

10.1&F Employment Agreement between the registrant andgHwm S-1 333-190591 10.16 August 13, 2013
(Fred) Chang, dated April 16, 20

10.1¢ Translation of Lease Agreement dated March 18, 2014 8-K 001-36083 1.2 March 25, 2014
between the Company and Taiwan Furniture Manufacsur
Association for office space at 2F, No. 700, Jhbegp Rd.,
Jhonghe District, New Taipei City 23552, Taiwan@EC.).

10.2C Translation of Lease Agreement dated April 1, 2bé#dveen 8-K 001-36083 1.01 April 7, 2014
the Company and Taiwan Asset Management Corporédiol
office and manufacturing space at No. 18, GongRréth
Gonger Industrial Park, Linkou District, New Taipei €244
Taiwan (R.O.C.

10.21 Business Loan Agreement, dated July 15, 2014, leztwe 8-K 001-36083 10.1 July 18, 2014
Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and East West B

10.21.. Commercial Security Agreement, dated July 15, 2014, 8-K 001-36083 10.2 July 18, 2014
between Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and East VBesik

10.21.. Promissory Note, dated July 15, 2014, between &gpli 8-K 001-36083 10.3 July 18, 2014
Optoelectronics, Inc. and East West Bi
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Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description

Form

File No. Exhibit Filing Date

10.22

10.22.:

10.22.;

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27

10.2¢

10.28.:

10.28.:

Business Loan Agreement, dated July 31, 2014, lestwe
Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and East West B

Commercial Security Agreement, dated July 31, 2014,
between Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and East VBesik

Promissory Note, dated July 31, 2014, between A&dpli
Optoelectronics, Inc. and East West Bi

Translation of Chinese form of RMB Working Capitalan
Agreement between the Global Technology Inc. anid&h
Construction Bank — Revolving line of credit witlChina
bank up to $12 million (Schedule updated as of Bihe2014;

Translation of Chinese form of USD Trust Receipaho
Agreement between Global Technology Inc. and China
Construction Bank - Revolving line of credit wittChina
bank up to $3.3 million (Schedule updated as o& R0\
2014)

Translation of Chinese form of RMB Working Capitaian
Agreement between the Global Technology Inc. anid&h
Construction Bank — Revolving line of credit witlChina
bank up to $12 million (Schedule updated as of &aper 30,
2014)

Translation of Chinese form of USD Trust Receipaho
Agreement between Global Technology Inc. and China
Construction Bank - Revolving line of credit wittChina
bank up to $3.3 million (Schedule updated as ot&eper 30
2014)

Loan Agreement, dated January 6, 2015, betweeniégppl
Optoelectronics, Inc. and CTBC Bank Co. L

Construction Loan Agreement, dated January 26,,2015
between Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and East VBesik

Commercial Security Agreement, dated January 28520
between Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and East VBesik

Promissory Note, dated January 26, 2015, betwegtieth
Optoelectronics, Inc. and East West Bi
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8-K
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10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

8-K

8-K

8-K

001-36083 10.1 August 5, 2014

001-36083 10.2 August 5, 2014

001-36083 10.3 August 5, 2014

001-36083 10.2 August 12, 2014

001-36083 10.3 August 12, 2014

001-36083 10.4 November 12,
2014

001-36083 10.5 November 12,

2014

001-36083 10.1 January 12, 2015

001-36083 10.1 January 30, 2015

001-36083 10.2 January 30, 2015

001-36083 10.3 January 30, 2015




Number Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

10.2¢* Translation of Chinese form of RMB Working Capitalan
Agreement between the Global Technology Inc. anid&h
Construction Bank — Revolving line of credit witlChina
bank up to $12 million (Schedule updated as of D= 31,
2014)

10.3¢* Translation of Chinese form of USD Trust Receipaho
Agreement between Global Technology Inc. and China
Construction Bank - Revolving line of credit wittChina
bank up to $3.3 million (Schedule updated as ofdbswer 31
2014)

21.1 Subsidiaries of the registra
23.17* Consent of Grant Thornton LL

24.1 Power of Attorney (see page 56 to this Annual Repor-orr
1C-K).

31.7* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Reqgeit Under
Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Bmgk Act
of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to S&tbof
The Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Regad Under
Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Bmgh Act
of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to S&tbof
The Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifgipal
Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) &6d-14
(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as alednand
18 U.S.C. 81350 as adopted pursuant to SectioroBUbe
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

101.IN&* XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEP* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

*

K%k

Filed herewith

333190591

211

August 13, 201.

The financial information contained in these XBRocuments is unaudited and these are not theiaffiublicly filed financial
statements of Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. Theppae of submitting these XBRL documents is tottestelated format and
technology, and, as a result, investors shouldmoato rely on the official filed version of therhished documents and not rely
this information in making investment decisionsabtordance with Rule 402 of Regulation S-T, ttiermation in these exhibits
shall not be deemed to be “filetSr purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Acttberwise subject to the liability of that secti
and shall not be incorporated by reference intoragjstration statement or other document filedeuride Securities Act, or the
Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly sdt byrispecific reference in such filin

Management contract, compensatory plan or arrange
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Applied Optoelectronics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. (a Del@acorporation) and subsidiaries
“Company”)as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the relatesbtidated statements of operations, compreheisieee (loss), chang
in stockholdersequity, and cash flows for each of the three y@athe period ended December 31, 2014. These fiabsimtements are t
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighauBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet anidibtain reasonable assurance about whethdmggcial statements are free of mate
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait atidhe Companys internal control over financial reporting. Ourdés includet
consideration of internal control over financigboeting as a basis for designing audit proceduratdre appropriate in the circumstances
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion onetffiectiveness of the Compasyinternal control over financial reporting. Accogly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesméxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusmts and disclosures in the finan
statements, assessing the accounting principlebarse significant estimates made by managementghss evaluating the overall financ
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeferred to above present fairly, in all mater@spects, the financial position of Appl
Optoelectronics, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Deagrh, 2014 and 2013, and the results of theiragjmers and their cash flows for each of
three years in the period ended December 31, 201ebmformity with accounting principles generallgcapted in the United States
America.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Houston, TX

March 5, 2015
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Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31

2014 2013
ASSETS
Current Asset
Cash and cash equivalel $ 32,17¢ 22,00¢
Restricted cas 50¢ 77t
Shor-term investment 8,18¢ 7,97(
Accounts receivabl- trade, net of allowance of $43 and $42, respegti 31,58¢ 22,08¢
Inventories 33,78( 19,60¢
Notes receivabl 98C -
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,017 5,48¢
Total current asse 113,23¢ 77,93¢
Property, plant and equipment, net of $32,412 #8815, respectivel 64,80¢ 31,13«
Land use rights, n¢ 93C 95¢
Intangible assets, n 3,83: 851
Other assets, net 86C 177
TOTAL ASSETS $ 183,67( 111,05
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Current portion of notes payable and |-term debt $ 9,591 17,18¢
Accounts payabl 30,79¢ 15,01(
Bank acceptance payal 1,271 2,341
Accrued liabilities 6,94( 4,51¢F
Total current liabilities 48,60 39,057
Notes payable and lo-term debt, less current porti 19,057 8,92
Other long-term liabilities 1,00( —
TOTAL LIABILITIES 68,65¢ 47,98(
Stockholders' equity (deficit
Preferred Stock; 5,000 shares authorized; no slesesd and outstanding at
December 31, 2014 or 2013, respectively, $0.001 alae - -
Common Stock; 45,000 shares authorized; 14,824slissued and outstanding at
December 31, 2014, $0.001 par value; 12,644 slisseed and outstanding at
December 31, 2013, $0.001 par vé 15 13
Additional paic-in capital 192,11. 144,02:
Accumulated other comprehensive g 1,92t 2,36¢
Accumulated defici (79,040 (83,329
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 115,01: 63,07"
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 183,67( 111,05

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue, ne $ 130,44¢ % 78,42¢ % 63,42:
Cost of goods sold 86,20: 55,39¢ 44,49;
Gross profit 44,24¢ 23,02¢ 18,92¢
Operating expense

Research and developm 15,97( 8,517 7,60z

Sales and marketir 6,04: 4,191 3,13t

General and administrative 17,09t 10,63: 8,01z
Total operating expenses 39,10¢ 23,33t 18,75(
Income (loss) from operations 5,13¢ (307) 17¢
Other income (expens

Interest incom 36¢ 104 26

Interest expens (32€) (1,125 (1,38))

Other income (expense), net (699) (78) 231
Total other expens (65€) (1,099 (1,129
Income (loss) before income tax 4,48: (1,406 (94%)
Income taxes (199 - -
Net income (loss $ 428 $ (1,400 $ (94E)
Net income (loss) per shs

Basic $ 03C % (019 $ (3.5€6)

Diluted $ 028 $ 019 $ (3.5€6)
Weighted average shares used to compute net inlossd per shar

Basic 14,307,47 9,964,95! 265,57t

Diluted 15,186,96 9,964,95! 265,57t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net income (loss $ 428: % (1,40¢) $ (945)
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net ofdb®0, $0 and $0 (43¢9) 34¢€ 44
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 3,84¢ $ (1,05¢) $ (907)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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December
31, 2011
Preferred
stock
issued, ne
Stock option
exercisec
Stock based
compense
Issuance of
warrants
Net loss
Foreign
currency
translatior
adjustmer
December
31, 2012
Public
offering of
common
stock, ne
Convert
preferred
stock
common
stock upot
public
offering
Stock option
exercisec
Warrants
exercisec
Stock based
compense
Net loss
Foreign
currency
translatior
adjustmer
December
31, 2013
Public
offering of
common
stock, ne
Issuance of
shares
under
equity
plans
Stock option
exercisec
Warrants
exercisec

Preferred Stock

Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)
Years ended December 2012, 2013 and 2014
(in thousands)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional other
Number of Number of paid-in comprehensive  Accumulated Stockholders
shares Amount shares Amount capital gain deficit equity
4,341 $ 94,37 265 % 1,06¢ $ 4,23¢  $ 1,97 $ (80,97) $ 20,67¢
1,20¢ 10,99 - - - - - 10,99¢
- - 1 5 - - - 5
- - - - 161 - - 161
- - - - 73 - - 73
- - - - - - (945) (945)
= - - - - 44 — 44
5547 $ 105,36 266 $ 1,072 $ 4,46¢ $ 2,01¢ $ (8191) $ 31,00¢
- - 3,60( 3 31,44¢ - - 31,44¢
(5,607) (105,80 8,73¢ (1,217 107,01: - - -
- - 29 87 86 - - 178
54 434 10 6C - - - 494
- - - - 1,01z - - 1,012
- - - - - - (1,406 (1,40¢6)
— — — - — 34¢ — 34¢€
- % - 12,64: $ 13 $ 144,020 $ 2,36 3 (83,32) $ 63,077
- - 2,02t 2 45,67¢ - - 45,68
- - 33 - - - - -
- - 10¢ - 36& - - 36&
- - 19 - - - - -



Stock based
compense
Net income
Foreign
currency
translatior
adjustmer
December
31, 2014

- - - 2,04¢ - - 2,04¢
- - - - - 4,28: 4,28:
- - - - (439) - (439)
$ - 14,82¢ $ 15 $ 192,11: $ 1,928 $ (79,040 $ 11501

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Net income (loss

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rmesthcprovided by

(used in) operating activitie
Provision for obsolete invento
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on disposal of asst
Shar~based compensation and warrant exp:
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Bank acceptance receival
Inventory
Other current asse
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Investing activities
Purchase of shc-term investment
Purchase of property, plant and equiprn
Proceeds from disposal of equipm
Deposits and deferred charg
Purchase of intangible ass
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable anc-term deb:
Principal payments of lo-term debt and notes payal
Proceeds from line of credit borrowin
Repayments of line of credit borrowin
Proceeds from bank acceptance pay
Repayments of bank acceptance pay
Repayments of note payal
Repayments of shareholder loi
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢
Exercise of stock optior
Exercise of warrant
Proceeds from common stock offering,
Issuance of preferred stock, net
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase in cas
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid for:

Interest

Income taxe:
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Purchase of intangible assets with notes pay

Conversion of shareholders' loan to 72,381 shdrssres G
preferred stocl

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

2014 2013 2012
$ 4,28: (1,406 $ (94E)
941 492 85¢
6,16¢ 3,407 2,94:
12 1 36
2,061 1,06¢ 161
(9,709 (8,457) (1,15¢)
(977) 1,03¢ (1,032
(16,10%) (7,520) (53¢)
(74E) (4,622) (261)
18,75¢ 8,07¢ (961)
2,54¢ 1,36¢ 542
7,24 (6,552) (35¢)
(24€) (7,970) -
(41,129 (9,600) (3,175
47 - 13¢
(720) (43) (41)
(3,340) (129) (209)
(45,38%) (17,730 (3,290)
8,15( 2,851 84t
(8,076) (285) (707)
53,65¢ 23,19: 15,56(
(50,739 (23,009) (13,697
5,92t 6,77¢ 3,74¢
(6,986) (6,026) (2,894
(1,000) - -
- - (150)

26€ (249) (199)
365 172 5

- 494 -
45,68: 31,44¢ -
- - 10,23+
47,25( 35,36¢ 12,75¢
1,06¢ 202 (150)
10,16¢ 11,28: 8,95¢
22,00¢ 10,72: 1,761
$ 32,17 22,006 $ 10,72:
$ 32¢ 1,13:  $ 1,46¢
14¢ 1 -
3,00( - -
- - 76C
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Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A—ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS

Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. (“AOI” or the “Compgh was incorporated in the State of Texas on Faty@8, 1997. The Company
is a leading, vertically integrated provider ofdikoptic networking products, primarily for threetworking end-markets: cable television,
fiber-to-the-home and internet data centers. The@amy designs and manufactures a range of optoaiunications products at varying
levels of integration, from components, subassesaldind modules to complete turn-key equipment.

Prime World International Holdings, Ltd. (“Prime W) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compamgarporated in the British
Virgin Islands on January 13, 2006. Prime Worlthiss parent company of Global Technology, Inc. (16zil3). Global was established in June
2002 in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") avak acquired by Prime World on March 30, 2006. Tbenpany also operates a division,
AOI—Taiwan, which is qualified to do business inwan and primarily manufactures transceivers antbpms research and development
activities.

NOTE B—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Basis of Presentatio

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of the Company and all of its wholly-owrsedbsidiaries and are prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generatlgepted in the United States of America (GAAP).ilercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

2. Use of Estimate

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires management to make estimaibesassumptions that affe
the amounts reported. Actual results could diffenf those estimates in the consolidated finanté&ésents and accompanying notes.
Significant estimates and assumptions that impeesd financial statements relate to, among otlmggthallowance for doubtful accounts,
inventory reserve, share-based compensation expestimated useful lives of property and equipmant taxes.

3. Foreign Currency Translatio

All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaras translated into U.S. dollars at the exchanggeas of the balance sheet date.
Revenue and expense accounts are translated dtteakigverage rates for the reporting period. Tediwsl adjustments do not impact the
results of operations and are reported as a sepasatponent of stockholders’ equity. Foreign curyeinansaction gains and losses are
included in the consolidated statements of oparatio

4, Fair Value

The carrying value of cash, cash equivalents and-¢&rm investments, accounts receivable, accquayable, and note receivable
approximate their historical fair values due tatlsbort-term maturities. The carrying value of thebt approximates its fair value due to the
short-term nature of the debt since it renews feety at current interest rates. Management bedi¢vat the interest rates in effect at each
year end represent the current market rates fatagitiorrowings.

The fair value measurement standard defines faievas the price that would be received to seligset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market partidipahthe measurement date. The standard charasténputs used in determining fair value
according to a hierarchy that prioritized inputsdxon the degree to which they are observablethfae levels of the fair value hierarchy
as follows:

Level 1—Inputs represent quoted prices in activeketa for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices includethiniLevel 1 that are observable for the asseiability, either directly
or indirectly. These include quoted prices for imassets or liabilities in active markets andtgdgrices for identical or similar

assets or liabilities in markets that are not a&ctiv

Level 3—Inputs that are not observable from objectiources, such as management’s internally desélapsumptions
used in pricing an asset or liability.

Assets and liabilities that are required to be¥ailued on a recurring basis include money marked$, marketable securities, equity
instruments and contingent consideration.

Money market funds are valued with Level 1 inpuing quoted market prices, and are included ih easl cash equivalents on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets.



5. Cash and Cash Equivaler

The Company considers all highly liquid securitigth an original maturity of ninety days or lessrfr the date of purchase to be
cash equivalents. Cash in foreign accounts waappately $4.6 million and $6.6 million at Decemi#dr, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalektsSafinancial institutions for which the combinadcount balances in individt
institutions may exceed Federal Deposit Insurarmp@ation (“FDIC”) insurance coverage and, assaltethere is a concentration of credit
risk related to amounts on deposit in excess ofFiDsurance coverage. As of December 31, 2014 pappately $25.4 million of U.S.
deposits were not covered by FDIC insurance. Thagamy has not experienced any losses and belieigesdt exposed to any significant
risk with such accounts.
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6. Restricted Cash/Compensating Balan

The Company is required to maintain a compensatéposit equal to 30% of its bank acceptance notesridors with a China bar
The Company’s Taiwan subsidiary also uses time siepfor customs guarantees. As of December 314 28dl 2013, the amount of
restricted cash was $0.5 million and $0.8 millimspectively.

7. Shor-Term Investmeni

The Company invests its excess cash in bank oatifs of deposit. As of December 31, 2014, the Goypmvested $8.2 million in
certificates of deposit in RMB currencies with Taiwbanks. The maturity dates range from 6 monti2 tmonths.

The Company arranged a revolving line of credieagrent with the same Taiwan bank by pledging 10Das certificates of
deposit. As of December 31, 2014, the pledgedfiumtie of deposit for such arrangement amount i $@llion.

8. Accounts Receivable/Allowance for Doubtful Acco

The Company carries its accounts receivable atéh@mount that it estimates to be collectible.aflawance for uncollectable
accounts is maintained through a charge againsatpes. The allowance is determined by managenesigw of outstanding amounts per
customer, historical payments and the aging of auiso

9. Bank Acceptance Receival

The Company carries its bank acceptance receivablase value or discounted value if they areimistrest bearing. The maturity
date of the receivables are all within one yeaheforiginal issuance date and are carried atvakee.

10. Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Custos

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk includsttg cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. The Company places all casltash equivalents with high-credit quality finalénstitutions.

The Company performs ongoing credit valuationgo€ustomers’ financial condition whenever deemeckssary and generally
does not require deposits or collateral to suppastomer receivables. The historical amount ofdess1 uncollectible accounts has been
within the Companys estimates. The Company generates much of itsueviecom a limited number of customers. In 2014,28nd 2012, it
top ten customers represented 87.2%, 76.9% an@o/at&ts revenue, respectively. In 2014, Amazorrespnted 45.8% of its revenue, Cisco
Systems, Inc. represented 8.9% of its revenue d@alding internet service provider represented 67 #s total revenue. The five largest
receivable balances for customers representedgegate of 70%, and 66% of total accounts receévabDecember 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.
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11. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (avex@gst method) or market. Work in process andHitisgoods includes materials,
labor and allocated overhead. The Company asstssgaluation of its inventory on a periodic baaisl provides write-offs for the value of
estimated excess and obsolete inventory basedtiomagss of future demand.

12. Property, Plant and Equipme

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cesgfraccumulated depreciation and amortizatio Tbmpany calculates
depreciation using the straight-line method overftilowing estimated useful lives:

Useful lives
Buildings 20- 40 years
Land improvement 10 years
Machinery and equipme 3- 20 years
Furniture and fixture 1- 8 years
Computer equipment and softw 3-7 years

The shorter of the life of the applicable lease or
Leasehold improvemen the useful life of the improveme

Transportation equipme 5 years

Major improvements are capitalized and expendittoemaintenance and repairs are expensed as @ttuConstruction in progress
represents property, plant and equipment undettieani®n or being installed. Costs include originasét, installation, construction and other
direct costs which include interest on borrowingedito finance the asset. Construction in progsetsansferred to the appropriate fixed asset
account and depreciation commences when the aaséElen substantially completed and placed in®rvi

Land use rights allow the Company rights for 50rgea certain land in Ningbo, China on which thex@@any built a facility that
included office space, manufacturing operations@ngloyee dormitories. The land use rights arerdsmbat cost and are amortized on the
straight-line basis over the useful life of theatetl contract. The land use rights expire on Octép2054.

13. Intangible Asset

Intangible assets consist of intellectual propémnit is stated at cost less accumulated amortizafis of December 31, 2014, the
Company had 152 total patents issued. The cogtsrattto obtain such patents have been capitadindcare being amortized over an
estimated life of 20 years. The Company periodyoa¥laluates its intangible assets to determine lveletvents or changes in circumstances
indicate that a patent or trademark may not beiegdpe to the Company’s current products or isar@er in use. If such a determination is
made, the intangible asset is impaired and theiréngavalue of the patent or trademark will be exped at that time.
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14, Impairment of Lon-Lived Asset

The Company accounts for impairment of long-livededs in accordance with Accounting Standards @adidn (“ASC”) 360,
Property, Plant and Equipme, (“ASC 360"). Long-lived assets consist primailfyproperty, plant and equipment. In accordancé wit
ASC 360, the Company periodically evaluates ltimgd assets whenever events or changes in cireunoass indicate that the carrying amc
of an asset may not be recoverable. When triggeveqt indicators are present, the Company obtgipsaisals on an asset by asset basis,
and will recognize an impairment loss when the sfithe appraised values is less than the carryimguats of such assets. The appraised
values, based on reasonable and supportable assasand projections, require subjective judgmeddepending on the assumptions and
estimates used, the appraised values projectdxt ievaluation of long-lived assets can vary withitange of outcomes. The appraisals
consider the likelihood of possible outcomes iredeining the best estimate for the value of thetsss

The measurement for such an impairment loss iskhsad on the fair value of the asset as deternhipdide appraisals.
15. Comprehensive Income (Lo:

ASC 220,Comprehensive Incomg“ASC 220") establishes rules for reporting angbthy of comprehensive income and its
components. ASC 220 requires that unrealized gaiddosses on the Company’s foreign currency tatiosl adjustments be included in
comprehensive income.

16. Share-based Compensatic

The Company accounts for share-based compensatawcordance with the provisions of ASC 7C8mpensation—Stock
Compensation Share-based compensation expense is recogniged ba the estimated grant date fair value, nahafstimated forfeiture
rate, in order to recognize compensation costtfose shares expected to vest. Compensation aestoignized on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period of the options.

17. Revenue Recognitic

The Company derives revenue from the manufactulesale of fiber optic networking products. Revernemognition follows the
criteria of ASC 605Revenue RecognitiarSpecifically, the Company recognizes revenue wiersuasive evidence exists of an arrangement
with a customer, usually in the form of a customerchase order; performance obligations have batsfied; title and risk of loss have
transferred to the customer; the price is fixedeterminable; and collectability is reasonably esduThe Company may offer units (samp
to current and potential customers at no chargevaluation or qualification purposes. Such samplés are expensed as selling or research
and development costs when shipped.

18 Product Warranty

The Company generally offers a one-year limitedraaty for its products but it can extend for longeriods of three to five years
for certain products sold to certain customers. Thmpany estimates the costs that may be incurrddriits basic limited warranty and
records a liability for the amount of such costthattime when product defective occurs. Factamsdffect the Company’s warranty liability
include the historical and anticipated rates ofrewatty claims and cost to repair. While we beligvwat bur warranty accrual is adequate, our
actual warranty costs may exceed the accrual,afastles will increase in the future. As of Decenti, 2014 and 2013, the amount of
accrued warranty was $247,000 and $0, respectively.

19. Advertising Cost
Advertising costs are charged to operations agiadiand amounted to approximately $100,000, $0®1ahd $80,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respeactivel
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20. Research and Developme

Research and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred. The Company receives reimburaefoe certain developme
costs, which are capitalized when incurred, uphéreimbursable amount.

21. Income Taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbethe provisions of ASC 740, Income Taxes. Tiakility method is used 1
account for deferred income taxes. Under the lighihethod, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesraeasured using the enacted tax rates and
laws that will be in effect when the differences akpected to reverse. The ability to realize defetax assets is evaluated annually and a
valuation allowance is provided if it is unlikelyat the deferred tax assets will not give riseutare benefits in our tax returns

The Company records uncertain tax positions in @zrwe with ASC 740 on the basis of a two-stepgssdn which (1) it
determines whether it is more likely than not tiwat tax positions will be sustained on the basitheftechnical merits of the position and (2)
for those tax positions that meet the more-likdélgrtnot recognition threshold, it recognizes the largesount of tax benefit that is more tt
50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimatelseetent with the related tax authority.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiessrbtatunrecognized tax benefits on the income xaemse line in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operatidoued interest and penalties are included omdlated tax liability line in the
consolidated balance sheet.

22. New Accounting Standards Adopted in this Re

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsf@dqaFASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ((RBNo. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Custom(*ASU 2014-09"). The standard provides companiethaisingle model for use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers aqp@ssedes current revenue recognition guidanckidimg industry-specific revenue
guidance. The core principle of the model is tmggize revenue when control of the goods or sesvi@nsfers to the customer, as oppos
recognizing revenue when the risks and rewardsfieamo the customer under the existing revenudamge. ASU 2014-09 is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after Decembel016. Early adoption is not permitted. The gn@apermits companies to either apply
the requirements retrospectively to all prior pdsipresented, or apply the requirements in the gieadoption, through a cumulative
adjustment. The Company is in the process of etialyéhe impact of adoption on its consolidatedhfinial statements.

23. Reverse Stock Sp

In May 1, 2013, the Company’s board of directorgraped, and holders of the requisite number oftantting shares of our capital
stock approved on May 21, 2013, an amendment teertificate of incorporation to effect a reversac& split with respect to our securities.
Based on the prior board and stockholder approwalgyugust 16, 2013 the Company’s board of directimtermined that the ratio for the
reverse stock split would be 30-to-one. The revstsek split was effected on August 20, 2013, thie dhat the amendment to our certificate
of incorporation was filed with the Delaware Seargtof State. The reverse stock split is refledtetthe accompanying consolidated financial
statements and related notes on a retroactive fosisadl periods presented.
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NOTE C—EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic net loss per share has been computed usingdighted-average number of shares of common statsitanding during the
period. Diluted net loss per share has been cordpugiag the weighted-average number of sharesrofraan stock and dilutive potential
common shares from options, restricted stock wmitswarrants outstanding during the period. Ingasriwith net losses, normally dilutive
shares become anti-dilutive. Therefore, basic adlutive earnings per share are the same.

The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted EPS:

Year ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share date

Numerator:

Net income (loss $ 4,28: $ (1,400 $ (945)
Denominator

Weighted average shares used to compute net inloss3 per shar

Basic 14,30 9,96¢ 26€

Effective of dilutive options and warrar 88C — —

Diluted 15,18’ 9,96¢ 26€
Net income (loss) per shs

Basic $ 03C % (0149 $ (3.56)

Diluted $ 0.2t $ 019 $ (3.5€)

The following potentially dilutive securities weegcluded from the computation of diluted net loss ghare as their effect would
have been antidilutive:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Employee stock optior - 59t 41¢
Preferred stock warran 33 96
Restricted stock units 33 -
661 51t
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NOTE D—INVENTORIES

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, inventories corssisteéhe following:

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Raw materials $ 16,24: $ 8,83:
Work in proces: 13,37¢ 8,70¢
Finished goods 4,15¢ 2,06¢
$ 33,78 % 19,60¢

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 arl] #tH lower of cost or market adjustment experigethventory was

$0.9 million, $0.5 million and $0.9 million, respaely.

NOTE E—PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, property, planteandpment consisted of the following:

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Land improvement $ 102 $ 10¢
Building and improvement 16,19¢ 16,01¢
Machinery and equipme 61,52¢ 37,49(
Furniture and fixture 1,93¢ 1,043
Computer equipment and softwi 4,712 3,56:
Transportation equipment 27C 18¢
84,74¢ 58,407

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (32,417 (28,145
52,33¢ 30,26

Construction in progress 11,371 13¢
Land 1,101 732
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 64,80¢ $ 31,13«

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ari] d6preciation expense of property, plant andmgent was $5.8 million

$3.3 million and $2.9 million, respectively.
NOTE F—INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, intangible assetsisted of the following:

2014

Accumulated

Intangible assets

Gross Amount amortization net
(in thousands)
Patents $ 496¢ $ 1,147 $ 3,821
Trademarks 14 (8) 6
Total intangible assets 4,98z (1,149 3,83:
2013
Accumulated Intangible assets
Gross Amount amortization net
(in thousands)
Patents $ 1632 $ (789 % 84¢
Trademarks 10 (7) 3
Total intangible assets 1,642 (797) 851
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For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ar®j a6iortization expense for intangible assetsuahed in general and
administrative expenses on the income statemerst$&56,000 $68,000 and $60,000, respectively. &hmining weighted average

amortization period for intangible assets is appnaxely 11 years.

In 2014 the Company acquired an intangible aseet fin unrelated company in the form of a licensetus patents related to
transceiver product technology. The weighted-awegagortization period for the license is 10 years.

At December 31, 2014, approximate amortization agpdor intangible assets was as follows (in thodsa

201¢
201¢
2017
201¢
201¢
thereafte

NOTE G—FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

$

35€
35€
35€
35¢€
35€
2,058

3,83¢

The following table presents a summary of the Camgjsafinancial instruments measured at fair valneagecurring basis as of

December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Quoted prices in Significant other
active markets for observable Significant
identical assets remaining inputs unobservable
(Level 1) (Level 2) inputs (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivale! $ 32,17F $ - $ 32,17¢
Restricted cas 50¢ - 50¢
Short term investmen 8,18¢ - 8,18¢
Notes receivable — 98C 98(
Total assets $ 40,87  $ 98C $ 41,85:
Liabilities:
Bank acceptance payable - $ 1,271 1,271
Total liabilities $ - $ 1,271 $ 1,271
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The following table presents a summary of the Camgjsafinancial instruments measured at fair valneagecurring basis as of

December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Quoted prices in Significant other
active markets for observable Significant
identical assets remaining inputs unobservable
(Level 1) (Level 2) inputs (Level 3) Total
Assets:

Cash and cash equivale! $ 22,006 % - 8 - 8 22,00¢

Restricted cas 77t - - 77t

Short term investments 7,97( — — 7,97(
Total assets $ 30,75  $ - $ - 3 30,75;
Liabilities:

Bank acceptance payable -  $ 2,34 - $ 2,341
Total liabilities $ - $ 2,347 $ - $ 2,347
NOTE H—NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Notes payable and long-term debt consisted ofahewing:
December 31, 201,
2014 2013
(in thousands)
Term loan with a U.S. bank with monthly paymentgofcipal and interest at prime plus

0.75% (floor rate: 4%), maturing November 15, 2 - 3,07¢
Revolving line of credit with a U.S. bank up to $1@0 with interest at LIBOR plus

2.75%, maturing July 15, 20: 15,00( 7,00(
Term loan with a U.S. bank with monthly paymentpofcipal and interest at LIBOR plus

2.75%, maturing July 31, 20: 5,00( 1,85(C
Revolving line of credit with a China bank up ta2&00 with interest at 108% of China Pr

rate which ranged from 6.48% in 20 - 7,05:
Revolving line of credit with a China bank up to 280 with interest ranged from 0.73% to

1.73% with various maturity dates from February%6@d March 201! 1,06¢ 2,41
Revolving line of credit with a Taiwan bank up 4,800 with interest at Taiwan Time

Deposit Interest Rate Index plus 0.41% or LIBORsAlW28% maturing on May 24, 20 3,53¢ 3,79t
Revolving line of credit with a Taiwan bank up 4,800 with interest at Taiwan Time

Deposit Interest Rate Index plus 0.41% or LIBORsdwWR8% maturing on June 15, 2( 3,60t -
Note payable to a finance company due in monthdtaliments with 4.95% interest, maturi

July 30, 201t 442 921

Total 28,64¢ 26,10¢
Less current portion (9,597 (17,18Y)
Long term portion $ 19,057 $ 8,92:
Bank Acceptance Payablt
Bank acceptance notes issued to vendors with apegoent interest rate, a 30% guarantee
deposit of $741, and maturity dates ranging fromuday 2015 to June 20: 1,271 2,34

The current portion of long-term debt is the amquatable within one year of the balance sheetafaieecember 31, 2014.
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Maturities of notes payable and long-term debtaaréollows for the future years ending Decembem3thousands):

2015 $ 9,591
2016 1,132
2017 16,13:
2018 1,132
2019 661
Total outstanding $ 28,64¢

The loan and security agreements with the U.S. asdfuire us to maintain certain financial covesaimcluding a minimum current
ratio and minimum annual EBITDA. Collateral for tbeS. bank loans and line of credit includes sulighy all of the assets of the
Company. As of December 31, 2014, the Company wasmpliance with all covenants contained in threg®eements.

On July 15, 2014, the Company renewed its revollimgyof credit with a U.S. bank, increasing theelfrom $7.0 million to $15.0
million, and extending the maturity date to July 2617. The interest rate on this line of credthis LIBOR Borrowing Rate plus 2.75%.

On July 31, 2014, the Company renewed its $5.0amitredit agreement with a U.S. bank, extendimgrnaturity date to July 31,
2019. The interest rate on this line of creditis LIBOR Borrowing Rate plus 2.75%.

The Company, through its China subsidiary, estabisRMB and USD currency lines of credit for $1@illion and $3.3 million,
respectively, with a China bank as of Decembe2B14. The interest rate for the RMB line of crédlit08% of the China prime rate. The
interest rate for the USD line of credit rangedrf.73% to 1.73%. These credit lines are revolliimgs that are renewable by its annivers
Collateral for the loans includes the land usetsghuilding and equipment located in China.

The Company extended its equipment financing ageeéf $1.0 million with a Taiwan bank in 2013. Tieancing agreement
required equipment collateral. The agreement reguitonthly installment payments over 24 monthseamut$ in July 2015. The financing
agreement bears interest at the rate of 4.95%.

The Company, through its Taiwan branch, establisivedb4.0 million revolving lines of credit with ean banks in 2013 totaling
$8.0 million. The financing agreements requireateital of its time deposits of $8.0 million thatrisluded in short-term investment. The two
revolving lines of credit bear interest at a rathi¢h adjusts quarterly) equal to the Taiwan TinmepBsit Interest Rate Index plus 0.41%,
currently 1.78%, and at a base rate equal to TAIBQR 1%, currently 1.75%. As of December 31, 2&41 million was outstanding under
these credit facilities.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had $14.3amitf unused borrowing capacity.
NOTE |—SHORT-TERM LOAN WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In 2010, the Company borrowed $3.2 million fromstareholders under the terms of unsecured prorgisede agreements. These
notes bore an interest rate of 6% with maturityedatf 18 months from the effective dates of thesioriginally maturing on October 21,
2011, but extended to December 31, 2012. The radtkefs were also issued warrants that expire byl 28r 2020, to purchase 51,200 shares
of the Company’s Series F Preferred Stock, witlexercise price of $7.50 per share. As part of tla@ Imaturity date extension, additional
warrants to purchase 6,081 shares of the Comp&weyies G Preferred Stock were issued in 2011 witbxarcise price of $18.00 per share
that expire on April 23, 2020.

In 2011, two of the note holders converted thespeetive notes into shares of Series G PrefermekS$ind four of the notes were
repaid in full. In 2012, five of the remaining ndtelders converted their respective notes intoeshaf Series G Preferred Stock and one ¢
notes was repaid. As of December 31, 2012, alcjpal and interest related to these notes had héigrsatisfied.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warratased to these loans were exercised for 64,21@sld common stock.
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NOTE J—ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following as@ecember 31:

Accrued payrol

Accrued employee benefi
Accrued income taxe
Accrued state and local tax
Advance payment

Accrued product warrani
Accrued other

NOTE K—OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE

Other income and expense consisted of the followsgf December 31:

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (lo
Realized foreign exchange gain (lo
Government subsidy incon

Other nor-operating gain (loss

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets

NOTE L—INCOME TAXES

The sources of our income or loss from operatiaisre income taxes were as follows:

Domestic $
Foreign (loss) income

Total income (loss)

2014 2013
(in thousands)
$ 3,66z $ 2,27¢
80¢ 48¢
52 -
33C 27C
52¢ 12¢
247 -
1,31 1,34¢
$ 6,94C $ 4,51t
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
$ (1,299 $ (342) $ 217
297 (70) (79
271 322 92
44 4 38
(12) 8 (37)
$ 699 $ (718) $ 231
Year ended December 31
2013 2012
(in thousands)
1,22¢ % (684 $ (3,077
3,25¢€ (722) 2,132
$ 4,48 $ (1,406 $ (945)
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The provision for income tax expense for the yeaied December 31, is as follows:

2014 2013 2012

Current: (in thousands)

Federa $ 19 $ - $ -
State 6 - -
Foreign - - -
Total $ 19¢  $ - 3 -
Deferred:

Federa $ - 3 - 3 -
State - - -
Foreign - - -
Total $ - $ - $ —
Income tax expense $ 19¢  $ - 3 =

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities restttgipally from net operating losses, different hads of recognizing depreciation,
reserve for doubtful accounts, inventory resereeobsolescence and accrued vacation, togethettiwithg differences between book and
reporting. At December 31, the net deferred tartasand liabilities are comprised of the followgproximate amounts:

2014 2013
(in thousands)

NOL carryforward $ 12,26¢ $ 14,90¢
Inventory reserve 67€ 48¢
AMT credit 224 -
Unrealized gains and loss 47C -
Stock compensatia 55C 624
Fixed assets and intangibl (1,539 (1,637
Impairment los: - (615)
Other 25 33¢

12,67+ 14,11(
Less valuation allowance (12,679 (14,110
Deferred tax assets, net $ - $ =

The valuation allowance was established to redueeéferred tax asset for the amount that willjikeot be realized. This reduction
is primarily necessary due to the uncertainty ef@ompany’s ability to utilize all of the net openg loss carry forwards. The valuation
allowance decreased by $1.5 million in 2014 andetsed by $7.5 million in 2013. The decrease iM204s primarily the result of current
year changes in deferred income tax assets arilitiés) The 2013 decrease was primarily due teduction of the deferred tax asset for
U.S. net operating losses, as a consequence oh#imges in ownership discussed below.

The Company has a U.S. net operating loss carwafia of approximately $56.5 million, which expifestween 2020 and 2032. The
Company has a net operating loss carryforward ftsr@hina operations of approximately $5.7 millirhich expires between 2015 and
2019. Utilization of net operating losses and taedit carry forwards are subject to a substantiaual limitation due to the ownership change
limitations set forth in Internal Revenue Code #er882. Based upon analysis performed with resjge$ection 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code, approximately $21.6 million of the total dable U.S. net operating loss carry forwards an@ $dillion of U.S. research and
development credits will not be available for atilfion as an offset to taxable income in futuréqusr. Because of changes in control that are
deemed to have occurred under Section 382, the Gayfpnet operating loss carry forward availableafendar year 2014 to offset taxable
income was limited to $40.7 million, with an addital $3.4 million becoming available between 2048 2025. The additional $3.4 million
subject to an annual limitation of the $0.3 milligxdditional ownership changes could result inélpiration of the net operating loss and tax
credit carryforward before utilization.
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The Company has approximately $0.6 million of waltifax benefits from previous stock option exegsithat have not been
recognized as of December 31, 2014. This amouhnwilbe recognized until the deduction would redoar U.S. income taxes payable. At
such time, the amount will be recorded as an irseréa paid-in-capital. The Company uses ASC 74enimd when determining when excess
tax benefits have been realized.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction and various states and foreigrsglictions. As of December 31,
2014, the Company’s U.S. and China federal retfonthe year ended December 31, 2011 through thremtuperiod are still open to
examination. In addition, all of the net operatiogses and research and development credit campafds that may be utilized in future years
are still subject to examination. With few exceptipas of December 31, 2014, the Company is neelosigbject to examinations by tax
authorities in Taiwan for the taxable years beR0&3. The Company is not currently subject to fe8eral, state and local, or non-U.S.
income tax examinations by any tax authorities.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal income taxeraf 34% for the years ended December 31, to thep@ay’s effective income tax
rate follows:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Expected (benefit) taxe $ 1522 % (467 $ (299
Non-deductible expenst 13¢ 61¢ (760)
Foreign rate difference 29t - -
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowa (1,729 (7,539 1,54t
Section 382 limitatiol - 7,42: -
Other (29) (42) (492
Tax expense $ 19¢  $ - $ -

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Prime Wasl@ tax-exempt entity under the Income Tax Codi@British Virgin
Islands.

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Global Tealbgy, Inc., has enjoyed preferential tax concessia China as a national
high-tech enterprise. In March 2007, China’s panként enacted the PRC Enterprise Income Tax LatheoEIT Law, under which, effective
January 1, 2008, China adopted a uniform incomeatexof 25% for all enterprises including foreigmested enterprises. Global Technolc
Inc. was recognized as a National high-tech eritapn 2008 and was entitled to a 15% tax ratefthree year period from November 2008
to November 2011. In 2011, Global Technology, heciewed its National high-tech enterprise certiiand was therefore extended its three
year tax preferential status from November 201Mdoember 2014. An application to extend the taxgyemtial status to September 2017
been approved by the Chinese government.

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013pthkamount of unrecognized tax benefit was $lilsam and $2.2 million,
respectively. The following is a tabular recongiba of the total amounts of unrecognized tax bigsief

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)

Unrecognized tax benefit— January 1 $ 220 $ 0 $ 0
Gross increase— tax positions in prior perio 1,65¢ 2,20( -
Gross decreas+— tax positions in prior perio (2,200) - -
Gross increase— tax positions in current peric - - -
Settlement: - - -
Lapse of statute of limitations - - -
Unrecognized tax benefit— December 31 $ 1,65¢ $ 2200 $ 0

As of December 31, 2014, we had $1.6 million ofazmgnized tax benefits related to US tax beneditegnized for prior branch
losses and research and development credits. Beagmber 31, 2013, we had $2.2 million of unrecpeghitax benefits related to US tax
benefits recognized for prior year branch losdésecognized, there would be no impact our effectiax rate as a result of the full valuation
allowance previously recognized. We believe that rfeasonably possible that $0.3 million of ounaéning unrecognized tax positions may
be recognized by the end of 2015.

The Company recognizes interest accrued relatedriecognized tax benefits and penalties as incamexpense. Related to the

unrecognized tax benefits noted above, it has caruad penalties or interest during 2014 as atre$ulet operating losses. During 2013, the
Company also accrued no penalties or interest.
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NOTE M—SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Equity Plans
The Company’s board of directors and stockholdpps@ved the following equity plans:

« the 1998 Share Incentive Plan
« the 2000 Share Incentive Plan
« the 2004 Share Incentive Plan
« the 2006 Share Incentive Plan
« the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (2013 Plan”)

The Company issues stock options to employeesuttanss and non-employee directors. Stock optioarde/generally vest over a
four year period and have a maximum term of temsyestock options under these plans have beeneagravith an exercise price equal to the
fair market value on the date of the grant. Nonifjedl and Incentive Stock Options and restrictit@ck units (“RSUs”) may be granted from
these plans. Prior to the Company’s initial publitering, the fair market value of the Companyscét had been historically determined by
the board of directors and from time to time whi fassistance of third party valuation specialists.

Stock Options

Options have been granted to the Company’s empsoyeder the five incentive plans and generally berexercisable as to 25% of
the shares on the first anniversary date follovtivgdate of grant and semi-annually thereafterofptions expire ten years after the date of
grant.

The following is a summary of option activity:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Average Fair Contractual Aggregate
shares Exercise Price Value Life Intrinsic Value
(in thousands, except price data)
Outstanding, January 1, 20 377 $ 5.8¢
Grantec 88 6.0C
Exercisec (@D} 6.2¢ 4
Forfeited (19 6.0C
Expired (26) 5.3C
Outstanding, December 31, 20 41¢ 5.94
Grantec 1,09¢ 9.21
Exercisec (29 5.87 17¢
Forfeited (16) 7.1C
Expired (5 5.9¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 1,46¢ 8.3¢ 4.17 9,731
Grantec 10€ 13.8¢ 7.24 -
Exercisec (209 6.22 2.57 1,47¢
Forfeited (49 8.2t 5.4 62¢
Expired @ 6.21 2.21 11
Outstanding, December 31, 201« 1,42 $ 8.9¢ 4.4¢ 8.097 $ 3,48¢
Exercisable, December 31, 2014 537 % 7.6¢ 3.24 7.31¢  $ 1,89¢
Vested and expected to vest 1397 3 8.9/ 4.4¢ 8.087 $ 3,44¢
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The following table summarizes information abow tptions outstanding at December 31, 2014:

Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of remaining Weighted Number of remaining Weighted
Range of exercist shares contractual average shares contractual average
prices outstanding life (years) exercise price exercisable life (years) exercise price
(in thousands, except price data)
$6.00- $6.75 274 6.047 $ 6.0C 24% 5.90¢ $ 6.0C
$6.76- $8.25 29¢ 8.04t 7.5C 10€ 8.03¢ 7.5C
$8.26- $9.48 3 8.27¢ 9.0C 1 8.27¢ 9.0C
$9.49- $11.55 747 8.73¢ 9.9¢ 187 8.73¢ 9.9¢
$11.56- $13.49 1 8.80¢ 13.1¢ - 8.80¢ 13.1¢
$13.50 - $13.84 10C 9.08( 13.8/ - - -
Total . lax 8.097 % 89€ ____ 5% 7.31¢  $ 7.6¢

As of December 31, 2014, there was approximatel9 88llion of unrecognized stock option expense,afestimated forfeitures,
which is expected to be recognized over 2.61 years.

Restricted Stock Uni
The following is a summary of RSU activity:
Weighted Average

Number of shares Fair Value
(in thousands, except price data
Outstanding at January 1, 20 - -
Grantec 33 % 10.0¢
Exercised/Release -
Cancelled/Forfeited

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 33

$ 10.0¢
Grantec 25 % 18.4¢
Exercised/Release (33 % 10.57
Cancelled/Forfeited 4 3% 18.2(
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 21 g 18.2:

The aggregate intrinsic value of RSUs outstandirigezember 31, 2014 was $0.2 million. Unrecognizehpensation expense
related to these RSU’s at December 31, 2014 wdsrion. This expense is expected to be recoghtaeer 1.48 years.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense oaighstline basis over the applicable vesting tefrthe award.
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The Company estimates the fair value of employeeksbptions at the date of the grant using the IBBcholes optiorpricing mode
with the following assumptions:

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 52% 52 to 70% 70%
Risk-free interest rat 1.89% 0.96% to 2.97% 1.01%
Expected term (year: 6.25 6.25 6.25
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Estimated forfeiture 7.5% 7.5% 10%

As there had been no market for the Company’s camstack prior to its initial public offering, thexgected volatility for options
granted to date was derived from an analysis ainted data for a peer group of companies that ¢ssp&ons with similar terms. The
expected volatility has been determined using @namge of the expected volatility reported by ttéempgroup of companies. The Company
uses a risk free interest rate based on the 107yeasury as reported during the period. The expeielrm of the options has been determined
utilizing the simplified method which calculatesienple average based on vesting period and ogfmnllhe Company does not anticipate
paying dividends in the near future. Estimatedeituies are based on historical experience andeguwtork force projections.

Employee share-based compensation expenses reeddoizhe years ended December 31, were as fallows

Shar-Based compensatic- by expense typ

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Cost of goods sol $ 88 $ 56 $ 7
Research and developmt 11¢F 53 8
Sales and marketir 98 52 9
General and administrative 1,76( 90¢ 137
Total share-based compensation expense $ 2,061 $ 1,06¢ $ 161
Shar-Based compensatic- by award type
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Employee stock optior $ 166 $ 79 $ 14C
Restricted stock unit 38t 22C -
Warrants 16 56 21
Total share-based compensation expense $ 2061 $ 1,06¢ $ 161

NOTE N—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock
The Company has authorized the issuance of up,@@®00 shares of common stock, all of which Haaen designated voting

common stock, under its Amended and Restated {attfof Incorporation.
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Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company has authorized the issuance of uP@DH00 shares of preferred stock under the Compadmgended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation.

Warrants
As of December 31, 2014, the Company had no outsigwarrants to purchase common or preferred stock
Public Offerings of Common Sta

On September 25, 2013, our registration statemeioom S-1 for our initial public offering was dartd effective by the Securities
and Exchange Commission. The offering commence8aptember 26, and the Company sold 3.6 millioneshaf its common stock in its
initial public offering at a price of $10.00 perash, providing proceeds of $31.5 million, net opemses and underwriting discounts and
commissions. The Company’s initial public offericigsed on October 1, 2013.

On March 19, 2014, the Company sold 2.0 millionrehaf its common stock in a secondary offering ptice of $24.25 per share,
providing proceeds of $45.7 million, net of expenaad underwriting discounts and commissions. Témgany’s sale of 1.6 million shares
in the secondary offering closed on March 25, 2@id the Company’s sale of an additional 0.4 milsbares as a result of the underwriters’
exercise of their option to purchase additionateti@losed on March 28, 2014.

NOTE O—SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company operates in one reportable segmentCohrgany’s Chief Executive Officer, who is cons&této be the chief
operating decision maker, manages the Companyisatipes as a whole and reviews financial informatioesented on a consolidated basis,
accompanied by information about product revenoiepfirposes of evaluating financial performance @tatating resources.

The following tables set forth the Company’s reveand asset information by geographic region. Rexénclassified based on the

location of product manufacturing plants. Long-tivessets in the tables below comprise only proppknt, equipment and intangible assets
(in thousands):

For the year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenues (in thousands)
United State: $ 30,72: % 14,70  $ 12,19:
Taiwan 77,68( 31,86 15,20(
China 22,04¢ 31,85¢ 36,02¢
$ 130,44¢ $ 78,42: % 63,42]

As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Long-lived assets (in thousands)
United State: $ 15,87 $ 9,41t $ 8,96¢
Taiwan 35,68t¢ 7,192 3,71¢
China 18,00¢ 16,33: 13,59¢
$ 69,57 $ 32,94  $ 26,28(

The Company serves three primary markets, the CAdtérnet data center and FTTH markets. Of the Gomis total revenues in
2014, the Company earned $47.4 million, or 36.6%mfthe CATV market, $64.5 million, or 49.4%, frdhre internet data center market,
$13.6 million, or 10.4%, from the FTTH market, &0 million, or 3.9%, from other markets. Of ther@pany’s total revenues in 2013, the
Company earned $47.4 million, or 60.4%, from theT®Amarket, $19.4 million, or 24.7%, from the intetrdata center market, $4.4 million,
or 5.6% from the FTTH market, and $7.3 million, 208% from other markets.

F- 24




NOTE P—MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Company currently derives its revenues frontazuers in the United States and throughout theafetste world. Generally, the
Company does not require deposits or other codlatersupport customer receivables. The Companfppas an initial and periodic credit
evaluation of its customers and maintains an alimedgor uncollectible accounts for potential unedfible accounts. The historical amount of
losses on uncollectible accounts has been witl@rCthmpany’s estimates. The Company generates nidtshrevenue from a limited number
of customers. In 2014, 2013 and 2012, its top tetaeners represented 87.2%, 76.9% and 77.6% @vienue, respectively. In 2014,
Amazon represented 45.8% of its revenue, CiscceBystinc. represented 8.9% of its revenue anddiniganternet service provider
represented 6.7% of its total revenue. The fivgdat receivable balances for customers represantadgregate of 70%, and 66% of total
accounts receivable at December 31, 2014 and 2848ectively.

NOTE Q—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

On August 1, 2000, the Company established a 4Qit@t sharing plan covering employees meetingaierage and service
requirements. The plan provides for discretionaoynany contributions to be allocated based oniting@ayee’s eligible contributions. The
Company made a contribution of $0.2 million to #84 (k) plan for the year ended December 31, 20dd na contributions for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Employees of Global participate in a state-mandataial security program in China. Under this pamgy pension costs are recorded
on the basis of required monthly contributionsrimptoyees’ individual accounts during their serviggiods. Under the regulations of the
People’s Republic of China, Global is required @kenfixed contributions to a fund, which is undes aidministration of the local labor
departments. Employees of AOl—Taiwan participatea pension program under the Taiwan Labor PemstbnPension expense for Global
was $390,000, $384,000 and $244,000 in 2014, 26d2@12, respectively. Pension expense for AOl—&aiwas $291,000, $203,000 and
$168,000 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

NOTE R—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments

The Company conducts part of its operations framsée facilities and also leases equipment. Rerresgywas $0.8 million,
$0.6 million and $0.6 million for the years endeed@mber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

At December 31, 2014, the approximate minimum tesdenmitments under noncancellable leases in exafesse year that expire
varying dates through 2029 were as follows:

Year ending December 31 Amount
(in thousands)

2015 $ 92¢€
2016 86C
2017 80C
2018 882
2019 981
2020-2029 10,05¢

$ 14,50+

Employment Agreements and Consultancy Agreer

The Company has entered into employment and inderation agreements with three executive offic@ifsese agreements provide
that if their employment is terminated as a resfii change of control of the Company, or if tr@rployment is terminated for certain other
reasons set forth in the agreements, the Compdhiemiequired to pay a severance payment in aruatequal to their annual base salary,
and other additional compensation due under tmesteff the agreements.
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The Company has also entered into employment aflrinification agreements with two other executiffcers. These agreements
provide that if their employment is terminated assult of a change of control of the Company,Gloenpany will be required to pay a
severance payment in an amount equal to their eirtins of their annual base salary, and other ad@iticompensation due under the tern
the agreements.

In 2012, the Company entered into consulting agesgswith two of its shareholders and board memtoera period of one year
from June 2012 to June 2013. Each agreement ptlidé a consulting fee will be paid to the coremtlwithin 30 days after submission of
the invoice by the consultant. The Company incu$@8,000 and $41,000 of consulting service fedhdee consultants in 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Contingencies

The Company may be party to litigation, claims ssessments in the ordinary course of business. gdéamant is not aware of any of
these matters that would have a material effec¢herfinancial condition, results of operations aslt flows of the Company.

NOTE S—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company had the following related parties atitis with its shareholders:

For the year ended December 3.
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Interest expens $ - $ - $ 36
Consulting service fee - 35 41

NOTE T—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
We have evaluated subsequent events through thetgafinancial statements were available to heeigs

On January 6, 2015, the Company entered into aitedility Agreement (the “Credit Facility”) wit€ TBC Bank Co. Ltd. in
Taipei, Taiwan (the “Bank”) for 90,000,000.00 NTRgw Taiwan Dollars), one year revolving credit fitgi Borrowings under the Credit
Facility will be used for general corporate purposene Company’s obligations under the Credit Rgicdre unsecured. Borrowings under the
Credit Facility will bear interest at a rate basedthe Bank’s corporate interest rate swap indes f15%, adjusted monthly. As of the
execution of the Credit Facility the Bank’s corperaterest rate swap index is 0.91%. The Creditlliacontains representations and
warranties, affirmative, restrictive and finanaialvenants, and events of default (applicable taCtimpany) which are customary for credit
facilities of this type.

On January 26, 2015, the Company entered into streation loan agreement with East West Bank fotou$22.0 million dollars to
finance the construction of its campus expansian pi Sugar Land, Texas. The loan will have adiftenonth draw down period with
monthly interest payments commencing on Februay®@65 and ending April 26, 2016. Thereafter, thiére outstanding principal balance
shall be converted to a sixtyne month term loan with principal and interesgmpants due monthly amortized over three hundredthsor he
first principal and interest payment is due on N&y 2016 and will continue the same day of eachtmtirereafter. The final principal and
interest payment is due on January 26, 2022 andneilide all unpaid principal and all accrued amgaid interest. The Company may pay
without penalty all or a portion of the amount ovesdlier than due. Under the loan agreement, the bears interest, at an annual rate based
on the one-month LIBOR Borrowing Rate plus 2.75ftconnection with the Company’s campus expansian,ghe Company finalized the
terms of its construction agreement with Skanska B8ilding Inc. on January 19, 2015.
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NOTE U—SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED )

The following tables set forth a summary of the @amy’s quarterly financial information for eachtbé four quarters for the years ended

December 31, 2014 and 2013.

First Second Third Fourth
Year ended December 31, 201 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenue $ 24,85¢  $ 32,65( $ 36,54¢ $ 36,39:
Cost of goods sold 16,20¢ 21,46: 24,40: 24,13:
Gross profit $ 8,65¢ $ 11,18 $ 12,14¢  $ 12,25¢
Gross margir 34.8% 34.3% 33.2% 33.7%
Operating expense
Research and developm:e $ 3,546 % 4,00¢ $ 4,19/ % 4,221
Sales and marketir 1,33 1,497 1,622 1,591
General and administrative 3,55¢ 3,95¢ 4,45¢ 5,131
Total operating expenses $ 8,43: $ 9,45¢  $ 10,27:  $ 10,94
Income from operation $ 22C % 1,73C % 1,872 % 1,31¢
Interest and other income (expense), net (110 274 (218 (602)
Net income before taxe $ 11¢ $ 2,00 $ 165 $ 714
Income taxes (25) (85) (77) (12
Net income $ 85 $ 191¢  $ 1577  $ 70z
Net income per sha—basic $ 001 % 0.1z % 011 % 0.0t
Net income per she—diluted $ 001 % 01z % 0.1C % 0.0t
First Second Third Fourth
Year ended December 31, 201 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenue $ 14317 % 19,597 $ 20,76¢  $ 23,744
Cost of goods sold 9,732 14,15( 14,44" 17,06¢
Gross profit $ 458t $ 5447  $ 6,321 $ 6,67¢
Gross margir 32.0% 27.8% 30.4% 28.1%
Operating expense
Research and developm:e $ 2,00 % 1,89¢ % 2,211 % 2,40(
Sales and marketir 907 1,05: 1,034 1,19¢
General and administrative 2,37¢ 2,447 2,43¢ 3,37¢
Total operating expenses $ 528t $ 539% $ 5681 $ 6,97
Income (loss) from operatiol $ (7000 $ 49 % 64C $ (297)
Interest and other income (expense), net (294) (331) (250) (223)
Net income (loss $ 999 $ (282 % 39C % (520
Net income (loss) per shi—basic $ (3.749 $ (1.09 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.09)
Net income (loss) per shi—diluted $ (3.79 $ (1.09 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.09)
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Contract No.: 1230

between
GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY INC.
as Borrower
and
CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK - NINGBO YINZHOU BRANCH

as Lender

Exhibit 10.29




ThisRMB Loan Agreement(the“ Contract”) is entered into in order for the company’s dailyeration expense [, including material
purchase payment and empla's salary] by and between:

GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY INC. , located at NO. 88, QIUSHI RD, WANGCHUN INDUSTRIARART, NINGBO, CHINA, P.C.315176

with CHIH-HSIANG LIN as its legal representativedaits fax number 88133820 and its telephone nurbb4f88133818 as borrower
(“Party A”) ; and

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK - NINGBO YINZHOU BRANCH , located at TAIKANG ZHONG RD S. COMMERCIAL AREA 2N

FL, GUOHUA INT'L BLDG NO. 500, 315040 witl as its principal officer and its fax number beirg880029 and its telephone number
being 87374267, as lenderRarty B ).




WHEREAS

(1)
(2)
1.

Party A wishes to apply to Party B for a loan, &adty B agrees to extend to Party A such loan.
NOW THEREFORE upon consultation in accordance w@afthlicable laws and regulations, both parties beagtee as follows:
LOAN AMOUNT
The amount of the loan that Party B provide s tdyP& hereunder shall be RMBee Schedule A {the “Loan ).
PURPOSE OF THE LOAN AND SOURCES OF FUNDS FOR REPAYMENT
Party A shall utilize the loan for the purposelwd toutine production operation.

The information relating to specific purposes affsipan under the Contract and sources of fundeefmyment shall be determined in
Schedule 1 ‘Loan Information .

TERM OF THE LOAN
The term of the Loan shall be 12 months, commenfting [see Schedule A] and expiring on [see Scredll(the “Term ).

Where the above commencement date is inconsisiéntive date set forth on the loan-to deposit fiegtie (the “LDC " or “Loan
Receipt”, the date set forth on the LDC for thetfadvance of the Loan shall be the commencemeéatodizhe Term and the expiry date
of the Term shall be adjusted accordingly. The LEW@ll constitute an integral part of the Contrant have the equal legal force as the
Contract.

INTEREST RATE ON THE LOAN, DEFAULT INTEREST RATE, | NTEREST CALCULATION AND SETTLEMENT
4.1 Interest Rate on the Loan (th&6an Rate”)

The Loan Rate hereunder shall be an annual raferietin item (2) below:

(1) afixed interest rate of % wihshall remain the same during the Term;

(2) [See Schedule Apn the date when interest commences to accrué (titerest Commencement Date). Such interest rate
shall remain the same during the Term; or

(3) afloating interest rate equalto  (100% atffappercentage of %) (theé-toating Percentag€’) of the Base Rate (as
defined below) on the date when interest commetwcascrue (the fnterest Commencement Daté). The Loan Rate shall,
during the period between the Interest Commenceiata and the date when all the principal amoudtiaterest accrued
thereon under the Contract have been fully refmdadjusted once every months in accordantbethe Base Rate on the
interest rate adjustment date and the Floatingeéaige. The interest rate adjustment date shalldate corresponding to the
Interest




Commencement Date in the month when such intesestjusted. If there is no such a date correspgridithe Interest
Commencement Date in such month, the adjustmeatfdathe interest rate shall be the last day ohsuonth.

4.2 Default Interest Rate

(1) If Party A does not use the Loan hereunder for psep set forth herein Misappropriation "), the default interest rate on
such Loan shall be ( 100% plus 100% ) of the LoateRIf the Loan Rate is adjusted according tocke#.1 (3) above, the
default interest rate shall be adjusted in accardavith the adjusted Loan Rate and the upwardifiggiercentage set out in
this Article 4.2 (1).

(2) The default interest rate on overdue Loan sha{l 180% plus 50 % ) of the Loan Rate. If the LoameRa adjusted according
to Article 4.1 (3) above, such default intereserstall be adjusted in accordance with the adjusbat Rate and the upward
floating percentage set out in this Article 4.2 (2)

(3) If Misappropriation and overdue payment occur corently, the default interest shall be calculated aompounded in
accordance with the higher of the two default ies¢rates provided for in Articles 4.2(1) and 4)2(&rein.

4.3 The Interest Commencement Date provided in thigcksrd refers to the date on which the proceedb@first advance have been
deposited into the loan disbursement account dategrin Article 6 (the f.oan Disbursement Account”).

For the first advance of the Loan, the B ase Refers to the lending interest rate quoted by tepie’s Bank of China (the “
PBOC ") on the Interest Commencement Date for loans thighsame tenor and within the same categoryelfeéhding interest
rate on other advances of the Loan is adjusteddordance with Article 4 .1 (3), the B ase R aferns to the lending interest rate
guoted by the PBOC on the interest rate adjustihatat for loans with the same tenor and within #Hraes category. If the PBOC
no longer publishes such lending interest rateBtéme Rate shall mean, unless agreed otherwis@betihie parties, the lending
interest rate with the same tenor and within theesaategory generally accepted by the banking inglos the interest rate
adjustment date or an interest rate commonly uzed foan with the same tenor and within the saategory.

4.4 The interest on the Loan shall commence to acsw# the date when such Loan proceeds have be@siteinto the Loan
Disbursement Account designated by Party A. Intesashe Loan shall be computed daily with thedaiterest rate equal to 1/360
of the annual interest rate. If Party A can not jpaigrest on the interest settlement date as peovigerein, the interest shall be
compounded as of the date immediately followingapplicable interest settlement date.

4.5 Interest Settlement
(1) For a loan subject to a fixed interest rate, therast accrued thereon shall be calculated in deoae with the agreed

fixed interest rate. For a loan subject to a floginterest rate, the interest accrued thereon lsbalalculated in accordan
with the interest rate determined for each interatst floating period. If the interest rate hasrbadjusted more




than once during a single interest settlement detl® interest during each interest rate floatiagod shall be calculated
first and the total interest accrued during su¢erast settlement period shall be the aggregateianod all the interest
accrued during each interest rate floating perigtia such interest settlement period.
(2) The interest accrued on the Loan hereundsl Isé settled in accordance with (i) of the follog:

(i)  ona monthly basis and the interest settlementstait be the 2@  day of each month;
(i) on a quarterly basis and the interest settlementstall be the 2  day of the last month of thevant quarter;
(i)  other method:

5. ADVANCE AND DRAWDOWN

5.1 Conditions Precedent to Advance

Unless Party B waives all or part of the followiognditions, Party B shall be obligated to advangeamount of the Loan only if
all the following conditions continuously remairtistied:

Q) Party A has completed all the approval, registmatitelivery, insurance and other statutory proceslur relation to the
Loan hereunder;

(2)  the security has become and remains effectivesécarity is established for the Contract;

3) Party A has opened the bank accounts for drawdmdrdabt service purposes as Party B requests;
4 Party A has not triggered any event of default eder;

(5) no event has occurred that may adversely impaty B& rights as a creditor;

(6) the advance to be made by Party B is not prohilute@stricted by any laws, regulations, rules@npetent authorities;
and

(7)  the financial indicators of Party A shall, at ahé, continue to meet the requirements specifigdcinedule 2 Terms relati
to Mandatory Financial Indicators ;

(8) Party A has submitted such materials as requirgdisnContract before any loan drawdown ;

(9) the materials submitted by Party A are legal, autibated, complete, accurate, valid and be in atznure with other
requirements of Party B;

(10) Other conditions




5.2 Drawdown Schedule

“Drawdown” referred to in this Contract shall medisbursements by Party B of the funds to the Loabirsement Account in
accordance with Party A’s Application and this Gant.

The drawdown schedule hereunder shall be [sa Schedule Apf the following:

(1) The drawdown schedule shall be as follows:

Drawdown Date(mm/dd/yyyy) Amount

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

(vi)

(2) The drawdown schedule shall be as follows:

@) from]| ] to] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)

(iiy from [ ] to] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)

(i) from [ ] to] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)

(iv) from [ ] to] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)

(v) from [ ] to] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy) (mm/ddlyyyy)

(vi) from [ ] to] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)

(3) from time to time, as required by Party A .

(4)




5.3

5.4

55

Party A shall draw the Loan in accordance withdh@vdown schedule under Article 5.2. Without P&ty written consent, Party
A shall not accelerate, postpone or cancel any doam of the Loan.

If Party A draws the Loan in installments, the eapion date of the Term shall be determined in edaace with Article 3
hereunder.

Materials required to be submitted by Party A

In respect of materials required to be submitte@asty A, the Parties agree that Item A applié®pse A or BJ:
A.

Situation NO. 1

Where the situation described in Item (1) [chodgeo( (2)] arises:

(1) the amount of any particular drawdown is mibi@n RMB TEN million and the amount of any schedybayment out of such
drawdown is more than RMB TEN million;

(2)

Party A shall submit to Party B the following maas no later than ONE working days before the détguch drawdown:
(1) the LDC signed by Party A and payment/setfiehtertificate(s) signed by Party A;

(2) materials related to the underlying transai(including without limitation goods/servicestmatary contracts and/or invoices
and other documents in writing or electronic folmattare capable of evidencing the particular puepad the loan drawdown; )

And other materials required by Party B (includmighout limitation business license, letter of aariration, articles of association,
resolutions of Shareholders’ meeting /Board ofaes of Party A’s counterparty).

Situation NO. 2
If Party B determines, after reviewing the aforetiwred materials, that Party may initiate the paytie accordance with

Article 5.7 of this Contract, or a situation otliean Situation NO. 1 arises, Party A shall subm®arty B the following materials
no later than ONE working days before the dateuohsirawdown:




5.6

(1) The drawdown schedule corresponding to the proplaseddrawdown(The drawdown schedule being in ¢inenfof
Schedule 3);

(2) LDC signed by Party A;

And other materials required by Party B (includimighout limitation business license, letter of aarikation, articles of association,
resolutions of Shareholders’ meeting/Board of doecof Party A ‘s counterparty).

B.

Party A shall submit to Party B the following maads no later than ONE working days before the détguch drawdown regardle
of the amount of any particular drawdown:

(1) the LDC signed by Party A and payment/settlemeriificaite (s) signed by Party A;
(2) materials related to the underlying transactionsl{iding without limitation goods/services/monetaontracts and/or

invoices and other documents in writing or eledzdarm that are capable of evidencing the particplurposes of the loan
drawdown);

And other materials required by Party B(includingheut limitation business license, letter of authation, articles of association,
resolutions of Shareholders’ meeting/Board of doecof Party A ‘s counterparty).

Entrusted Payment through Party B

(1)  Situations where Entrusted Payment applies to Farty
If the situation described in (i) arises, , EnteasPayment shall apply, i.e. Party A hereby irredbg entrusts Party B to pay
the amount of the drawdown to Party A’'s countespd®arty A shall not pay such amount directly torsaounterparty or any
other third party.
(i) the amount of any particular drawdown is more tRMB TEN million and the amount of any scheduledmant out of

such drawdown is more than RMB TEN million, andt& determines, after reviewing the materials sitigth by Party
A, that recipient of the payment is specific anentifiable;




(2)

3)

(4)

()

(ii) Entrusted Payment applies regardless of theuarhof any particular drawdown;

(i)

In the case of entrusted payment, Party B depthstamount of the loan drawdown in the Loan Diséuomsnt Account and
pays such amount through Loan Disbursement Accoutiie account designated by Party A’s counterp&dayty A shall not
dispose of the loan drawdown in any way (includivithout limitation account transfer or withdrawdlaash).

Party B will make prima facie examination of theedments submitted by Party A regarding payment arpdune of
payment, recipient of payment, means of paymernt ralated accounts Party B will pay the drawdowmant to Party A’s
counterparty if Party B determines at its discretizat it is satisfied with the abovementioned prifacie examination. The
obligations of Party B relating to entrusted paytrsdrall be extinguished once the drawdown amoupid into the account
of Party A’s counterparty (the information of sumtcount shall be provided by Party A). Party A kblaéck and verify the
status of payment within one working day afterdlage of payment and shall notify Party B in cas&ibire of payment.
Party A shall guarantee that there is consistert@d®en documents/information regarding recipiergayfment, utilization of
the loan and materials related to underlying docume

There is no warranty or representation by Party Bespect of the truthfulness or legality or comptie with regulations of
the underlying transactions although Party B haderihe above-mentioned prima facie examinatiomefayment
documents. Nor shall Party B be implicated in aispdte between Party A and Party A’s counterpartgny third party. Nor
shall Party B be liable for any obligations or lidgies of Party A. Party A shall compensate Patfor any and all losses
incurred by Party B resulting from Party B’s adiies$ relating to Entrusted Payment.

Where there is a failure or delay in payment ofdh@vdown amount to the account of Party A’'s copaety and such
failure or delay is caused by incompleteness, tinfiulness or inaccuracy of the documents submitteBarty A, or by
violation of permitted utilization of loan or byformation discrepancy or by other reasons but gd@drty B’s fault, the
following applies:

(0 Party A shall be liable for all the consequencetuiting without limitation all losses caused by #imve mentioned
failure or delay. Party B shall not be liable iryamay and shall be compensated by Party A for argds resulting
therefrom;

(i) Party A shall not dispose of any of such drawdowimant in anyway (including without limitation acaduransfer or
withdrawal of cash);

(i)  Party A shall resubmit materials, make correctiand/or perform other activities as instructed bytyPB within ONE
working days;




5.7

5.8

5.9

Party B may accelerate the maturity of such lo@wdown if Party A is in breach of any of the abgvevisions.

(6) Party A shall be liable for any and all risks, llales and losses caused by any failure or errateday in payment which
does not result from Party B’s fault. Party B simait be liable in any way and shall be compensbyearty A for any losses
resulting therefrom.

Payment on Party A’s own initiative

Where situation other than that described in Agtlel6 (1) arises, Party A may initiate the paynatrits own discretion. i.e. Party B

may deposit the drawdown amount to the Loan Disbment Account as instructed by Party A’'s applicafar loan drawdown,

Party A may then pay such amount directly to thuépient. Party A shall guarantee the conformitywan the recipient, utilization

of loan and the underlying transaction documents.

The obligations of Party B to advance loans shakkktinguished once the loan amount is depositedfie Loan Disbursement

Account regardless of entrusted payment or notyPashall ensure the Loan Disbursement Accountaiann normal status

(including without limitation not subject to fre@g by competent authorities). Party A shall bebrisits, liabilities and losses

including without limitation freezing and mandatdrgnsfer by competent authorities. Party A shathpensate Party B for any

losses resulting therefrom.

Change of means of payment

Party B is entitled to change the means of payifiemy of the following circumstances arises, imthg without limitation re-

determining the situations where Entrusted Payrapplies,(e.g. changing the threshold amount forusted Payment) and

changing the means of payment in respect of anycpkar drawdown:

(1) Any event of default by Party A arises;

(2) There arises any event that may adversely impaty Bs rights as a creditor;

(3) Other circumstances where Party B deems necessahahge the means of payment.

Where Party B changes the means of payment, Pashalresubmit the materials or perform othendtigis as required by this
Contract and Party B.

USE AND SUPERVISION OF ACCOUNTS
6.1 Loan Disbursement Account
The Loan Disbursement Account herein shall be détexd in accordance with (2):

(1)  within working days from the date of comingp effect of




6.2

this Contract and before the date of first drawdoRerty A shall open an account within Party Btfa sole purpose
of the disbursement and payment of all loan amander this Contract.

(2)  other account opened by Party A within Party B (@wat Number: ).

Account to collect sale proceeds

(1) within ONE working days from the date of comingamffect of this Contract, Party A shall open aocamt within
Party B for the purpose of collecting sale procemddesignate an existing account within Party Bush (Account
Number:

(2) Party A shall, on a monthly basis (choose “monttdy“quarterly”), submit a report to Party B on theoming and
outgoing amounts of such account. Party A shalirsubuch report for the immediately preceding mamtiguarter (as

the case may be) within the first FIVE working day®ach month or quarter.

(3) Party B is entitled to manage the incoming and a@aty amounts of such account. In particular, swdoant shall be
in compliance with (vi) (one or more of the follavg requirements may be selected):

0] average balances of such account:

(i)  time for incoming payment being deposited into sactount:

(i)  percentage of the overall sale proceeds of Pathafare to be deposited into such account:

(iv)  amount limit for any particular outgoing paymentsoth account:

(v)  amount limit for daily outgoing payment (s) of sumtcount:
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(vi) restrictions on internet-banking functions of sacicount:

(vii)  no outgoing payment shall be made without Partygisr consent;

(viii)  Such account shall be used only for the purposesli#cting sale proceeds and repaying the loash na for
any other purpose;

(ix)

(x)  other requirements by Party B;
(xi) A separate Account Management Agreement signeatiy®arties shall be complied with.
7. REPAYMENT
7.1 General Principles for Repayment
Party A shall repay the Loan in accordance withfétlewing principles: Party B has the right to &pparty A’'s repayment first
towards payment of any expense which shall be bloyriearty A as provided hereunder but has beennagebby Party B and
the expenses incurred by Party B for realizingiigslitor’s rights. Party B shall apply the balantsuch repayment in the order
of interest first and then principal adhering te firinciple that the interest shall be fully repaghcurrently with the repayment
in full of all the principal amounts.
For any advance of which the principal has becooeehiit unpaid for more than ninety days, or anyaadg on which the
interest has become due but unpaid for more thaetyndays, or any advance otherwise provided byeths, regulations or
rules, Party B may first apply Party A’s repaymentards those payments of expenses set out inrtheéragraph of this
article. Then Party B may apply the balance of segayment towards payment in the order of prirdipst and then interest.
7.2 Payment of Interest
Party A shall pay due interest to Party B on therest settlement date. The first interest payrdate shall be the first interest
settlement date after the release of an advantéhinterest and principal amounts outstandirajl ke paid in full on the last
repayment date.
7.3 Schedule for Repayment of the Principal

The repayment schedule hereunder shall be detedrmireccordance with itefisee Schedule Abelow:
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7.4

7.5

(1) The repayment schedule shall be as follows:

Repayment Date(mm/dd/yyy Amount
(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(V)

(vi)
2

Repayment Method

Party A shall deposit sufficient amount into thecAant to collect sale processor other account dy Babefore the repayment
date provided hereunder and transfer such amouap#y the Loan (Party B may also debit such amfsant such account to
repay the Loan), or transfer such amount from ardtink account of Party A to repay the Loan.

Prepayment

Party A may prepay the principals in full or in papon approval by Party B of a written applicatsubmitted to Party B
THIRTY working days in advance.

The interest accrued on the principals to be pteplaall be calculated on the basis of the actualb@r of days lapsed and the
Loan Rate provided herein.

If Party B approves the prepayment by Party A,yPBrshall have the right to charge Party A the cengation fee in an amount
to be determined in accordance with the (1) offttilewing methods:

(1) compensation fee = amount of the principal prepamdimber of months remaining until the schedulgdhyenent date(the “

Remaining Period”) x 1%; provided, however, that the part of thexRéning Period that falls short of a month shall be
calculated as a full month; or

(2)

If Party A is required to repay the Loan in ingtadints and prepays part of the principal, the poepaiount shall be applied in
the reverse order of the repayment schedule. Aftgrmpartial prepayment, the outstanding Loan stidiibe subject to the Loan
Rate provided herein.
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PARTY A’'S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

8.1 Party A’s Rights

Party A has the rights to:

1)
(@)
3)
(4)

(%)

request Party B to release each advancesdfdhn as provided hereunder;

utilize the Loan for the purposes providedHereunder;

apply to Party B for extension of the Ternmeumder provided that it has satisfied all the dors as Party B requests;
require Party B to keep confidential the relevéamarficial information and manufacturing and opeatiade secrets
furnished by Party A except provided otherwisedy,|regulations and rules, or required otherwis¢hleycompetent
authorities, or agreed otherwise between the battigs hereto;

reject Party B or its employees asking for bribshiall have the right to lodge complaint with twempetent authority

about such misconduct and any other act of PathaBmay violate the laws and regulations relatmthe lending intere
rate and service charges.

8.2 Party A’s Obligations

1)

(@)

3)

(4)

Party A shall draw the Loan and repay the princgrad interest in full as provided herein, and libarexpenses and
fees as provided herein;

Party A shall provide its financial, accountingveall as manufacturing and operating information atiter materials as
the Party B may request, and among other thingsy dxefore the TWENTY working day of the first mbrdaf each
quarter, Party A shall provide to Party B with thedance sheet and the profit and loss statemetti¢dncome and
expenditure statement, if Party A is a public isidbn) up to the end of the preceding quargend shall provide the ca
flow statement at the end of each year in a tifedhion. Party A shall be responsible for the lggatruthfulness ,
accuracy, completeness and validity of the inforomeit provides, and shall not provide false infation or conceal
material facts with respect to its financial an@@tion status;

In case of any change in Party A’'s name, legalesgmtative (or principal officer), registered addrédusiness scope,
registered capital, articles of association or atfer registration with local industrial and comwial authority, or there
arises any circumstances that may adversely dffaty A’s capability to repay the indebtedness aym®ndanger Party
B’s rights as a creditor, Party A shall notify Bal in writing of the same with relevant documetatgether with such
notification evidencing the changes within 3 workihays thereafter;

Party A shall utilize the Loan in accordance whih purposes as provided herein, and shall not mieppate the Loan
or utilize the Loan to carry out any transactiamsiblation of the laws and regulations, nor foréstments in fixed
assets, or equity or other area®r, for production or operations prohibited by #tate, nor for repaying the indebtedr
incurred as a result of Party A’s investments
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(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

in fixed assets or equity etc. ; Party A shall crgpe with Party B in its inspection of PartysAhanufacturing, operati
and financial activities and utilization of the lroherein, and shall be subject to the requiremaarty B relating to
loan management; Party A shall not try to evadeeipgyment obligations owing to Party B by meanwittfidrawing
capital it has injected, transferring assets oermg into related-party transactions. FurthertyPArshall not attempt to
obtain loans or credit facilities from Party B bsing dummy contracts with its related parties opledging such rights
as notes receivable or accounts receivable withowtal underlying transactions or by applying toty’B for
discounting the same; Party A shall be in compkawith the provisions relating to means of paynaard shall not
evade Entrusted Payment by way of dividing a laggaount payment into payments in smaller amounts;

Party A shall comply with the regulatiomdating to environmental protection, if the Loaménender shall be utilized for
manufacturing or project construction;

Without Party B’s consent, Party A shalt nmrtgage or pledge any assets acquired by aijjitie Loan hereunder for
the benefit of a third party before full repaymehthe principals and interest accrued thereon;

If Party A qualifies as a group customeshiall promptly report to Party B any related-paransactions involving more
than 10% of Party A net assets, including (i) the relationship amalhthe parties to such transaction; (ii) the temti®or
and its nature; (iii) the transaction amount orrgdevant ratio; and (iv) pricing policy (also ajgpble to the transactions
with no price or merely nominal price);

Party A shall not carry out merger, split-transfer of shares, outward investment, sulisiantrease of debt financing
or other activities of importance without Party Bisor written consent. For the avoidance of dosbth consent shall
not impair Party B’s rights to take remedial measuf Party B determines at a later time that saatlvities of Party A
may endanger Party B’s rights as a creditor ;

In the case of payment at Party A’s owtiative, Party A shall submit reports to Party Btba use and payment of loan
amounts on a monthly basis. Party A shall subnghseport for the immediately preceding month wittkie first
TEN working days of each month, together with aidfsactual uses of loan amounts, until the dateepayment of all th
loan. Such report shall be in the form attachefdhedule 4.

9. PARTY B’'S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

9.1

9.2

Party B is entitled to request Party A to repayphacipal, interest accrued thereon and expend$enwue, to manage and
control the payment of loan amounts, to monitoaagral-time basis overall cash flows of Party A tmdccelerate the
maturity of the loan considering the status ofexiibn of sale proceeds of Party A. Party B may@se any other rights
hereunder and demand Party A to perform any othiggations hereunder.

Party B is entitled to engage in Party A’s largesamt financing ( The total amount of such financéigll be more than
RMB SEVENTY-FOUR MILLION or Foreign Exchange equigat ) , sale of assets, merger, split-up,
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stock-company restructuring , bankruptcy, liquidatand other activities for the purpose of protectParty B's rights. The
way(s) of engagement shall be (1) (multiple choeesallowed)

(1) Party A shall seek Party B’s prior written censbefore carrying out any of the above activjties
(2) Party B is entitled to arrange for Party A'sg@amount financings;

(3) the sale price and buyer of the assets shafl bempliance with the following :

(4)

(5) other ways Party B deems fit.

9.3 Party B shall advance the Loan as provided henaliess the delay or failure in advancing the Loataigsed by any reason
attributable to Party A or any other reason thatmat be attributed to Party B.

9.4 Party B shall keep confidential the relevant finahdocuments and manufacturing and operating tsadeets furnished by
Party A except otherwise provided by the laws, k&iipns and rules, or required by the competertiaittes, or agreed
between the parties hereto.
9.5 Party B shall not bribe Party A or its employees, request any bribe or accept any bribe offere@dmty A.
9.6 Party B shall not engage in any activity whichishdnest or will be detrimental to Party A’s lawinoterests.
10. DEFAULT AND REMEDY
10.1 Events of Default by Party B and Liabilities

(1) If Party B does not advance the Loan as providedihevithout justifiable reason, Party A may requesrty B to
advance the Loan in accordance with the Contract.

(2) If Party B charges any interest or fee which ishisited by the laws or regulations, Party A mayuest Party B to
refund the interest or fee charged.

10.2 Events of Default by Party A
The events of default by Party A shall include:

(1) Party A breaches any statutory obligation or eantractual obligation hereunder; and
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(2) Party A has repudiated its obligations hereuma@ressly or by its conduct.
10.3 Events that may Adversely Impact Creditor'gh®s

(1) the occurrence of any of the following events upamty A which Party B believes may adversely imgisctreditor’s
rights:

contracting, trustee (receiver) being appointeaisée shareholding restructuring, decrease ofgistered capital,
investment, joint operation, mergers and acquisi#j@cquisition and restructuring, division, jomenture, shares transfer,
substantial increase of debt financing, applying(éw subject to an application for) temporary egiss of operation or
dissolution, revocation, applying for (or subjextin application for) bankruptcy, change of cofiitiglshareholders/actual
controllers, transfer of material assets, suspensi@roduction or operation, significant penahypiosed by regulatory
authorities, cancellation of registration, revogatof business license, involvement in materiahlggoceedings, severe
deterioration in operation and financial conditideterioration of credit standing, legal represeve#principal officer
being unable to perform their duties;

(2) the occurrence of any of the following events whrarty B believes may adversely impact its cretditoghts:

Party A fails to repay any other due debts, inalgdiuch debts owed to any other branch or orgaoizaf China
Construction Bank or to any other third party; Pattransfers assets at a low price or for freatyPA relieves or waives
any debt of a third party; Party A fails to exeecits creditor’s rights or any other rights; or tyak provides security for a
third party; financial indicators of Party A fad meet, on a continuous basis, the requirementsfigebin Schedule?; the
are unusual fluctuations in any of Party A’s acdsyrincluding without limitation account to coltexale proceeds and
other account subject to Party B’s supervisiothgre are grave cross-defaults by Party A ; profiking capability of
Party A’s core business is undesirable ; thergrégularity in the use of loan;

(3) Party A’s shareholder manipulates the independstatas of Party A as a legal person or the limiiegallity status of the
shareholder in order to evade debts, and PartyliBves this manipulation may adversely impact redior’s rights;

(4) any of the conditions precedent to advance the lh@@mot been satisfied continuously;

(5) the occurrence of any of the following events uffemguarantor which Party B believes may adverisepact its
creditor’s rights:

(i) the guarantor breaches any provision of the guaeatntract, or any of the representations andamtes it has mac
proves to be false, wrong or incomplete;

(ii) contracting, trustee (receiver) being appointeasde shareholding restructuring, decrease ofgistered capital,

investment, joint operation, mergers and acquisii@cquisition and restructuring, division, jorenture, shares
transfer, substantial increase of debt
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financing, applying for (or subject to an applicatifor) temporary cessation of operation or distsofi revocation,
applying for (or subject to an application for) keuptcy, change of controlling shareholders/actaaitrollers, transfer of
material assets, transfer of assets at a low prifer free, relieving or waiving any debt of arthparty; failure to exercise
its creditor’s rights or any other rights, suspensif production or operation, significant penatbposed by regulatory
authorities, cancellation of registration, revogatof business license, involvement in materiadlggoceedings, severe
deterioration in operation and financial conditideterioration of credit standing, legal represegwve#principal officer’s
inability to perform their duties, which may adwessimpact its capability as a guarantor;

(iii) other events in which the guarantor has lmstnay lose its capability as guarantor.

(6) the occurrence of any of the followingeats on the mortgage or pledge which Party B betieway adversely impact its
creditor’s rights:

()  the mortgaged or pledged property is damaged,aestror its value is reduced as a result of a thady’s action,
expropriation, confiscation, eminent domain or redepment and relocation by the government, markahge, or
any other reason;

(i)  the mortgaged or pledged property has been sampdunded, frozen, mandatorily debited, put on,lsaid by
auction, subject to administration order by a gowegnt authority, or a dispute over the ownershithefmortgaged
or pledged property occurs;

(i)  the mortgagor or pledgor breaches any provisiah®imortgage/pledge contract, or any of the reptatens and
warranties it has made proves to be false, wrorigommplete;

(iv) other events that may adversely impact Party Biliyabo realize its mortgage or pledge.
(7)  the security is not effected, becomes ineffectimealid, or is rescinded or terminated, or the sigyrovider defaults or
repudiates its obligations expressly or by condoicthe security provider has lost its capabil@yperform its obligations
a security provider in whole or in part, or theugabf the collateral is reduced, which Party Bdagds may adversely
impact its creditor’s rights; or
(8) other events which Party B believes may adversapact its creditor’s rights.
104 Party B’'s Remedy

Upon occurrence of any event under Article 10.2@8, Party B may exercise one or more of the ¥ahg rights:

(1) to stop advancing the Loan;
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(2)
3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

to request for more conditions precedent for lodwaace and payment ;
to change the means of payment of loan in accoedaith this Contract ;

to declare the Loan immediately due and payable raquest Party A to repay immediately all the dod undue
principal, interest and fees;

if Party A fails to make any drawdown in accordangth the Contract, Party B may hold Party A liabdepay a
penalty equal to 0 % of the Loan proceeds not draméhmay reject Party A’s request for drawing sucan;

if Party A utilizes any part of the Loan for anyrpase other than as provided herein, interest emtisappropriated
amount shall be calculated and compounded for ¢hieg from the date of the misappropriation todaé when all
the principal and interest have been fully paiddeordance with the relevant default interest aagkthe interest
settlement method as provided herein;

if any principal is overdue, the interest on sudhgpal and on any overdue interest (including lehar part of the
principal and interest which have been accelerat@)l be calculated and compounded for the pdrard the first
date such principal becomes overdue to the date at¢he principal and interest have been fullidpan accordance
with the relevant default interest rate and therigdt settlement method as provided herein;

“Overdue” herein means that Party A fails to refiegyLoan on the repayment date or, in case of rapayin
installments, fails to repay the relevant instalitsén accordance with the repayment schedule@msdad herein.

Before any principal is overdue, the overdue irgesdall be compounded in accordance with theasteate and the
interest settlement method as provided herein;

other remedies, including but not limited to:

0] to debit Party A’'s accounts at China Constructi@mBin RMB or other currencies with corresponding
amount without prior notice to Party A;

(i) to exercise its rights under the security interest;

(iii) to request Party A to provide new security satisfigcto Party B for all the debts of Party A herdan

(iv) to decline Party A’s request to dispose of its d@gmf corresponding amount, within any accourgregal
with any branch of China Construction Bank (inchglivithout limitation the account to collect sale

proceeds);

(v) to terminate the Contract.
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11.

MISCELLANEOUS

111

11.2

11.3

114

115

11.6

Cost Allocation

(1) all costs and expenses incurred as a result of R&gtbreach of any provision in this Contract, linding without
limitation court fees, arbitration fees, propertggervation fees, travel expenses, enforcemennegge
valuation/appraisal fees, auction fees, notary, feewice fees, public announcement costs, legal fehall be borne
by Party A .

(2) inrespect of other fees the parties agree aswsllo
Use of Party A’s Information

Party A agrees that Party B is entitled to inqaibeut Party A’s creditworthiness with the Credit&zase or relevant
authorities established or approved by the Peoplats of China and the Credit Reference Agency,thatiParty B is
entitled to provide Party A’s information to suche@it Database. Party A further agrees that Partya reasonably use
and disclose Party A’s information for businesspose.

Collection by Public Announcement

In the event that Party A fails to repay on timg grincipal or interest or breaches any other @mttral obligations
hereunder, Party B is entitled to report to relé\arthorities and demand repayments by means dicpaimouncement via
press.

Party B's Record as Evidence

Unless there is reliable and definitive evidencthtocontrary, Party B’s internal records of pnoadj interest, expenses and
repayment, receipts, vouchers made or retainechlly B during the course of drawdown, repaymentiatetest payment,
and records and vouchers relating to the collestmnParty B shall constitute valid evidence of ¢heditor-debtor
relationship between the two parties. Party A shallraise any objection merely because the abec@rds, receipts,
vouchers are made or retained by Party B.

No Waivers

Party B’s rights hereunder shall not prejudice>alede any other rights Party B is entitled to unalgplicable laws,
regulations and other contracts. No forbearandension of time limit, preferential treatment otajein exercising any
right hereunder shall be deemed to constitute sewaif rights and interests hereunder or permieoognition of any brea
of the Contract. Nor shall it restrict, prevenirmterfere with the continuous exercise of suchtrigta later time or any other
right, nor shall the foregoing cause Party B tdidgle in any way to the Borrower.

If Party A owes Party B any other due and payableslin addition to the debts hereunder, Party B dedit any of Party

A’s account at China Construction Bank in RMB dnartcurrencies and may choose to repay any ofubeadd payable
debts in the order it deems appropriate. Party idegynot to raise any objection with respect tleret
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11.7

11.8

11.9

In the event of any change to the address or atthr@iact information, Party A shall promptly notarty B of such change
in writing. Party A shall be liable for any lossusgd by its failure of giving prompt notice of sudfange.

Direct Debit Right

Party B is entitled to debit, without prior notitteParty A, any account of Party A at China Corcttan Bank in RMB or
other currencies to pay all amounts payable uddeContract. Party A shall assist Party B to cotepday procedures for
foreign exchange settlement or sale, and Partyall bkear the risk of exchange rate fluctuation.

Dispute Resolution

Any dispute arising from the performance of the act may be settled by consultation. If the dispzannot be resolved
through consultation, such dispute shall be sulechitd (1) [please select from below]:

(1) the People’s court within the jurisdiction wheretld® is located.

(2) name of the arbitration committee] for arbitratan [place of

arbitration] in accordance with the then prevailargitration rules. The arbitration award shalfipal and binding
on both Party A and Party B.

The undisputed provisions shall remain enforcedhléng the process of litigation or arbitration.

11.10 Effectiveness of the Contract

The Contract shall become effective upon:

(1) execution by the legal representative/(principéicef) or authorized representative of Party A bpihg
affixed with the company chop of Party A; and

(2) execution by the principal officer or authorizegnesentative of Party B and being affixed with thenpany

chop of Party B. All Schedules of this Contractlsbanstitute integral parts of this Contract ahdlsbe
equally binding.

11.11 The Contract shall be executed in counterparts.

11.12 Other Provisions:
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12.

REPRESENTATIONS

121

12.2

12.3

12.4

125

12.6

12.7

12.8

12.9

Party A clearly understands the business scopeaatirization limit of Party B.

Party A has read the Contract. Party B, at Parg/rAuest, has explained the terms of the ConaadtParty A fully
understands their meanings and corresponding ¢egalequences.

The execution and performance of the Contract lstyPais in compliance with laws, administrativegrdations, rules ar
Party A’s articles of association (or its otheeimal constitutional documents) and has been apgrby its internal
competent organization and/or the competent goventah authorities.

Party A carries out production and operation in pthamce with laws and regulations.
Party A has the capability to keep its businesagand has the legitimate sources to repay the loan

Party A warrants that the loan amount requesteeuiis Contract is no more than necessary to theateal needs of
Party A for the purposes specified herein.

Both Party A and its controlling shareholder havedjfinancial standing and have no record of gnasgonducts.

Party A agrees that Party B has the right to instother branches of China Construction Bank tcaade loan under this
Contract and to exercise or perform the rights@bldyations hereunder.

Party A represents that, at the time of executiothie Contract, there exists no action or eveat tholates any applicable
laws, regulations or rules in relation to enviromtaé protection, energy saving and emission/patutieduction (the
“Environmental Laws”). Party A further warrants thiashall strictly comply with such Environmentaw after the
execution of this Contract. If any of the aboveresgntations or warranties is untrue, or Party fawés on any of the
above undertakings, or there is any potential sfsénergy dissipation or pollution by Party A, RdBtis entitled to stop
advancing loans, to declare an acceleration optimeipal and interest not yet due hereunder, opadther remedial
measures provided hereunder or permitted by laws.
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Party A (Company Chop

By the legal representative (principal officer)authorized
representative

Signature

Date:
Party B (Company Chop
By the principal officer or authorized represemat

Signature

Date:
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Schedule 1
Loan Information
1. Specific purposes of the loan:
This Loan is used for compg’s daily operation expense, including material pasehpayment and emplo¥'s salary
Party A shall not change the purpose of the loahowit Party B’s written consent.
2. Sources of funds for loan repayment :
Compan’s proceeds of sale

Party A guarantees the truthfulness and legalityugh sources of funds and the steadiness andadeqficash flows of such
sources .

3. Miscellaneous




Schedule 2
Mandatory Financial Indicators

The Financial indicators of Party A shall on a aanbus basis meet the following requirements:

Maximum Monthly Capital/Dek 65%
Minimum Current Ratio 100%
Minimum liquidity Ratio: 60%
Maximum contingency liability/Capite 30%
Maximum accumulated long term investment/Cay 30%

Party B has the right to change unilaterally swefuirements as to mandatory indicators providetRh4E working-day advanced
notice is issued to Party A .




Schedule 3

Schedule for Loan Drawdown

Contract Number
Date of Drawdown

Proposed Proposed Paymen Proposed Recipien
No. Purpose Amount (if any) Notes
1
2
Total RMB (CAPITALIZE WORDS)

Name of the Borrower (company se:




Schedule 4
Consolidated report on payment at Party A’s initiative

Contract Number
Date of Delivery

Whether or not

in compliance
with the
purpose
Actual purpose of Evidencing specified in
NO. the Loan Recipient Amount Materials this Contract
1
2
total RMB (CAPITALIZE WORDS)

Name of the Borrower_ (company sei

Relationship Manager (signatui
Internal review

Officer in charge of reviewing loan advances anghpents (signature




Schedule A to Form of RMB Working Capital Loan Agreement

Loan
Commencement
Date

Loan
Expiration Date

Loan Amount

Loan Rate

Drawdown
Schedule

Schedule for
Repayment




Contract No.:

1230

between

GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY INC.

as Borrower

and

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK - NINGBO YINZHOU BRANCH

as Lender

RMB WORKING CAPITAL LOAN AGREEMENT

Exhibit 10.30



This RMB Loan Agreement (the “ Contract ") is entered into in order for the compasydaily operation expense [, including mate
purchase payment and employee’s salary], by arvieeet

GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY INC. , located at NO. 88, QIUSHI RD, WANGCHUN INDUSTRIARART, NINGBO, CHINA, P.C.315176
with CHIH-HSIANG LIN as its legal representativedaits fax number 88133820 and its telephone nunsiF@r88133818 as borrower
(“Party A”) ; and

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK - NINGBO YINZHOU BRANCH , located at TAIKANG ZHONG RD S. COMMERCIAL AREA
2ND FL, GUOHUA INT'L BLDG NO. 500, 315040 witle as its principal officer and its fax number be®8if8370029 and its telephone
number being 87374267, as lendePérty B ).




WHEREAS

(1)
(2)
1.

Party A wishes to apply to Party B for a loan, &adty B agrees to extend to Party A such I
NOW THEREFORE upon consultation in accordance waghlicable laws and regulations, both parties bemgtee as follows

LOAN AMOUNT

The amount of the loan that Party B provides tayParhereunder shall be RMBee Schedule A{the “Loan ).

PURPOSE OF THE LOAN AND SOURCES OF FUNDS FOR RERYMENT

Party A shall utilize the loan for the purposelwd toutine production operation.

The information relating to specific purposes oftsiban under the Contract and sources of fundsefjpayment shall be determinec
Schedule 1 ‘Loan Information .

TERM OF THE LOAN

The term of the Loan shall be 12 months, commenfting [see Schedule A] and expiring on [see Scredll(the “Term ).

Where the above commencement date is inconsistiéttie date set forth on the loan-to deposit fieatie (the “LDC " or “Loar
Receipt”,the date set forth on the LDC for the first advaotée Loan shall be the commencement date of & and the expiry de
of the Term shall be adjusted accordingly. The LEMall constitute an integral part of the Contratwd Aave the equal legal force as
Contract.

INTEREST RATE ON THE LOAN, DEFAULT INTEREST RATE , INTEREST CALCULATION AND SETTLEMENT

4.1 Interest Rate on the Loan (thedan Rate™”)
The Loan Rate hereunder shall be an annual rafersietin item (2) below:
(1) afixed interest rate of % which shall remain tame during the Term;

(2) [See Schedule Apn the date when interest commences to accrué€ (thierest Commencement Dat€). Such interest ra
shall remain the same during the Term




4.2

4.3

4.4

(3) a floating interest rate equal to __ ( 100%oatfing percentage of % ) (thé-foating Percentage”) of the Base Rate (
defined below) on the date when interest commetwascrue (the fnterest Commencement Dat€). The Loan Rate she
during the period between the Interest Commenceiate and the date when all the principal amoudt iaterest accrue
thereon under the Contract have been fully regedadjusted once every _months in accordance with the Base Rate o
interest rate adjustment date and the Floatingerésge. The interest rate adjustment date shalldsge corresponding to-
Interest Commencement Date in the month when swigheist is adjusted. If there is no such a dateesponding to tf
Interest Commencement Date in such month, the inagut date for the interest rate shall be thedagtof such montt

Default Interest Rat

(1) If Party A does not use the Loan hereundempfoposes set forth herein lisappropriation "), the default interest rate
such Loan shall be (100% plus 100%) of the LoareRidtthe Loan Rate is adjusted according to Aetiél1(3) above, th
default interest rate shall be adjusted in accardamth the adjusted Loan Rate and the upwardifiggiercentage set out
this Article 4.2(1).

(2) The default interest rate on overdue Loan sha{llb@% plus 50 %) of the Loan Rate. If the Loan Raitedjusted according
Article 4.1 (3) above, such default interest rdtallsbe adjusted in accordance with the adjusteanLBate and the upwz
floating percentage set out in this Article (2).

(3) If Misappropriation and overdue payment occur corently, the default interest shall be calculateni @ompounded
accordance with the higher of the two default iesérates provided for in Articles 4.2(1) and 4)2{@rein.

The Interest Commencement Date provided in thigclkertd refers to the date on which the proceedhefirst advance have be
deposited into the loan disbursement account datagrin Article 6 (th¢ Loan Disbursement Account”).

For the first advance of the Loan, the Base Rd&gdo the lending interest rate quoted by thepRe® Bank of China (the PBOC
") on the Interest Commencement Date for loans wighséiime tenor and within the same category. Iféhdihg interest rate .
other advances of the Loan is adjusted in accosdarith Article 4.1(3), the Base Rate refers to the lending interast quoted L
the PBOC on the interest rate adjustment dateofamd with the same tenor and within the same catetfahe PBOC no long
publishes such lending interest rate, the Base &tatlt mean, unless agreed otherwise between tiegéahe lending interest ri
with the same tenor and within the same categongigdly accepted by the banking industry on therggt rate adjustment date
an interest rate commonly used for a loan withstlnme tenor and within the same category.

The interest on the Loan shall commence to accsuef ahe date when such Loan proceeds have beesitigp into the Loe
Disbursement Account designated by Party A. Intesaghe Loan shall be computed daily with thedaiterest rate equal to 1/3
of the annual interest rate. If Party A can not patgrest on the interest settlement date as peoviterein, the interest shall
compounded as of the date immediately followingapplicable interest settlement d¢
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4.5 Interest Settlemer

1)

)

For a loan subject to a fixed interest rate, therest accrued thereon shall be calculated in daocae with the agreed fix
interest rate. For a loan subject to a floatingriest rate, the interest accrued thereon shalaloelated in accordance with -
interest rate determined for each interest ratatifig period. If the interest rate has been adjustere than once during
single interest settlement period, the interesindueach interest rate floating period shall becdated first and the tot
interest accrued during such interest settlemeribgheshall be the aggregate amount of all the @geraccrued during ee
interest rate floating period within such interssttlement perioc

The interest accrued on the Loan hereunder shaktiked in accordance wi(i) of the following:
() onamonthly basis and the interest settlementstait be the 2" day of each montt

(i) on a quarterly basis and the interest settlementstmll be the 2! day of the last month of the relevant quar

(iii) other method:

5. ADVANCE AND DRAWDOWN
5.1 Conditions Precedent to Advan

Unless Party B waives all or part of the followiognditions, Party B shall be obligated to advantg @anount of the Loan only
all the following conditions continuously remairtiséed:

@

)
®3)
(4)
()
(6)
()

(8)
9)

(10)

Party A has completed all the approval, registratielivery, insurance and other statutory proceslin relation to the Loi
hereunder

the security has become and remains effectivesécarity is established for the Contr:

Party A has opened the bank accounts for drawdawrdabt service purposes as Party B requ

Party A has not triggered any event of default heder;

no event has occurred that may adversely impaty B’s rights as a credito

the advance to be made by Party B is not prohilmta@stricted by any laws, regulations, rulesampetent authorities; ar

the financial indicators of Party A shall, &ttane, continue to meet the requirements spetifieSchedul® Terms relatin
to Mandatory Financial Indicato;

Party A has submitted such materials as requirdédisnContract before any loan drawdo

the materials submitted by Party A are legal, autibated, complete, accurate, valid and be in atmare with othe
requirements of Party [

Other condition:




5.2 Drawdown Schedul

“Drawdown” referred to in this Contract shall mean disbursamby Party B of the funds to the Loan Disbursenfsrgount ir
accordance with Party A’s Application and this Gant.

The drawdown schedule hereunder shall be [sa Schedule Abf the following:
(1) The drawdown schedule shall be as follo
Drawdown Date (mm/dd/yyyy) Amount
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(2) The drawdown schedule shall be as follo

(i) from [ Jto[ ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy)  (mm/ddlyyyy)

(ii) from [ Jto] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy)  (mm/ddlyyyy)

(iii) from [ Jto] ], Amount ;
(mm/ddlyyyy)  (mm/dd/yyyy)

(iv) from [ Jto[ ], Amount ;
(mm/ddlyyyy)  (mm/dd/yyyy)

(v) from [ Jto] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy)  (mm/ddlyyyy)

(vi) from [ Jto] ], Amount
(mm/ddlyyyy)  (mm/ddlyyyy)




5.3

5.4

55

(3) from time to time, as required by Party

(4)

Party A shall draw the Loan in accordance withdrawdown schedule under Article 5.2. Withouty°B's written consent, Party
shall not accelerate, postpone or cancel any drawvai the Loan

If Party A draws the Loan in installments, the eapon date of the Term shall be determined in etanace with Article
hereunder

Materials required to be submitted by Part

In respect of materials required to be submitte@asty A, the Parties agree that Itenapplies [choose A or B];
A

Situation NO. 1

Where the situation described in Item [dhoose (1) or (2)] arises

(1) the amount of any particular drawdown is mdrant RMB_TENmillion and the amount of any scheduled paymentaf
such drawdown is more than RNTEN million;

)

Party A shall submit to Party B the following maas no later than ONorking days before the date of such drawdown :
(1) the LDC signed by Party A and payment/settlemertifioate(s) signed by Party /
(2) materials related to the underlying transactiomgl@iding without limitation goods/services/monetaigntracts and/i

invoices and other documents in writing or eledecdorm that are capable of evidencing the paréicplurposes of the lo
drawdown);




5.6

And other materials required by Party B (includimighout limitation business license, letter of aarfhation, articles of associatic
resolutions of Shareholders’ meeting /Board ofaves of Party A’s counterparty).

Situation NO. 2
If Party B determines, after reviewing the aforetimred materials, that Party may initiate the pagtrie accordance with Artic
5.7 of this Contract, or a situation other tharu&ibn NO. 1 arises , Party A shall submit to P&ty the following materials r

later than ONBEworking days before the date of such drawdown

(1) The drawdown schedule corresponding to the gsep loan drawdown The drawdown schedule being in the forn
Schedule ?)

(2) LDC signed by Party 4

And other materials required by Party Bi¢luding without limitation business license, é&tof authorization, articles of associat
resolutions of Shareholders’ meeting/Board of doecof Party A ’s counterparty).

B.

Party A shall submit to Party B the following mdéls no later than ONRorking days before the date of such drawd
regardless of the amount of any particular drawdown

(1) the LDC signed by Party A and payment/settlemerniifioate (s) signed by Party /

(2) related to the underlying transactions (includinigheut limitation goods/services/monetary contraatsl/or invoices ar
other documents in writing or electronic form that capable of evidencing the particular purpo$éiseoloan drawdowr;

And other materials required by Party Bi¢luding without limitation business license, égtof authorization, articles of associat
resolutions of Shareholders’ meeting/Board of doecof Party A ’s counterparty).

Entrusted Payment through Party B
(1) Situations where Entrusted Payment applies to Ba

If the situation described in (grises, Entrusted Payment shall apply, i.e. Partyefeby irrevocably entrusts Party B to pay
amount of the drawdown to Party Atounterparty. Party A shall not pay such amoineicty to such counterparty or any ot
third party.




)

®3)

(4)

()

(i) the amount of any particular drawdown is mdrart RMB_TENmillion and the amount of any scheduled paymentod
such drawdown is more than RMB_THhlllion, and Party B determines, after reviewing thaterials submitted by Pe
A, that recipient of the payment is specific anentifiable;

(ii) Entrusted Payment applies regardless of thewarhof any particular drawdown;

(iii)

In the case of entrusted payment, Party B deptisiteamount of the loan drawdown in the Loan Disbarsnt Account ar
pays such amount through Loan Disbursement Accioutiite account designated by Party Abunterparty. Party A shall |
dispose of the loan drawdown in any way (includivithout limitation account transfer or withdrawdlaash).

Party B will make prima facie examination of thecdments submitted by Party A regarding payment amadime o
payment, recipient of payment, means of paymenmt,ratated accounts Party B will pay the drawdowroam to Party As
counterparty if Party B determines at its discretibat it is satisfied with the abovementioned @rifacie examination. T!
obligations of Party B relating to entrusted paytrsrall be extinguished once the drawdown amoupéid into the accou
of Party A’'s counterparty (the information of such accountidieprovided by Party A). Party A shall check areify the
status of payment within one working day after dla¢e of payment and shall notify Party Bin case of failure of payme
Party A shall guarantee that there is consistert@den documents/information regarding recipierafment, utilization «
the loan and materials related to underlying docum

There is no warranty or representation by Partp Bespect of the truthfulness or legality or comptie with regulations of t
underlying transactions although Party B has madeabovementioned prima facie examination of the paymemuduents
Nor shall Party E  be implicated in any dispute between Party ARady A’s counterparty or any third party. Nor shall P
B be liable for any obligations or liabilities o&Ry A. Party A shall compensate Party Bfor any and all losses incurred
Party B resulting from Party’s activities relating to Entrusted Payme

Where there is a failure or delay in paymenthef drawdown amount to the account of Party édunterparty and such faill
or delay is caused by incompleteness, untruthfslmesnaccuracy of the documents submitted by Partyr by violation o
permitted utilization of loan or by information digpancy or by other reasons but not by Pa’s fault, the following applies

® Party A shall be liable for all the consequencetuiing without limitation all losses caused by #twove mentione
failure or delay. Party B shall not be liableaimy way and shall be compensated by Parfgrfany losses resultii
therefrom;




5.7

5.8

59

(ii) Party A shall not dispose of any of such drawdowroant in anyway (including without limitation acaduransfer c
withdrawal of cash;

(iii) Party A shall resubmit materials, make cotregs and/or perform other activities as instrudigdParty B withinONE
working days;

Party B may accelerate the maturity of such loawdown if Party A is in breach of any of the abgvevisions.

(6) Party A shall be liable for any and all riskabilities and losses caused by any failure corear delay in payment which dc
not result from Party B’s fault. Party B shalltioe liable in any way and shall be compensateBdiyy A for any losse
resulting therefrom.

Payment on Party A’s own initiative
Where situation other than that described in Aetiel6 (1) arises, Party A may initiate the paynatrits own discretion.e. Party [
may deposit the drawdown amount to the Loan Dishuent Account as instructed by Party As applicafamloan drawdowr
Party A may then pay such amount directly to thedpient. Party A shall guarantee the conformitywesn the recipient, utilizatic
of loan and the underlying transaction documents.
The obligations of Party B to advance loans shalkektinguished once the loan amount is depositedtite Loan Disburseme
Account regardless of entrusted payment or nottyParshall ensure the Loan Disbursement Accountaienin normal statt
(including without limitation not subject to freag by competent authorities). Party A shall beariaks, liabilities and loss
including without limitation freezing and mandatanansfer by competent authorities. Party A shalhpensate Party B for a
losses resulting therefror

Change of means of payment
Party B is entitled to change the means of payrifesuty of the following circumstances arises, imtthg without limitation re-
determining the situations where Entrusted Payna@plies, ( e.g. changing the threshold amount fatrSted Payment anc
changing the means of payment in respect of anycpkar drawdown:
(1) Any event of default by Party A arises;
(2) There arises any event that may adversely itrparty B’s rights as a creditor;
(3) Other circumstances where Party B deems negetssahange the means of payment.

Where Party B changes the means of payment, Padlyafl resubmit the materials or perform othervétitis as required by tt
Contract and Party B.

10




6.

USE AND SUPERVISION OF ACCOUNTS
6.1 Loan Disbursement Account

The Loan Disbursement Account herein shall be detexd in accordance with (2):

1)

(2)

withinworking days from the date of coming into effectlis Contract and before the date of first drawdpRart
A shall open an account within Party B for the splepose of the disbursement and payment of aii Eaoun
under this Contrac

other account opened by Party A within Part( Account Numbe: 3310199503805050300¢

6.2 Account to collect sale proceeds

(1)

(2)

©)

within ONEworking days from the date of coming into effecttloi Contract, Party A shall open an account w
Party B for the purpose of collecting sale procemddesignate an existing account within Party Bs such (Accou
Number: 331019950380505030(0).

Party A shall, on a monthlyasis (choose “monthly” or “quarterly”), submiteport to Party B on the incoming ar
outgoing amounts of such account. Party A shalirsibuch report for the immediately preceding mamtlguarter (e
the case may be) within the fiEIVE working days of each month or quart

Party B is entitled to manage the incoming and @ity amounts of such account. In particular, swoant shall b
in compliance witk(vi) (one or more of the following requirements may élected):

(i) average balances of such account:

(i) time for incoming payment being deposited istach account :

(i) percentage of the overall sale proceeds ofyPA that are to be deposited into such account :

(iv) amount limit for any particular outgoing paymef such account:

11




(v) amount limit for daily outgoing payment (s)sfch account:

(vi) restrictions on internet-banking functionssefch account :

(vii) no outgoing payment shall be made withouttyP&'s prior consent;

(viii) Such account shall be used only for the msgxs of collecting sale proceeds and repayingoidue, land not for a
other purpose;

(iii)

(x) other requirements by Party B;
(xi) A separate Account Management Agreement sidnyeldloth Parties shall be complied with.

7. REPAYMENT

7.1 General Principles for Repayment

Party A shall repay the Loan in accordance withftlewing principles: Party B has the right to &pparty A’s repayment fir:
towards payment of any expense which shall be bbynearty A as provided hereunder but has beennagdaby Party B ar
the expenses incurred by Party B for realizingieditor’s rights. Party B shall apply the balance of swegayment in the ord
of interest first and then principal adhering te firinciple that the interest shall be fully repaahcurrently with the repayme
in full of all the principal amounts.

For any advance of which the principal has become lout unpaid for more than ninety days, or anyaade on which tt
interest has become due but unpaid for more thaetyidays, or any advance otherwise provided bylaws, regulations
rules, Party B may first apply Party #A\repayment towards those payments of expensasusét the first paragraph of tl
article. Then Party B may apply the balance of segayment towards payment in the order of prirdipst and then interest.

12




7.2 Payment of Interest

Party A shall pay due interest to Party B on therest settlement date. The first interest payrdate shall be the first inten

settlement date after the release of an advantéhdinterest and principal amounts outstandirajl dfe paid in full on the la
repayment date.

7.3 Schedule for Repayment of the Principal
The repayment schedule hereunder shall be detedririreccordance with itefisee Schedule Abelow:
Q) The repayment scheduldl §feaas follows:
Repayment Date(mm/dd/yyyy) Amount
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
v)
(vi)

)

7.4 Repayment Method

Party A shall deposit sufficient amount into thecAant to collect sale processor other account ey Babefore the repayme
date provided hereunder and transfer such amouepty the Loan (Party B may also debit such amfsam such account
repay the Loan), or transfer such amount from arddlank account of Party A to repay the Loan.

7.5 Prepayment

Party A may prepay the principals in full or in papon approval by Party B of a written applicat&wbmitted to Party
THIRTY working days in advance.

The interest accrued on the principals to be preghall be calculated on the basis of the actualb@r of days lapsed and
Loan Rate provided herein.

13




If Party B approves the prepayment by Party A, P8rtshall have the right to charge Party A the cengation fee in ¢
amount to be determined in accordance with thef(1he following methods:

(1) compensation fee = amount of the principa&ppaid x number of months remaining until the scletiuepayment date

(the “Remaining Period™) x 1 %o; provided, however, that the part of the Remajriferiod that falls short of
month shall be calculated as a full month

)

If Party A is required to repay the Loan in ingtaints and prepays part of the principal, the pcepaiount shall be applied
the reverse order of the repayment schedule. Asftgr partial prepayment, the outstanding Loan sitéllbe subject to tt
Loan Rate provided herein.

8. PARTY A’S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
8.1 Party A’s Rights

Party A has the rights to:

(1) request Party B to release each advance of the &®anovided hereunde

(2) utilize the Loan for the purposes provided for eder;

(3) apply to Party B for extension of the Term hereurnmevided that it has satisfied all the conditi@ssParty B request

(4) require Party B to keep confidential the relevanaricial information and manufacturing and operatirade secre
furnished by Party A except provided otherwise aw,| regulations and rules, or required otherwiseth®y competel
authorities, or agreed otherwise between the battigs hereto

(5) reject Party B or its employees asking for bribbahiall have the right to lodge complaint with twenpetent authority abc
such misconduct and any other act of Party B that wiolate the laws and regulations relating toléraling interest ra
and service charge

8.2 Party A’s Obligations

(1) Party A shall draw the Loan and repay the princgral interest in full as provided herein, and hirarexpenses and f
as provided hereir

(2 Party A shall provide its financial, accountingvesll as manufacturing and operating information atiter materials
the Party B may request, and among other thinggyrdmefore the TWENTYwvorking day of the first month of ea
quarter, Party A shall provide to Party B with tha&lance sheet and the profit and loss statementhéomcome ar
expenditure statement, if Party A is a public igtdon) up to the end of the preceding quarter, stmall provide the ca
flow statement at the end of each year in a tinfaghion. Party A shall be responsible for the lggatruthfulness
accuracy, completeness and validity of the inforomait provides, and shall not provide false infetion or conce
material facts with respect to its financial an@i@tion status
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3)

(4)

(%)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

In case of any change in PartysAlame, legal representative (or principal officegpistered address, business sc
registered capital, articles of association or ather registration with local industrial and comumal authority, or thei
arises any circumstances that may adversely affady A's capability to repay the indebtedness or may egetaRart
B’s rights as a creditor, Party A shall notify PaBtyn writing of the same with relevant documentgether with suc
notification evidencing the changes within 3 workithays thereafte

Party A shall utilize the Loan in accordance whie purposes as provided herein, and shall not miepgdate the Loe
or utilize the Loan to carry out any transactionsviolation of the laws and regulations, nor fovéstments in fixe
assets, or equity or other area®r for production or operations prohibited by #tate, nor for repaying the indebtedr
incurred as a result of Party A’'s investments kedi assets or equity etcParty A shall cooperate with Party B in
inspection of Party A manufacturing, operating and financial activigesl utilization of the Loan herein, and shal
subject to the requirements of Party B relatingldan management; Party A shall not try to evaderégaymer
obligations owing to Party B by means of withdragvicapital it has injected, transferring assetsntering into related
party transactions. Further, Party A shall notrafieto obtain loans or credit facilities from PaByby using dumm
contracts with its related parties or by pledginghs rights as notes receivable or accounts recieivatthout actue
underlying transactions or by applying to Partyd dliscounting the same; Party A shall be in coamge with th
provisions relating to means of payment and shell @avade Entrusted Payment by way of dividing @daamoun
payment into payments in smaller amou

Party A shall comply with the regulations relatiogenvironmental protection, if the Loan hereunsteall be utilized fc
manufacturing or project constructic

Without Party Bs consent, Party A shall not mortgage or pledgeamsgts acquired by utilizing the Loan hereunds
the benefit of a third party before full repaymehthe principals and interest accrued thert

If Party A qualifies as a group customeshall promptly report to Party B any relatearty transactions involving mc
than 10% of Party A net assets, including (i) the relationship amaiigthe parties to such transaction; (ii)
transaction and its nature; (iii) the transactiomant or the relevant ratio; and (iv) pricing pgli@lso applicable to tl
transactions with no price or merely nominal pr;t

Party A shall not carry out merger, spif; transfer of shares, outward investment, subatancrease of debt financi
or other activities of importance without Party Bsor written consent. For the avoidance of doubt, sumfsent sha
not impair Party BS rights to take remedial measures if Party B datezs at a later time that such activities of P&
may endanger Party’s rights as a credito

In the case of payment at Party A’s own atitie, Party A shall submit reports to PartyB on the use and payment
loan amounts on a monthly basis. Party A shall subath report for the immediately preceding mowithin the firs
TEN working days of each month, together with a lisacfual uses of loan amounts, until the date adyegent of all th
loan. Such report shall be in the form attacheSdhedule 4
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9. PARTY B’S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

9.1 Party B is entitled to request Party Adpay the principal, interest accrued thereon expknses when due, to manage
control the payment of loan amounts, to monitoraorealtime basis overall cash flows of Party A and toedeate th
maturity of the loan considering the status of extibn of sale proceeds of Party A. Party B mayr@se any other righ
hereunder and demand Party A to perform any othkgations hereunder.

9.2 Party B is entitled to engage in Partg lergeamount financing (The total amount of such finagcshall be more than RN
SEVENTY-FOUR MILLION or Foreign Exchange equivalent ), sale of assetsgen, split-up, stock-company restructuring
bankruptcy, liquidation and other activities foethurpose of protecting Party Btights. The way(s) of engagement sha
(1) (multiple choices are allowed)

(1) Party A shall seek Party B’s prior written censbefore carrying out any of the above activjties
(2) Party B is entitled to arrange for Party A'sgle-amount financings;

(3) the sale price and buyer of the assets shaifl bempliance with the following:

(4)

(5) other ways Party B deems fit.

9.3 Party B shall advance the Loan as provided hemeless the delay or failure in advancing the Loaoaissed by any reas
attributable to Party A or any other reason thatmat be attributed to Party

9.4  Party B shall keep confidential the relevant finahdocuments and manufacturing and operating tezaeets furnished |
Party A except otherwise provided by the laws, &tipns and rules, or required by the competenhaities, or agree
between the parties here

9.5 Party B shall not bribe Party A or its employeeas, request any bribe or accept any bribe offere@dnyy A.

9.6 Party B shall not engage in any activity whichishdnest or will be detrimental to Part’s lawful interests
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10. DEFAULT AND REMEDY
10.1 Events of Default by Party B and Liabiktie

1)

(2)

If Party B does not advance the Loan as providedihavithout justifiable reason, Party A may requBarty B t
advance the Loan in accordance with the Cont

If Party B charges any interest or fee which ishisited by the laws or regulations, Party A mayuest Party B t
refund the interest or fee charg

10.2 Events of Default by Party A

The events of default by Party A shall include:

1)
)

Party A breaches any statutory obligatiomamy contractual obligation hereunder; and

Party A has repudiated its obligations hadmw expressly or by its conduct.

10.3 Events that may Adversely Impact Credit&®ights

1)

)

the occurrence of any of the following evenpom Party A which Party B believes may adverselpdnot its creditos
rights:

contracting, trustee (receiver) being appointe@dsée shareholding restructuring, decrease of wgstexed capite
investment, joint operation, mergers and acquisiti@cquisition and restructuring, division, joienture, shares transi
substantial increase of debt financing, applying(f subject to an application for) temporary egiss of operation (
dissolution, revocation, applying for (or subjecd tan application for) bankruptcy, change of cotitig
shareholders/actual controllers, transfer of maktemssets, suspension of production or operatigmjfeant penalt
imposed by regulatory authorities, cancellationregdistration, revocation of business license, ingolent in materi
legal proceedings, severe deterioration in opamatiod financial condition, deterioration of credilanding, leg:
representative/principal officer being unable tofgan their duties;

the occurrence of any of the following events whiarty B believes may adversely impact its cre’s rights:

Party A fails to repay any other due debts, incigdsuch debts owed to any other branch or orgaoizatf Chin:
Construction Bank or to any other third party; Pattransfers assets at a low price or for freetyPA relieves or waive
any debt of a third party; Party A fails to exeecits creditors rights or any other rights; or Party A providesugity fol
a third party; financial indicators of Party A fad meet, on a continuous basis, the requirememsified in Schedule
there are unusual fluctuations in any of Partg Atcounts (including without limitation accountcallect sale procee
and other account subject to Party B's superviidhere are grave cross-defaults by Party A; prafiking capability ¢
Party A’s core business is undesirable; thereégularity in the use of loan;
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(3)

(4)
()

(6)

Party As shareholder manipulates the independence stRexty A as a legal person or the limited lialilitatu:
of the shareholder in order to evade debts, anty Babelieves this manipulation may adversely intpeccreditors
rights;

any of the conditions precedent to advance the lb@amot been satisfied continuou:

the occurrence of any of the following events uglom guarantor which Party B believes may adversapact it:
creditor's rights:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

the guarantor breaches any provision of the guaeaadntract, or any of the representations andawtes i
has made proves to be false, wrong or incomg

contracting, trustee (receiver) being appointedsée shareholding restructuring, decrease of gstere:
capital, investment, joint operation, mergers amdussitions, acquisition and restructuring, divisigoini
venture, shares transfer, substantial increasesloff fihancing, applying for (or subject to an apation for
temporary cessation of operation or dissolutiowpcation, applying for (or subject to an applicatifor)
bankruptcy, change of controlling shareholders&otontrollers, transfer of material assets, transf asse
at a low price or for free, relieving or waivingyadebt of a third party; failure to exercise iteditor’s rights
or any other rights, suspension of production oerapion, significant penalty imposed by regula
authorities, cancellation of registration, revoeoatiof business license, involvement in materialal
proceedings, severe deterioration in operation farahcial condition, deterioration of credit stanglj lega
representative/principal officex’inability to perform their duties, which may adsaly impact its capability
a guarantor

other events in which the guarantor has lost or losg its capability as guarant

the occurrence of any of the followiagents on the mortgage or pledge which Party Beveds may adverse
impact its creditor’s rights:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

the mortgaged or pledged property is damagedirdyed or its value is reduced as a result &ird-party’s
action, expropriation, confiscation, eminent domainredevelopment and relocation by the governr
market change, or any other reas

the mortgaged or pledged property has been sdimgdunded, frozen, mandatorily debited, put on,ligwic
by auction, subject to administration order by aegament authority, or a dispute over the ownerslifhe
mortgaged or pledged property occt

the mortgagor or pledgor breaches any provisioth@fmortgage/pledge contract, or any of the reptaten:
and warranties it has made proves to be false,gwooincomplete
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(7)

(8)

(iv)  other events that may adversely impact Pa’s ability to realize its mortgage or pled:

the security is not effected, becomes ineffectingalid, or is rescinded or terminated, or the siggiprovidel
defaults or repudiates its obligations expresslybprconduct, or the security provider has lostdépability tc
perform its obligations as a security provider inoke or in part, or the value of the collateraladuced, which Par
B believes may adversely impact its crec' s rights; ot

other events which Party B believes may adversepart its creditc s rights.

10.4 Party F's Remedy

Upon occurrence of any event under Article 10.2@8, Party B may exercise one or more of the ¥ahg rights:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

()

(6)

(7)

to stop advancing the Loa
to request for more conditions precedent for lodwaace and payme;
to change the means of payment of loan in accosdaiith this Contract

to declare the Loan immediately due and payablé,raquest Party A to repay immediately all the dand undu
principal, interest and fee

if Party A fails to make any drawdown in accordamgth the Contract, Party B may hold Party A lialbbepay i
penalty equal t0 % of the Loan proceeds not drawn and may rejedy ¢ s request for drawing such Loz

if Party A utilizes any part of the Loan for anyrpase other than as provided herein, interest emtisappropriate
amount shall be calculated and compounded for ¢hieg from the date of the misappropriation to dlage when a
the principal and interest have been fully paich@tordance with the relevant default interest eate the intere
settlement method as provided her:

if any principal is overdue, the interest on sudnh@pal and on any overdue interest (including tehar part of th
principal and interest which have been accelerag@ll be calculated and compounded for the pdrmd the firs
date such principal becomes overdue to the datenvelethe principal and interest have been fullyjidpan
accordance with the relevant default interest aatkthe interest settlement method as providedrh

“Overdue” herein means that Party A fails to repay the Loantte repayment date or, in case of repayme
installments, fails to repay the relevant instalitsdén accordance with the repayment schedule@sdad herein.

Before any principal is overdue, the overdue irgesball be compounded in accordance with theasteate and ti
interest settlement method as provided herein;
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(8) other remedies, including but not limited

@ to debit Party AS accounts at China Construction Bank in RMB oeptiurrencies with corresponding amc
without prior notice to Party 2

(i) to exercise its rights under the security inter
(i)  to request Party A to provide new security satisfigcto Party B for all the debts of Party A herdan

(iv)  to decline Party AS request to dispose of its deposits of correspgnamount, within any account opened 1
any branch of China Construction Bank (includinghweut limitation the account to collect sale prat®e

(v)  toterminate the Contrac

11. MISCELLANEQOUS

111

11.2

11.3

11.4

Cost Allocation

(1) all costs and expenses incurred as a resiPadfy A's breach of any provision in this Contract, inchgdiwithou
limitation court fees, arbitration fees, propertyegervation fees, travel expenses, enforcement nerg
valuation/appraisal fees, auction fees, notary, feewice fees, public announcement costs, legsl, fghall be bori
by Party A.

(2) in respect of other fees the parties agree asaell
Use of Party /s Information

Party A agrees that Party B is entitled to inquateout Party AS creditworthiness with the Credit Database orvash
authorities established or approved by the Pesmzink of China and the Credit Reference Agency, thiat Party B i
entitled to provide Party A'information to such Credit Database. Party Aheirtagrees that Party B may reasonably us
disclose Party A’s information for business purpose

Collection by Public Announceme

In the event that Party A fails to repay on timey amincipal or interest or breaches any other amttral obligation
hereunder, Party B is entitled to report to relé\aurthorities and demand repayments by means dicpatnouncement v
press.

Party E's Record as Evident

Unless there is reliable and definitive evidencehi contrary, Party B’internal records of principal, interest, experesat
repayment, receipts, vouchers made or retainedably B during the course of drawdown, repayment iaterest paymer
and records and vouchers relating to the collestibg Party B shall constitute valid evidence of treditordebto
relationship between the two parties. Party A shall raise any objection merely because the abeverds, receipt
vouchers are made or retained by Party B.
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115

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

No Waivers

Party B's rights hereunder shall not prejudice or excludg ather rights Party B is entitled to under apdile laws
regulations and other contracts. No forbearandension of time limit, preferential treatment oflajein exercising any rig
hereunder shall be deemed to constitute a waivaglofs and interests hereunder or permit or reitimgnof any breach of tt
Contract. Nor shall it restrict, prevent or inteefavith the continuous exercise of such right &tear time or any other rigl
nor shall the foregoing cause Party B to be ligtleny way to the Borrower.

If Party A owes Party B any other due and payakletslin addition to the debts hereunder, Party B debit any of Par
A’s account at China Construction Bank in RMB or ptt@rencies and may choose to repay any of theaddepayabl
debts in the order it deems appropriate. Party ieegynot to raise any objection with respect tioe

In the event of any change to the address or attr@iact information, Party A shall promptly notParty B of such change
writing. Party A shall be liable for any loss cadidwy its failure of giving prompt notice of suchactye.

Direct Debit Right

Party B is entitled to debit, without prior notitee Party A, any account of Party A at China Corcdtain Bank in RMB @
other currencies to pay all amounts payable urfierContract. Party A shall assist Party B to cotepsmy procedures 1
foreign exchange settlement or sale, and Partyall blar the risk of exchange rate fluctuation.

Dispute Resolutiol

Any dispute arising from the performance of the tact may be settled by consultation. If the dispcéinnot be resolv
through consultation, such dispute shall be suleahitd_(1)[please select from below]:

(1) the Peopl's court within the jurisdiction where Party B iséted.

(2) [name of the arbitration committee] for arbiiva at [place of arbitration] in accordance with the t
prevailing arbitration rules. The arbitration awalthll be final and binding on both Party A andtyP&.

The undisputed provisions shall remain enforcedbléng the process of litigation or arbitration.
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11.10 Effectiveness of the Contra

The Contract shall become effective upon:

(D execution by the legal representative/(principéicef) or authorized representative of Party A dethg affixed witl
the company chop of Party A; a

(2) execution by the principal officer or authorizegnesentative of Party B and being affixed with tenpany chop «
Party B. All Schedules of this Contract shall cdngt integral parts of this Contract and shalklgeally binding

11.11 The Contract shall be executec counterparts

11.12 Other Provisions

12. REPRESENTATIONS

121

12.2

12.3

12.4

125

12.6

12.7

12.8

12.9

Party A clearly understands the business scopaattdrization limit of Party E

Party A has read the Contract. Party B, atyPars request, has explained the terms of the Contasmet, Party A full
understands their meanings and corresponding ¢tegaslequence

The execution and performance of the Contract byyR&is in compliance with laws, administrativegtaations, rules ar
Party A's articles of association (or its other internahstdutional documents) and has been approved dynierna
competent organization and/or the competent goventah authorities

Party A carries out production and operation in piamce with laws and regulatior
Party A has the capability to keep its businessgaind has the legitimate sources to repay the

Party A warrants that the loan amount requestee@witiis Contract is no more than necessary to theeteal needs of Pa
A for the purposes specified here

Both Party A and its controlling shareholder hawedjfinancial standing and have no record of gmissonducts

Party A agrees that Party B has the right to instather branches of China Construction Bank toaade loan under tt
Contract and to exercise or perform the rightsasl@jations hereunde

Party A represents that, at the time of executibthis Contract, there exists no action or eveat tholates any applicat
laws, regulations or rules in relation to enviromta¢ protection, energy saving and emission/patutreduction (th
“Environmental Laws”)Party A further warrants that it shall strictly cpipwith such Environmental Law after the execu
of this Contract. If any of the above representsti@r warranties is untrue, or Party A defaultsamy of the abo\
undertakings, or there is any potential risk ofrggelissipation or pollution by Party A, Party Bdatitled to stop advanci
loans, to declare an acceleration of the principal interest not yet due hereunder, or adopt eémeedial measures provic
hereunder or permitted by lawv

22




Party A (Company Chop)
By the legal representative (principal officer)authorized representative:

Signature:

Date:

Party B (Company Chop)
By the principal officer or authorized represeniati

Signature:

Date:
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Schedule 1

Loan Information

1. Specific purposes of the loan :

This Loan is used for comparsydaily operation expense, including material pasghpayment and employsesalary.

Party A shall not change the purpose of the loahawit Party B’s written consent.

2. Sources of funds for loan repayment:

Companys proceeds of sales.

Party A guarantees the truthfulness and legalitguwth sources of funds and the steadiness and aweqticash flows of su
sources .

3. Miscellaneous
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Schedule 2

Mandatory Financial Indicators

The Financial indicators of Party A shall on a combus basis meet the following requirements:
Maximum Monthly Capital/Debt 65%
Minimum Current Ratio: 100%

Minimum liquidity Ratio: 60%

Maximum contingency liability/Capital 30%

Maximum accumulated long term investment/Capital 30%

Party B has the right to change unilaterally suetjuirements as to mandatory indicators provided HE working-day advance
notice is issued to Party A.
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Schedule 3

Schedule for Loan Drawdown

Contract Numbe

Date of Drawdowr

No. Proposed Purpose Proposed Payment Amoynt Ro Becipient Notes
(if any)
1
2
Total RMB ( CAPITALIZE WORDS)

Name of the Borrower (company s):
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Schedule 4

Consolidated report on payment at Party A’s initiative

Contract Numbe

Date of Delivery

Whether or not in
compliance with

NO. Actual purpose of the Loan Recipient Amount devicing Materials the purpose
specified in this
Contract
1
2
total RMB (CAPITALIZE WORDS

Name of the Borrower (company s):

Internal review

Relationship Manage( signature)

Officer in charge of reviewing loan advances anghpents( signature):
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Schedule A to Form of USD Trust Receipt Loan Agreeenmt

Loan Loan Loan Amount Loan Rate Drawdown Schedule for

Commencement Expiration Schedule Repayment

Date Date

November 26, February 17, 370,209 USD | A fixed interest rate of 1.4157%,| Option 1: Option 1:

2014 2015 equal to LIBOR plus 180 basis | On November | On February 27, 2015 in
points and 135 basis points of | 26, 2014 for the amount of 370,209
service charg 370,209 USL | USD

December 2, 2014 March 2, 2015 | 205,103 USD | A fixed interest rate of 1.7336%,| Option 1: Option 1:
equal to LIBOR plus 180 basis | On December | On March 2, 2015 in the
points and 135 basis points of | 2 2014 for amount of 205,103 USD
service charg 205,103 USLC

December 22, March 20, 488,783 USD | A fixed interest rate of 2.4200%,| Option 1: Option 1:

2014 2015 equal to LIBOR plus 180 basis | On December | On March 20, 2015 in
points and 135 basis points of | 22, 2014 for the amount of 488,783
service charg 488,783 USL | USD
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We have issued our report dated March 5, 2015, re#pect to the consolidated financial statemertisided in the Annual Report of Applied
Optoelectronics, Inc. on Form 10-K for the yearesh®ecember 31, 2014. We hereby consent to thegacation by reference of said report
in the Registration Statement of Applied Optoelauits, Inc. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-192407), etifee November 19, 2013.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Houston, TX
March 5, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Chih-Hsiang (Thompson) Lin, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKpplied Optoelectronics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))5¢r the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedortee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation;
and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’'s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fotigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

() All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 5, 2015
/sl Chit-Hsiang (Thompson) Li

Chih-Hsiang (Thompson) Li
President, Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Stefan J. Murry, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKpplied Optoelectronics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))5¢r the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoidge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig oeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgulsi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thesgnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) llas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 5, 2015

/sl Stefan J. Murr

Stefan J. Murn
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@)lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the WCBde (18 U.S.C. § 1350), Chih-Hsiang (Thompson) Biresident and Chief Executive
Officer of Applied Optoelectronics, Inc. (the “Compy”), and Stefan J. Murry, Chief Financial Officdrthe Company, each hereby certifies
that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for pleeiod ended December 31, 2014, to which thisif@ztion is attached as
Exhibit 32.1 (the “Annual Report”) fully compliesithr the requirements of Section 13(a) or Sectiofu)L6f the Exchange Act; and

2. The information contained in the Annual Repaitl§ presents, in all material respects, the faiaincondition and results of
operations of the Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set taids hereto as of the 3rd day of March 5, 2015.

/sl Chit-Hsiang (Thompson) Li /sl Stefan J. Murr
Chih-Hsiang (Thompson) Li Stefan J. Murn
President and Chief Executive Offic Chief Financial Office

This certification accompanies the Annual Repomtich it relates, is not deemed filed with the @ées and Exchange Commission and is
not to be incorporated by reference into any filirighpplied Optoelectronics, Inc. under the SedesitAct of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whathde before or after the date of the Annual Rgpiorespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such fili



